Nicolaus Copernicus University in Toruń

**Faculty of Biological and Veterinary Sciences** 

**Department of Microbiology** 



Piotr Koczorski

PhD thesis

### Root microbiomes as controls of P use efficiency in woody crops

Supervisor: Prof. dr hab. Katarzyna Hrynkiewicz,

University of Nicolaus Copernicus in Toruń

Supervisor: apl. Prof. Dr. agr. habil. Christel Baum,

University of Rostock

This work was founded by Universitas Copernicana Thoruniensis In Futuro – modernization of the Nicolaus Copernicus University as part of the Integrated University Program (project no. POWR.03.05.00-00-Z302/17-00)

May 2023

Author address:	mgr Piotr Koczorski					
	Department of Microbiology					
	Faculty of Biological and Veterinary Sciences					
	Nicolaus Copernicus University in Toruń					
	ul. Lwowska 1					
Supervisors address	es:					
Main Supervisor:	Prof. dr hab. Katrzyna Hrynkiewicz					
	Department of Microbiology					
	Faculty of Biological and Veterinary Sciences					
	Nicolaus Copernicus University in Toruń					
	ul. Lwowska 1					
Supervisor:	apl. Prof. Dr. agr. habil. Christel Baum					
	Department of Soil Science					
	Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences					
	University of Rostock					
	Justus-von-Liebig-Weg 6					

18059 Rostock

### Acknowledgements

I would like to express my gratitude to everyone who contributed to this thesis. Special thanks to the main supervisor of my thesis, Prof. dr hab. Katarzyna Hrynkiewicz, for her invaluable help and time spent during experiment planning and preparation of the manuscripts. The amount of experience I have gained working with Professor Hrynkiewicz is simply enormous. I would also like to express my sincere thanks to my foreign supervisor apl. Prof. Dr. agr. habil. Christel Baum, who introduced me to soil analysis and made my foreign internships a pure pleasure and great learning experience. I would also like to express my gratitude to Prof. dr Martin Weih for his help in organizing the sampling in Uppsala and for his tremendous help in preparation of the publications. Many thanks to dr Bliss Furtado for the countless hours she spent helping me with the preparation of the publications, my thesis and in the laboratory. The knowledge and experience I have gained during our work together and the support I have received from her is invaluable.

I would like to thank the Rector, Dean, the entire committee of the Faculty of Biological and Veterinary Sciences and Interdisciplinary Doctoral School Academia Copernicana for the opportunity to study at Nicolaus Copernicus University in Torun. I will always have positive memories of the years spent in classes together with my friends. I would also like to thank all the staff and colleagues in the Microbiology Department for all the help I received from them.

I appreciate the help I have received from mgr Anna Walkowska, mgr Zbigniew Strzelecki during my lab work and big thanks to dr Dominika Thiem and dr Sonia Szymańska for their support on the scientific side.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my family and friends who have warmly supported and cheered me on my journey as a beginner scientist. Without their support I would not be where I am today.

### Funding

- Universitas Copernicana Thoruniensis In Futuro modernization of the Nicolaus Copernicus University as part of the Integrated University Program (project no. POWR.03.05.00-00-Z302/17-00)
- "Excellence Initiative Research University" publication funding (P2 and P3)
- Emerging Field "Microbiology, Soil sciences, Food quality and agricultural genetics"

### **Abbreviations:**

DCP: di-calcium phosphate

G: Germany

HighP or HP: High phosphorus

K: potassium

L: Loden - Salix cultivar (SW 890129, S. dasyclados)

LowP or LP: Low phosphorus

Mg: magnesium

NoP or NP: No phosphorus

P: phosphorus

PCR: polymerase chain reaction

PSB: phosphorus solubilizing bacteria

PSF: phosphorus solubilizing fungi

PSM: phosphorus solubilizing microorganism

S: Sweden

SRC: Short rotation coppice

T: Tora – *Salix* cultivar (Svalöf-Weibull (SW) cultivar no. 910007, *S. schwerinii* × *S. viminalis*)

TCP: tri-calcium phosphate

## Table of contents

Ackı	nowledgements	3
Fun	ding	4
Abb	reviations:	5
1.	List of publications that are a main part of the doctoral dissertation	8
2.	Abstract in Polish	10
3.	Abstract in English	13
4.	Introduction	16
5.	Aims of the study	21
6.	Research hypotheses	23
7.	Research methodology	25
8.	Publications	30
9.	Summary of results	112
10.	Discussion	116
11.	Final conclusions	122
12.	Future outlooks	124
13.	References	126

## List of publications

### 1. List of publications that are a main part of the doctoral dissertation

#### Publication 1 - (P1)

**Koczorski P.**, Furtado B., Hrynkiewicz K., Breezmann, M., Weih M. and Baum C., 2021. Site effects dominate the plant availability of nutrients under *Salix* species during the first cutting cycle. *Forests*, 12(9), p.1226.

#### https://doi.org/10.3390/f12091226

IF 2021 = 3.282; 5 Year IF: 3.292; punkty MEiN = 100; 2 citations

#### Publication 2 - (P2)

**Koczorski P.**, Furtado B.U., Gołębiewski M., Hulisz P., Baum C., Weih M. and Hrynkiewicz K., 2021. The effects of host plant genotype and environmental conditions on fungal community composition and phosphorus solubilization in willow short rotation coppice. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 12, p.647709.

#### https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2021.647709

IF 2021 = 6.627; 5 Year IF: 7.255; punkty MEiN = 100; 5 citations

#### **Publication 3 - (P3):**

**Koczorski, P.**, Furtado B.U., Gołębiewski M., Hulisz P., Thiem D., Baum C., Weih M. and Hrynkiewicz K., 2022. Mixed growth of *Salix* species can promote phosphate-solubilizing bacteria in the roots and rhizosphere. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *13*.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2022.1006722

IF 2021 = 6.064; 5 Year IF: 6.843; punkty MEiN = 100

#### Publication 4 - (P4) (manuscript under revision)

**Koczorski P.**, Furtado B.U., Baum C., Weih M., Ingvarsson P.K., Hulisz P. and Hrynkiewicz K., 2023. Large effect of P solubilizing bacteria on growth and gene expression of *Salix* spp. under stress conditions induced by reduced phosphorus levels. (manuscript under revision)

Summary of IF: 15.973

Summary of 5 Year IF: 17.390

Summary of MEiN points: 300

## **Abstract in Polish**

#### 2. Abstract in Polish

Fosfor jest jednym z kluczowych pierwiastków potrzebnych roślinie do prawidłowego wzrostu i rozwoju. Źródła P dostępne w przyrodzie są wyczerpywalne. W warunkach naturalnych P wymywany jest ze skał macierzystych i szybko tworzy trudno rozpuszczalne i niedostępne dla roślin kompleksy. Nowoczesna gospodarka rolna oparta na nawozach sztucznych nie jest wystarczająco wydajna. Sytuacja ta wymusza opracowanie alternatywnych technologii pozyskiwania fosforu, np. wspomagania mikrobiologicznego.

Mikroorganizmy ryzosferowe i endofityczne posiadają zdolności promujące roślin. Jedną z nich jest zdolność do mikrobiologicznej solubilizacji fosforu obecnego w glebie. Mikroorganizmy solubilizujące fosfor posiadają zdolność do uwalniania fosforu będącego częścią kompleksów z Al, Fe czy Ca, przekształcając go w formę, która jest dostępna dla roślin. Selekcja mikroorganizmów posiadających zdolność do zwiększania dostępności P w środowisku glebowym, zwłaszcza w połączeniu z innymi właściwościami stymulującymi wzrost roślin, np. synteza IAA, sideroforów, jest niezwykle ważnym kryterium doboru mikroorganizmów, które mogą znaleźć zastosowanie w uprawach roślin. Jest to szczególnie ważne zagadnienie w odniesieniu do popularnych w ostatnim czasie uprawach wieloletnich, np. wierzb uprawianych w systemie zagajników szybkiej rotacji (SRC), w których stosowanie nawozów jest ograniczone.

Dlatego też, celem pracy była ocena zróżnicowania oraz liczebności mikroorganizmów ryzosferowych i endofitycznych solubilizujących fosfor na dwóch stanowiskach SRC (prowadzonych w monokulturach i uprawach mieszanych) i zbadanie ich wpływu na wzrost i ekspresję genów dwóch gatunków wierzby.

Badania zaprezentowane w pracy doktorskiej prowadzono w SRC na stanowisku w Uppsali (Szwecja) i Rostoku (Niemcy), na których uprawiano dwie odmiany wierzby - Loden i Tora. Podczas realizacji doświadczeń wykorzystano klasyczne metody mikrobiologiczne umożliwiające izolację i selekcję mikroorganizmów solubilizujących fosfor (PSM) oraz metody molekularne umożliwiające identyfikację otrzymanych izolatów PSM (i) i ocenę zróżnicowania mikrobiomu (ii). W pracy wykorzystano również analizę transkryptomu wierzb poddanych inokulacji wyselekcjonowanymi PSM w warunkach niedoboru P w podłożu.

W efekcie przeprowadzonych badań wyselekcjonowano najbardziej efektywne bakterie solubilizujące fosfor: *Pantoea agglomerans* (B1) oraz *Paenibacillus* sp. (B2) i zastosowano je

w doświadczeniu donicowym w różnych warunkach dostępności fosforu (NP, LP, HP). Analiza mikrobiomu gleby ryzosferowej i endofitów korzeniowych wykazała, że uprawy mieszane wierzb promują wzrost różnorodności bakterii i grzybów, w tym tych solubilizujących fosfor, a wyższe zróżnicowanie mikroorganizmów jest obserwowane w ryzosferze. Wykazano, że aktywność kwaśnej fosfatazy na badanych stanowiskach SRC była trzykrotnie wyższa od fosfatazy zasadowej, co korelowało z wpływem pH stanowisk. Wśród najczęściej izolowanych grzybów solubilizujących fosfor dominowały szczepy Penicillium sp., a wśród bakterii Pseudomonas sp., Bacillus sp. i Erwinia sp. Badania mikrobiomu wykazały silny wpływ poziomu asocjacji z rośliną (mikroorganizmy ryzosferowe vs. endofity) na zróżnicowanie mikrobiomu wierzby. Na zróżnicowanie grzybów istotnie wpływały takie czynniki glebowe jak: całkowity wegiel organiczny oraz pH, zaś w przypadku bakterii: dostępny fosfor oraz całkowity azot. Inokulacja wierzb wyselekcjonowanymi bakteriami PSM przeprowadzona w doświadczeniu donicowym wykazała istotny wzrost parametrów wzrostu roślin w warunkach HP, jednak zależała od gatunku badanej wierzby (pędy gatunku Loden wykazały istotny przyrost biomasy, zaś Tora na długość). Analiza transkryptomu liści wierzb wykazała dla gatunku Tora wzrost, a dla Loden obniżenie ekspresji genów. Inokulacja wierzb bakteriami PSM znacząco wpłynęła na ekspresję genów związanych z fotosyntezą oraz syntezą skrobi (szczególnie dla gatunku Tora), w których to procesach fosfor pełni bardzo istotną rolę. W przypadku gatunku Loden obserwowano wzrost ekspresji genów związanych głównie z transportem jonów, regulacją transkrypcji oraz genami chromosomowymi.

Praca doktorska stanowi nowatorskie i kompleksowe podejście do badań nad analizą i selekcją mikroorganizmów PSM, stanowiąc punkt wyjścia dla potencjalnego wykorzystania mikroorganizmów PSM w celach komercyjnych.

## **Abstract in English**

#### 3. Abstract in English

Phosphorus (P) is one of the key elements needed by plants for proper growth and development. The plant availability of P in soils can be growth limiting, partly even with high total contents caused by rapid P fixation. Therefore, the P use efficiency should be promoted in arable soils rather than the P supply. Microbial P mobilization can substantially contribute to increasing the P use efficiency in soils.

Rhizosphere and endophytic microorganisms can have plant-promoting abilities. One of these is P mobilization, which is an important criterion for the selection of microorganisms for biofertilizers. This is a particularly important issue for perennial crops, such as willows (*Salix* spp.) grown in short rotation coppice (SRC) for biomass production.

Therefore, the aim of this study was to assess the diversity and abundance of P-solubilizing microorganisms in the rhizosphere and roots of *Salix* spp. in two SRC sites (grown in monoculture and mixed cropping) and to test if growth design, *Salix* spp. and the P solubilizing microbial strain inoculation can promote biomass production and P use efficiency.

The test sites of the present study are two SRCs in Uppsala (Sweden) and Rostock (Germany). The *Salix* genotypes tested were the cultivars 'Loden' (SW 890129, *S. dasyclados*) and 'Tora' (Svalöf-Weibull (SW) cultivar no. 910007, *S. schwerinii*  $\times$  *S. viminalis*). Cultivation-dependent microbiological methods were used to isolate and select P solubilizing microorganisms (PSMs), and molecular methods were used to identify the PSM isolates obtained (i) and assess the diversity of the microbiome (ii). This study also utilized transcriptome analysis of willows inoculated with selected PSMs under P-deficient conditions in the substrate to control the plant physiological response to microbial inoculation.

The present study resulted in the selection of the two most effective P solubilizing bacterial strains (*Pantoea agglomerans* and *Paenibacillus* sp.). These strains were used for inoculation of *Salix* spp. at three levels of P availability in a pot experiment. Furthermore, it was revealed that mixed cropping of *Salix* spp. can increase bacterial and fungal diversity in general, as well as the diversity of P-solubilizing microorganisms. Among the most frequently isolated P solubilizing fungi, *Penicillium* spp. dominated, and among the P solubilizing bacteria, *Pseudomonas* sp., *Bacillus* sp. and *Erwinia* sp. dominated. The microbial diversity decreased significantly from the bulk soil to the rhizosphere and from the rhizosphere to root endophytes. Fungal diversity was significantly controlled by the chemical soil properties total

organic carbon content and pH, while bacterial diversity was significantly controlled by bioavailable P concentration and total nitrogen content in the soil. Inoculation of willows with PSM significantly increased plant growth under high P availability in the soil. However, this effect differed and was *Salix* genotype specific. The cv. Loden significantly increased biomass production, whereas cv. Tora significantly increased only the shoot lengths. Transcriptomics revealed an overall upregulation of photosynthesis and starch formation genes in the Tora species and a downregulation of ion transport, transcriptional regulation and chromosomal genes in the Loden species after inoculation with PSM.

This dissertation represents a novel and comprehensive approach to research on the selection and use of PSMs and on the promotion of PSMs by planting design, providing a starting point for the potential commercial use of PSMs and their promotion from the soil pool by site management.

## Introduction

#### 4. Introduction



Figure 1 Diagram showing the most important findings and summary of the results from 4 publications that are a part of this dissertation.

Short-rotation coppices (SRCs) with fast-growing tree species are very popular in Europe because of the range of economic and ecological benefits that are derived from their cultivation. Trees grown in these coppices are primarily a source of biomass for energy production, which contributes to reducing fossil fuel consumption and deforestation (Berhongaray et al., 2017). SRCs have a positive impact on water management, protecting groundwater resources, increasing water retention and improving water quality at the same time (Dimitriou et al., 2021). Another important aspect of this type of SRC is its positive impact on the biodiversity of the soil environment compared to current agricultural practices, which focus on planting monocultures to obtain the highest possible biomass yield (Kahle et al. 2005). The most commonly selected tree species for this type of crop are those with fast growth rates, low nutrient requirements, tolerance to a wide range of pH values and adaptability to climatic conditions (Caslin and Teagasc, 2010; Langeveld et al., 2012; Amichev et al. 2014). In Europe, various willow (*Salix*) and poplar (*Populus*) species are most commonly used, as these are naturally occurring species that are part of floodplain forests composed of softwoods (Tullus et al., 2013; Pleguezuelo et al., 2015). Poplar is typical of western and central European

floodplains, whereas willow is more tolerant of low temperatures and can grow further north and in continental climates in eastern Europe (Hughes, 2003).

Willows are trees or shrubs comprising almost 350-500 species worldwide, meeting all the previously mentioned criteria for selecting species for cultivation in SRCs (Dickmann and Kuzovkina, 2014). They are additionally characterized by their ability to survive in conditions of extreme pollution and are often used for phytoremediation of such sites (Ruttens et al., 2011; Padoan et al., 2019). The productivity of willow coppice crops can be increased by establishing them on fertile land or by applying organic fertilizers such as manure and digested sewage sludge (Dimitriou et al., 2011). However, this involves the risk of leaching nitrates and phosphates. Willows are able to reduce these risks by a high uptake of nutrients (Mirc et al., 2005). The effective use of P is mainly based on its association with microorganisms in the roots and rhizosphere (Richardson and Simpson, 2011).

To date, SRCs have mainly been planted in monocultures; however, mixed cropping has become more common over the past 20 years because of ecological advantages revealed by ongoing research activities (Hoeber et al., 2018; Rödl, 2019). The increased diversity of trees in SRCs and their effects on growth and P mobilization in the soil and roots of willows in mixed cropping systems have been studied in detail in this work. According to my research, mixed cropping increases the diversity not only of P-solubilizing fungi and bacteria but also of the total microbiome of the rhizosphere and roots of willows (Koczorski et al., 2021; Koczorski et al., 2022). A reason for higher biodiversity in general and microbial diversity in mixed cropping may be the increased competition between both plants and microorganisms (Weih et al., 2019).

P sources, unlike nitrogen, are nonrenewable and intensive agriculture is based largely on mineral P fertilizers. For these reasons, global phosphate deposits decrease, and P recycling and more effective P use in agriculture are urgently needed (Gilbert, 2009). The low use efficiency of this type of fertilizer is a serious problem, as only a small portion of P will be assimilated by the plant, and the remainder will often be fixed in the soil (Filippelli, 2008; Singh and Satyanarayana, 2011). In addition to P fixation, P loss by leaching is problematic since it can lead to eutrophication and eventually complete its cycle on the seabed where there is no easy way to recover it (Khan et al., 2018).

Soils, especially if affected by roots, such as in the rhizosphere, host a large pool of microorganisms capable of promoting plant growth and development. Some of them can also penetrate plant roots and, as endophytes, provide the plant with essential metabolites (Hardoim

et al., 2008). Thus, the contribution of P solubilizing microorganisms (PSMs) in facilitating plant access to P supply is very important (Billah et al., 2019). There is a growing pool of literature describing plant growth promotion by PSMs (Kalayu, 2019; Prabhu et al., 2019; Divjot et al., 2021; Rawat et al., 2021). PSMs can be used as biofertilizers, which can help to reduce the need for fertilizer application and the accumulation of toxic elements in arable soil caused by geogenic cadmium and uranium contamination in mineral phosphates (Khan et al., 2009; Alori et al., 2017). Among fungi, the most commonly described species capable of P solubilization are Aspergillus spp., Penicillium spp., Trichoderma viride, Arthrobotrys oligospora, Cephalosporium sp., and Cladosporium sp. (Khan et al., 2010; Patil et al., 2012; Sharma et al., 2012; Ram et al., 2015; Li et al., 2016; Alori et al., 2017). The most commonly described and used P solubilizing bacteria (PSB) are Pseudomonas sp., Bacillus sp. and Streptomyces sp. (Wani et al., 2005; Chen et al., 2006; Ahemad and Khan, 2011; Kaur et al., 2011; Grafe et al., 2018; Rathinasabapathi et al., 2018; Ahmad et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2020). It is worth mentioning that new PSMs are still being identified and characterized, and the publications that are part of this work have contributed to this expanding effort (Koczorski et al., 2021; Koczorski et al., 2022). These publications describe lesser-known and sometimes undescribed PSMs such as Talaromyces sp., Alternaria sp., and Juxiphoma sp. among the fungi as well as Mitsuaria sp. Ralstonia sp. and Lelliottia sp. in the case of bacteria. Notably, the role of the abovementioned microorganisms is not limited to phosphorus solubilization. Fungi of the genera Asperigllus and Penicillium and bacteria of the genera Pseudomonas and Bacillus possess a number of additional plant growth-promoting properties, such as the ability to stimulate the synthesis of plant hormones, e.g., gibberellins (Khan et al., 2011; Preston et al., 2004; Abdel-Motaal et al., 2020), which stimulates the plant defence system by changing secondary metabolism (Hossain et al., 2007), etc.

In light of this research, it is important to gain a deeper understanding of the interaction of bacteria and fungi with plants to develop effective biofertilizers containing P-solubilizing microorganisms. To date, researchers have focused on studying the impact of P deficiency on plants directly and to a much smaller extent on the interactive effects of plants and microorganisms (Ren et al., 2018; Mo et al., 2019; Wang et al. 2019, Zhang et al. 2019; Sun et al. 2016). As established, the typical response of a plant to P deficiency is to trigger the transcription of genes involved in the synthesis of auxins, abscisic acid, jasmonic acid, salicylic acid or ethylene (Sun et al. 2016). The plant inoculation process itself, in the case of fungi, can affect the activity of genes related to auxin synthesis and responses to N or P deficiency

(Ludwig-Müller et al., 2015). Fungi can also stimulate the transcription of genes involved in phosphatase synthesis or genes related to P transport in plant tissues (Ray et al., 2021). In contrast, little is known about bacteria and their effects on the plant transcriptome regarding P cycling, and the only studies on this topic that I was able to find were those by Soni et al. (2021). By examining the transcriptome of a tobacco plant inoculated with the bacterium *Paenibacillus polymyxa*, the authors found that, in addition to its plant growth-promoting properties, it also activated a number of genes responsible for P transport (*pstA*, *pstB*, *pstC*, *pstS*, *phnD* or *phnE*). The above information indicates that there is a gap in our current knowledge of plant–microbe interactions under P deficiency stress. In my PhD thesis, I have investigated the effect of plant inoculation with P-solubilizing bacteria under varying conditions of phosphorus availability by combining two hitherto separately studied topics. This thesis therefore presents detailed and novel results on the topic of PSMs, which are available as a described collection for subsequent production of commercial bioinoculants.

Aims of study

### 5. Aims of the study

The main aim of this study was to reveal site effects and management options for the improved use of microbial P mobilization in biomass production with fast-growing tree species.

Objectives:

1. Determine the influence of factors such as environmental conditions, planting design (mono- *vs.* mixed cultures), and plant species on microbial diversity and activity in soils. (**Publication 1**)

2. Assessment of the impact of soil properties, planting design and the level of plant association effect on P solubilizing microorganisms to determine their role and contribution to the background of the entire *Salix* microbiome. (**P2**, **P3**)

3. Examine the effect of microbial inoculation on the expression of genes involved in P cycling in *Salix* under P deficiency. (**P4**)

# **Research hypotheses**

### 6. Research hypotheses

- Planting design with mixed *Salix* species may increase soil nutrient availability (P, K, Mg) and soil enzymatic P mobilization by phosphatases, thus preventing nutrient loss in the initial cutting cycle by increasing plant diversity. (P1)
- 2. The level of plant association (direct: endophytes *vs.* indirect: rhizosphere contact with plant tissue) may be the main factor determining the diversity of the P solubilizing microbiome, with little or no effect of factors such as the planting design, site and seasonal changes. (**P2 and P3**)
- **3.** Microbial inoculation of *Salix* grown at different levels of P availability improves plant growth by plant physiological changes in gene expression. (**P4**)

# Methodology of research

## 7. Research methodology

Technique	Scope of research		P	P	P
		1	2	3	4
Selection of P	• Performed on three selective media:		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$
solubilizing soil	two containing tri-calcium phosphate				
microorganisms	(NBRIP, PVK) and one with di-				
	phosphate (modified Pikovskaya).				
	Composition of all media used is				
	described in P 2.				
Identification of	• DNA isolation from bacteria was		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$
microorganism	performed using Bacterial & Yeast				
involved	Genomic DNA Purification Kit				
in the soil P cycling	(EurX, Poland)				
	• DNA isolation from fungi was				
	performed using Plant & Fungi DNA				
	Purification Kit (EurX, Poland)				
	• Isolated bacterial DNA was				
	amplified by PCR method using 27F				
	and 1492R primers (described in P-				
	3) while isolated fungal DNA was				
	amplified using ITS1 and ITS4				
	primers (described in P 2)				
	• Gel electrophoresis was performed				
	on 2% agarose gel containing X and				
	SimplySafe stain (EurX, Poland) to				
	confirm presence of both DNA and				
	RNA in samples (described in P 2)				
Biochemical and	• Acid and alkaline phosphatase	✓			$\checkmark$
chemical soil analyses	activity (p-nitrophenyl colorimetric				
	method) was performed to assess				
	biocatalysis of P mobilization (P 1).				

Table 1. Summary of techniques used during the research work

	• Total organic carbon (TOC), total				
	nitrogen (TN), carbon to nitrogen				
	ration (C:N), bioavailable				
	phosphorus in soil and P uptake				
	• Into the plant (Molybdenium blue for				
	soil samples and inductively coupled				
	plasma (ICP) for plant samples) and				
	soil pH was measured in P-2 to				
	provide more details on soil				
	properties present on both test sites.				
	• P content in leaves and rhizosphere				
	soil was assessed using ICP method				
	combine with soil fractionation				
	method (P 4)				
Total DNA isolation	Samples were taken from				
and libraries	rhizosphere soil and roots of willows				
purification for	from two test sites and two seasons.				
microbiome analysis	Fungal ITS amplicon libraries (P 2)				
	were generated in two-step PCR, as				
	described by Thiem et al. (2018)				
	using fungal primers (uITS1 and				
	uITS2) then with M13 and M13R				
	primers with P5/P7 adapters and				
	barcodes (different MID sequences				
	for each sample). For bacteria (P 3)				
	different primers were used during				
	first stem of PCR, namely: u357f and				
	u786.				
	• Libraries were purified twice with				
	Agencourt AMPure XP (Beckman				
	Coulter, USA) according to the			1	
	Coulter, USA) according to the				
	Coulter, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. The quality				

	on a Bioanalyzer chip (Agilent,				
	USA) and they were quantified with				
	KAPA Library Quantification Kit for				
	the Illumina Platform using				
	LightCycler 480 (Roche,				
	Switzerland) according to the				
	manufacturers' protocols.				
Total RNA isolation	RNA isolation using Chomczynski				$\checkmark$
and sequencing	method described in details in P 4				
	• Sequencing of total RNA was done				
	using the Illumina platform (SBS)				
Spectrophotometric	• Performed to assess the quantity and		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$
analyses	quality of isolated DNA or RNA				
	using a Nanodrop 2000 (Thermo				
	Fisher, USA)				
Software used	Scope of research	<b>D1</b>	D2	<b>P</b> 3	P4
Software used	scope of research	11	14	15	17
Statisctica 13.3.721	Used to perform all comparison	<b>↓</b>	12 √	<b>1</b> 5 √	√ \
Software used Statisctica 13.3.721 (Statsoft)	<ul> <li>Used to perform all comparison between variants. ANOVA and Two-</li> </ul>	<b>√</b>	<b>1</b> ∠ √	<b>√</b>	√ 
Software used Statisctica 13.3.721 (Statsoft)	<ul> <li>Used to perform all comparison between variants. ANOVA and Two- way ANOVA was used in</li> </ul>	<b>√</b>	<b>1</b> 2 √	√	√
Software used Statisctica 13.3.721 (Statsoft)	<ul> <li>Used to perform all comparison between variants. ANOVA and Two- way ANOVA was used in combination with Tukey's or</li> </ul>	<b>√</b>	<i>√</i>	√	✓ ✓
Software used Statisctica 13.3.721 (Statsoft)	<ul> <li>Used to perform all comparison between variants. ANOVA and Two- way ANOVA was used in combination with Tukey's or Kruskal-Wallice post hoc test</li> </ul>	√	<i>√</i>	<b>√</b>	✓ ✓
Software used Statisctica 13.3.721 (Statsoft)	<ul> <li>Used to perform all comparison between variants. ANOVA and Two- way ANOVA was used in combination with Tukey's or Kruskal-Wallice post hoc test depending on data normality (tested</li> </ul>	<b>√</b>	<i>√</i>	<b>√</b>	✓ ✓
Software used Statisctica 13.3.721 (Statsoft)	<ul> <li>Used to perform all comparison between variants. ANOVA and Two- way ANOVA was used in combination with Tukey's or Kruskal-Wallice post hoc test depending on data normality (tested with Shaphiro Wilk test). Equality of</li> </ul>	✓ ✓	<i>√</i>	<b>√</b>	✓ ✓
Software used Statisctica 13.3.721 (Statsoft)	<ul> <li>Used to perform all comparison between variants. ANOVA and Two- way ANOVA was used in combination with Tukey's or Kruskal-Wallice post hoc test depending on data normality (tested with Shaphiro Wilk test). Equality of variance was tested using Levene's</li> </ul>	✓	<i>√</i>	<b>√</b>	✓ ✓
Software used Statisctica 13.3.721 (Statsoft)	<ul> <li>Used to perform all comparison between variants. ANOVA and Two- way ANOVA was used in combination with Tukey's or Kruskal-Wallice post hoc test depending on data normality (tested with Shaphiro Wilk test). Equality of variance was tested using Levene's test.</li> </ul>	✓	<i>√</i>	<b>√</b>	✓ ✓
Software used Statisctica 13.3.721 (Statsoft) Sequencher 5.4.6	<ul> <li>Used to perform all comparison between variants. ANOVA and Two- way ANOVA was used in combination with Tukey's or Kruskal-Wallice post hoc test depending on data normality (tested with Shaphiro Wilk test). Equality of variance was tested using Levene's test.</li> <li>Used to prepare contigs and correct</li> </ul>	✓ ✓	✓ ✓	✓ ✓	✓ ✓
Software used Statisctica 13.3.721 (Statsoft) Sequencher 5.4.6	<ul> <li>Used to perform all comparison between variants. ANOVA and Two- way ANOVA was used in combination with Tukey's or Kruskal-Wallice post hoc test depending on data normality (tested with Shaphiro Wilk test). Equality of variance was tested using Levene's test.</li> <li>Used to prepare contigs and correct errors from forward and reverse</li> </ul>	✓ ✓	✓ ✓	✓ ✓	✓ ✓
Software used Statisctica 13.3.721 (Statsoft) Sequencher 5.4.6	<ul> <li>Used to perform all comparison between variants. ANOVA and Two- way ANOVA was used in combination with Tukey's or Kruskal-Wallice post hoc test depending on data normality (tested with Shaphiro Wilk test). Equality of variance was tested using Levene's test.</li> <li>Used to prepare contigs and correct errors from forward and reverse reads acquired from sequencing.</li> </ul>	✓ ✓	✓ ✓	✓ ✓	✓ ✓
Software used Statisctica 13.3.721 (Statsoft) Sequencher 5.4.6 RStudio	<ul> <li>Used to perform all comparison between variants. ANOVA and Two- way ANOVA was used in combination with Tukey's or Kruskal-Wallice post hoc test depending on data normality (tested with Shaphiro Wilk test). Equality of variance was tested using Levene's test.</li> <li>Used to prepare contigs and correct errors from forward and reverse reads acquired from sequencing.</li> <li>Used to prepare figures with ggplot2,</li> </ul>		✓ ✓ ✓	✓ ✓ ✓	
Software used Statisctica 13.3.721 (Statsoft) Sequencher 5.4.6 RStudio	<ul> <li>Used to perform all comparison between variants. ANOVA and Two- way ANOVA was used in combination with Tukey's or Kruskal-Wallice post hoc test depending on data normality (tested with Shaphiro Wilk test). Equality of variance was tested using Levene's test.</li> <li>Used to prepare contigs and correct errors from forward and reverse reads acquired from sequencing.</li> <li>Used to prepare figures with ggplot2, tidyverse, forcats and plotly</li> </ul>		✓       ✓       ✓       ✓	✓ ✓ ✓	

	• Additionally, a list of R packages				
	used in microbiome analysis is				
	presented in P 2.				
	• Heatmap in P 4 was generated usi	ng			
	ggplot2 package				
Inkscape 1.0	• Software was used to refine and		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$
	group figures prepared in R.				
Transcriptome	• Mapping was done using hisat2				$\checkmark$
analysis performed by	software				
Novogene company	• Assembly was performed using				
	Stringtie software				
	• Quantification was conducted using	ng			
	featureCounts software				
	• Differential analysis was performed	ed			
	using DESeq2 and edgeR softwar	e			
	with following parameters:				
	log2(FoldChange)  >= 1 & padj <	<=			
	0.05				
	• Enrichment analysis was perform	ed			
	using clusterProfiler software				

# 8 Publications

#### 8. Publications





### Article Site-Effects Dominate the Plant Availability of Nutrients under Salix Species during the First Cutting Cycle

Piotr Koczorski <sup>1,2</sup>, Bliss Furtado <sup>2</sup>, Katarzyna Hrynkiewicz <sup>2</sup>, Michelle Breezmann <sup>1</sup>, Martin Weih <sup>3</sup> and Christel Baum <sup>1,\*</sup>

- <sup>1</sup> Soil Science, Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences, University of Rostock,
- 18051 Rostock, Germany; p.koczorski@doktorant.umk.pl (P.K.); michelle.breezmann@posteo.net (M.B.)
   <sup>2</sup> Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Biological and Veterinary Sciences, Nicolaus Copernicus University, 87-100 Torun, Poland; bliss.furtado@umk.pl (B.F.); hrvnk@umk.pl (K.H.)
- <sup>3</sup> Department of Crop Production Ecology, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, 750 07 Upssala, Sweden: martin.weih@slu.se
- Correspondence: christel.baum@uni-rostock.de; Tel.: +49-381-498-3100; Fax: +49-381-498-3122

Abstract: Fast-growing willows (Salix spp.) provide alternative sources of renewable energy generation, but need an adequate nutrient availability in the soil for high biomass production. In general, species mixtures can be more nutrient-efficient than pure cultures, but this is scarcely known for Salix spp. Therefore, this study evaluates the nutrient availability and P mobilization under two willow species, Salix dasyclados var. 'Loden' and S. schwerinii × viminalis var. 'Tora', grown as pure and mixed cultures at non-fertilized former arable sites in Germany (Stagnic Cambisol) and Sweden (Vertic Cambisol). The plant availability of potassium (K), magnesium (Mg) and phosphorus (P) and soil phosphatase activities in the topsoil were measured in spring of the year of planting (initial) and under 4 years-old stocks (one year after the first 3-year cutting cycle). The initial plant availability of the nutrients significantly differed between the sites and the two sampling dates at both sites. The plant availability of K and Mg was optimal to high at both sites and sampling dates, but rather low for P (after 4 years  $\leq 5 \text{ mg P } 100 \text{ g}^{-1}$  soil). The plant-available P and K content in soil significantly decreased within the 4 years of willow growth at both sites. The acid and alkaline phosphatase activity in the soil of the German site (Rostock) was significantly lower after 4 years of willow growth, but differed not significantly between the two sampling dates at the Swedish site (Uppsala). Higher activity of acid phosphatase compared to alkaline phosphatase was recorded in the soils at both test sites based on the site-specific soil pH (<7). The slight decrease of plant availability of P after 4 years of *Salix* growth in pure culture differed not significantly between the different species. Mixed growth did not decrease the plant availability of P within this period, although no significant difference in the biomass production of pure and mixed growth was observed. This was valid at both sites, and therefore, seems independent of the site-specific differences in soil and climate conditions. The general validity of the assumptions should be tested also for other species mixtures and soil conditions in the future before site-adapted growth designs can be recommended in biomass production of Salix.

Keywords: short rotation coppice; phosphatase activity; nutrient content; growth stages; biomass; willow: Salix



Citation: Koczorski, P.; Furtado, B.; Hrynkiewicz, K.; Breezmann, M.; Weih, M.; Baum, C. Site-Effects Dominate the Plant Availability of Nutrients under Salix Species during the First Cutting Cycle. *Forests* 2021, 12, 1226. https://doi.org/10.3390/ f12091226

Academic Editor: Dirk Landgraf

Received: 29 July 2021 Accepted: 7 September 2021 Published: 9 September 2021

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



**Copyright:** © 2021 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). 1. Introduction

Short rotation coppices (SRCs) with poplar (*Populus*) and willows (*Salix*) species can be established on many types of land, including marginal lands that are unsuitable for agriculture [1,2]. SRCs offer a promising contribution to fuel wood supply, providing an alternative to fossil fuels and other nonrenewable resources [3]. The harvest from SRCs are usually used as feedstock in combined heat and power plants for energy generation [4,5]. Moreover, SRC plantations have ecological benefits compared to annual crops. They improve the soil water retention, enhance biodiversity in comparison to agricultural

Forests 2021, 12, 1226. https://doi.org/10.3390/f12091226

https://www.mdpi.com/journal/forests

monocultures, improve water quality, protect ground water, prevent soil erosion and it is a low-input agricultural practice, thus implying low greenhouse gas emissions due to limited applications of chemicals [6–10] SRCs have been investigated intensively for the last 20 years (reviewed by Rödl [11]). SRC are managed using agricultural techniques, including high-density plantings and a regular cutting every 2 to 6 years without replanting [12]. The choice of tree species for SRC is generally confined to fast-growing tree species, such as those from the genera *Populus* and *Salix* [13]. In Europe, poplar and willow (*Populus* and *Salix*) belong to the natural vegetation of the softwood floodplain forest [14,15]. Poplar is typical for Western and Central European floodplains, where willow is more tolerant to low temperatures and can grow further north and in continental climates in the east of Europe [16].

Willows are deciduous trees or shrubs and comprise 330–500 species around the world [17]. They adapt in cool climates and high altitudes or on wet soils [18]. Willows require sufficient moisture supply during site establishment, while in later plantation stages, they can adapt to dry environments with heat and drought stress [17]. Studies have proven that willows have high tolerance to marginal or contaminated soils [6,8,19]. Willow SRCs are gaining increasing interest, because of their efficient and sustainable land use in combination with a growing demand for biofuel resources [20]. In Sweden, willow coppices are often used for phytoremediation where wastewaters or sewage sludge is applied to plantations in order to reduce pollutants or excess nutrients in the water [21].

Previous studies have reported that the productivity in SRCs is determined mainly by the soil fertility [22], soil pH (usually 5–7.5, but willow and poplar are tolerant to pH outside this range) [23], climatic conditions, nutrient and water availability [24], plant species and plantation density [25]. The need for fertilizers in SRCs is small compared to conventional agricultural crops [26]. SRC yields can be maximized by establishing them at fertile soils or by applying organic fertilizers, such as slurry, digested sewage sludge, manure from biogas plants [27]. However, most of these products contain high levels of nitrogen and phosphorus (P), which is risky for the leaching of nitrate and phosphate. Many studies have shown that willows and poplars have high evapotranspiration rates and are able to uptake large amounts of nutrients present in waste, thus allowing significant wastewater disposal over the growing season [28]. Furthermore, some microorganisms, mainly bacteria, are capable of converting phosphates (through solubilization and mineralization processes), and in turn supplying P to plants [29]. Soil enzymes such as acid phosphatases and alkaline phosphatases aid in enzymatically mineralizing P hydrolytically [29]. These enzymes improve the P supply to plants and strengthen the activity of many beneficial microorganisms in the adjacent soil [29]. Additionally, studies have shown that phosphatases are involved in plant growth promotion, activity against plant pathogens, waste remediation and metal recovery [30-33].

The cultivation area of SRCs is expected to increase in many European countries, such as Sweden [27], Germany [34], Ireland [35] and England [25]. As the land under SRC cultivation increases, information on the potential impact of SRC on soil quality and nutrient use efficiency is needed. Early decreases in the nutrient availability under *Salix purpurea* (cv. Hotel) within the first cutting cycle were described from a Canadian site by Ens et al. [36].

Thus far, pure cultures of one *Salix* species are the common praxis, but mixed growth was tested during the last years [37]. Species mixtures can be more efficient in the nutrient mobilization [38], since they combine e.g., different microbial communities in the rhizo-sphere [39]. However, the impact of mixed growth on the nutrient availability was scarcely tested for *Salix* spp. thus far. We hypothesize that species mixtures of *Salix* can have a higher nutrient mobilization and soil nutrient availability than pure stands by their higher microbial diversity, and thereby, activity in the rhizosphere.

Therefore, the main aims of this study were: (i) to evaluate the impact of growth of *Salix* species/varieties in pure and mixed cultures on the nutrient availability in the soil at

two test sites with different soil and climate conditions; and (ii) to analyze the effects of mixed vs. pure growth on soil enzymatic P mobilization by phosphatases.

#### 2. Material and Methods

2.1. Study Sites and Soil Sampling

The SRCs selected for this study are among two of the three experimental field sites of the ECOLINK-Salix project. The goal of this project is to investigate the relationship between genotype diversity, genotype identity, productivity and ecosystem function [37]. The two SRC sites are located in Uppsala in Central Sweden (59°49' N 17°39' E) and Rostock in Northern Germany (54°02' N 12°05' E). These two field sites with different climatic and soil conditions were selected to test whether the effects of Salix species and mixture are common or limited to defined conditions only. The dominating soil type at the site in Uppsala is a Vertic Cambisol and was previously arable farmland. The area of 4147 m<sup>2</sup> is divided into 45 plots (92.16 m<sup>2</sup> in size). In 2014, 6480 trees of four different species/varieties were planted on this site. The species/variety pool of the trial in Uppsala includes four different Salix varieties partly belonging to different species [37], of which the pure and mixed culture for two of them was selected for the present study: Salix dasyclados var. 'Loden' (acronym L) and S. schwerinii × viminalis var. 'Tora' (T), based on their significant physiological differences [37]. The mean annual precipitation sum between March and October of 2014 to 2016 was 374 mm and the mean annual temperature between March and October of 2014 to 2016 was 11.0 °C in Uppsala. Samples from the trial in Uppsala were collected in an early stage (initial plantation year, 2014) and late plantation stage (after the first cutting cycle, 2018) of the plantation.

The site in Northern Germany near Rostock was previously used as arable farmland and is established on a Stagnic Cambisol. The area of 829 m<sup>2</sup> is smaller than in Uppsala, due to space and funding restrictions, which strongly compromised the trial size [37]. However, the plot size remained the same as in Uppsala, resulting in nine plots in Rostock. As a consequence of the smaller size of the trial area, the number of trees planted in 2014 was reduced to 1296, comprising only two species/varieties of *Salix* [Tora (T) and Loden (L)] instead of four [39,40]. The mean annual precipitation sum between March and October of 2014 to 2016 was lower in Rostock than Uppsala, with 281 mm, whereas the mean annual temperature between March and October of 2014 to 2016 was higher at 13.3 °C. Samples from the trial in Rostock were collected in an early stage (initial plantation year, 2014) and late plantation stage (after the first cutting cycle, 2018) of the plantation.

#### 2.2. Planting Design and Sample Collection

In preparation for the experiment, both sites were treated with Roundup (glyphosate, 4 L ha<sup>-1</sup>) in order to kill any existing weeds in the trial areas, which were subsequently cultivated with a rotavator prior to planting [37]. The planting of the 18 cm long stem cuttings was carried out manually [37]. All the cuttings were obtained from the same stock and were soaked in water for two days before being planted in such a way that the tips of the cuttings were flush with the surface [37]. In the beginning, the trial sites were weeded by hand; later, the weeds were controlled by mowing between the rows of plants when necessary [37]. No additional nutrient fertilizers were applied [37].

The planting set up on both the sites was a randomized block design with three replicates (blocks). The blocks in Uppsala have 15 plots each (i.e., four species/varieties and three replicates), whereas the blocks in Rostock consist of three plots [40]. The four (Uppsala) or two (Rostock) species/varieties of *Salix* were planted in every possible combination. Thus, some plots were planted with only one variety (e.g., L or T) pure cultures, some with mixtures of two varieties (e.g., LT) and, in Uppsala, even plots with three or four varieties were planted [37].

The patterns in which the cuttings were planted differed according to the number of species/varieties in the plots: if there were two species/varieties, they were planted in a checker board pattern; if there were three or four species/varieties, their planting positions

were randomized, although with the single restriction that no two individuals of the same species/variety should be planted directly next to each other in one row [37]. Twelve rows of twelve plants were fit into the 9.6 m  $\times$  9.6 m plots with every other row being set off [37]. This led to a hexagonal planting pattern with 0.8 m between every plant.

The selected two *Salix* species/varieties display contrasting characteristics (Weih and Nordh, 2002). For example, *S. schwerinii*  $\times$  *viminalis* var. 'Tora' (T) is generally high-performing but less stress resistant, while *S. dasyclados* var. 'Loden' (L) is sturdier and more stress-tolerant.

Soil samples were taken with a soil corer (3 cm diameter) down to 10 cm soil depth with five replicates per plot in spring 2014 and 2018. The early plantation stage was defined as the year of establishment of the short rotation coppice (initial, 2014). The late plantation stage was defined as the year after the first cutting cycle (after four years of growth, 2018).

This soil depth was selected, since the highest fine root density of *Salix* spp. was revealed in this range [41], and therefore, the highest soil ecological impacts were assumed at this depth. For the soil chemical analyses, soil was sieved <2 mm. Soil phosphatases were measured in fresh wet soil. All other soil chemical properties were measured in air-dried soil.

#### 2.3. Biochemical Analyses of Soil

The activity of acid and alkaline phosphatases in the soil were determined colorimetrically according to [42]. The enzyme activities were expressed as  $\mu g$  p nitrophenol (pNP) g<sup>-1</sup> soil h<sup>-1</sup> released from the pre-given substrate solution (p-nitrophenyl-phosphate) within one hour of incubation in modified universal buffer with pH 6.5 (for acid phosphatases) and pH 11 (for alkaline phosphatases) in April 2014 and April 2018.

#### 2.4. Chemical Analyses of Soil

The total carbon (TC) and total nitrogen (TN) concentrations of soil samples were determined by dry combustion using a VARIO EL analyzer (Vario EL Fa. Foss Heraeus, Hanau, Germany). The concentration of SOC was valued by deducting the separately determined inorganic C (dissolution with HCl and volumetric  $CO_2$ -determination) from the concentration of TC.

The soil pH was measured in a 0.01 M CaCl<sub>2</sub> solution using a soil:solution ratio of w/v 1/2.5. Double lactate-extractable P (P<sub>dl</sub>), Mg (Mg<sub>dl</sub>) and K (K<sub>dl</sub>) were considered to be the plant-available P fractions (e.g., [43]) and were determined by extracting P, Mg and K from 12 g soil with 150 mL lactate solution (C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>10</sub>CaO<sub>6</sub> \* H<sub>2</sub>O + 10 N HCl) according to [44]. Concentrations of P, Mg and K were determined with inductively coupled plasma-optical emission spectroscopy (ICP-OES, Optima 8300, Perkin Elmer, Waltham, MA, USA) at wavelengths of 214.914 nm, 285.213 nm and 766.490 nm, respectively.

#### 2.5. Biomass Measurements

During the late winter of 2016/2017, i.e., three growing seasons after planting, here representing the "late plantation stage", all individual shoots within a central measurement area of 8.0 m  $\times$  3.2 m of each plot were cut at 0.1 m above ground and weighed in fresh condition (fresh weight). A stratified sample of 30 shoots per species/variety was done among the plants situated outside the central measurement area of all pure culture plots to determine the relationships between fresh and dry weights of shoots separately for all species/varieties. The dry weights (biomasses) of the stratified sample shoots were determined after oven-drying at 70 °C for 96 h, and the species/variety specific regressions between the fresh and dry weights of the stratified samples were used to estimate the biomasses of all individual shoots sampled within the central measurement area of all plots [37].

#### 2.6. Statistical Analyses

The effect of the site, the growth design and their interactions on the soil properties were analyzed by two-way ANOVA using the software PAST [45]. Statistical analysis was performed using the Statistica software package (version 13.0, StatSoft, Tulsa). Principal Component Analysis (PCA) was performed using R package. The samples used in the PCA were attributes (mean values) measured in two test sites (Rostock and Uppsala), two plantation stages (early and late) and three species identity and culture conditions ('Loden' pure culture, 'Tora' pure culture and a mixture of 'Loden' and 'Tora'). The attributes analyzed in the present study were: alkaline phosphatase activity, acidic phosphatase activity, willow biomass and plant-available K, Mg and P content in the soil.

#### 3. Results

3.1. Plant-Available Nutrient Contents (K, Mg and P) in the Soil

The initial plant-available concentrations of K and Mg in the soil differed significantly between the two test sites and between the early and late plantation stage per test site (Table 1). The plant-available concentration of P was low and at the same level at both test sites (Figure 1). The plant-available concentrations of P and K in soil significantly decreased with the progressing willow growth (initial vs. 4 years of growth) at the test site Rostock (Figure 1 and Table 1).

**Table 1.** Nutrient contents (K, Mg and P) in mg/100 g soil in in sampling sites (a) Rostock and (b) Uppsala initally and after 4 years for each species identity and cultivation condition (Loden, Tora and their mixture). The biomass of the willow species was measured after harvest (kg dry matter per plot).

(a) Rostock							
Species		Initial			After 4 Years		Biomass (First Harvest)
	K (mg/100 g)	Mg (mg/100 g)	P (mg/100 g)	K (mg/100 g)	Mg (mg/100 g)	P (mg/100 g)	(kg dry matter/plot)
Loden [L]	$13.4\pm6.1$	$25.2\pm9.5$	$6.8\pm1.6$ $^{ m A}$	$10\pm2.2$	$20.4 \pm 3.8$	$4.4\pm0.01~^{\rm B}$	$16.14 \pm 4.94$
Tora [T]	$32.9\pm10.7~^{\rm A}$	$27.5\pm5.9$	$5.8\pm0.9$ A	$10.7\pm3$ <sup>B</sup>	$22.0\pm0.3$	$4\pm0.1$ <sup>B</sup>	$30.71 \pm 11.94$
Loden, Tora [LT]	$23.5\pm14.3$	$21.4\pm9.4$	$5.2 \pm 1.9$	$10.2\pm3.6$	$21.1\pm4.3$	$4.4\pm1.1$	$19.57\pm5.21$
(b) Uppsala							
Species		Initial			After 4 Years		Biomass (First Harvest)
	K (mg/100 g)	Mg (mg/100 g)	P (mg/100 g)	K (mg/100 g)	Mg (mg/100 g)	P (mg/100 g)	(kg dry matter/plot)
Loden [L]	$17.6\pm3.3$	$25.9\pm1.6^{\rm \ B}$	$5.1\pm0.3$ $^{ m A}$	22.2 ± 2 *	$32.1 \pm 1.8$ A*	$4.3\pm0.2\ ^{B}$	$11.19 \pm 5.14$
Tora [T]	$16.6 \pm 2$	$27.7\pm3.3$	$4.5\pm0.6$	$19.9 \pm 3.6 *$	$28.8 \pm 3.3 *$	$3.6\pm0.4$	$13.67\pm2.89$
Loden, Tora [LT]	$17.8\pm4.1$	$30.8\pm12.3$	$6.0\pm2.4$	$23.6\pm4.6{}^*$	$27.9\pm6.9$	$5.0\pm1.8$	$13.76\pm4.74$

Soil properties were compared by site, growth stages (early and late plantation stage) and species (plots: L—Loden, T—Tora and LT—mixture). Values are means  $\pm$  SDs (n = 3). The significant differences with p < 0.05 are marked by the following symbols: \*—differences between sites, small letters—differences between species within one site, capital letters—differences between growth stages within one site.

Conversely, the amount of plant-available Mg in Uppsala soils increased from early to late plantation stages mainly under Loden (Figure 1). The plant-available concentration of K at the test site Uppsala was significantly higher than at the test site Rostock (see Tables 1 and 2). Likewise, the plant-available concentration of Mg in soil was higher in pure culture (Loden and Tora) in Uppsala in comparison to Rostock after 4 years of growth.



Figure 1. Nutrient levels increase/decrease between the years 2014 and 2018 in the soil at the two sites (Rostock and Uppsala). Small letters represent significant differences between the *Salix* species or the growth design on the same sampling site and capital letters represent the significant difference between sampling sites.

**Table 2.** Results of the two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) on the effect of site, the growth design (with different host plant diversity; pure vs. mixture) and their interactions (site  $\times$  growth design) on soil properties under *Salix* in spring 2014 (initial) and spring 2018 (after 4 years of growth).

Parameter		Site Init	ial 4 Years	Growth De 4 Ye	esign Initial ears	Site × Gro Initial	wth Design 4 Years
Plant-available P	р	0.304	0.950	0.603	0.249	0.335	0.590
content	F	1.15	0.004	0.53	1.56	1.20	0.335
Plant-available Mg	р	0.092	< 0.001	0.612	0.747	0.101	0.495
content	F	3.36	20.48	0.51	0.29	2.79	0.74
Plant-available K	р	0.020	< 0.001	0.053	0.702	0.039	0.536
content	F	7.15	606.01	3.79	3.94	4.28	7.13
Alkaline	p	0.378	< 0.001	0.928	0.065	0.344	0.184
phosphatase activity	F	0.84	95.30	0.07	3.45	1.17	1.95
Acid phosphatase	р	0.200	< 0.001	0.016	0.513	0.147	0.297
activity	F	1.84	198.20	5.92	0.71	2.26	1.34

3.2. Acid and Alkaline Phosphatase Activity in the Soil

The site and the growth design affected the activities of acid and alkaline phosphatases significantly (Table 2). The alkaline phosphatase activity in the soil Rostock was significantly higher at the early plantation stages, and a significance between species (mainly in Loden) was observed (Figure 2). In the late plantation stage, the soils showed very low activity, specifically in the soil under Loden and under the mixture. Initially, under Loden, significantly higher alkaline phosphatase activity in the soil was revealed at the test site Rostock (Figure 2), while after 4 years under Tora and Loden, significantly higher activities were measured than under the mixture at the test site Uppsala.

The activity of acid phosphatases significantly increased in the early plantation stages of willow species than in the late plantation stages in Rostock (Figure 2). The highest activity in soil was observed in plots with the mixed culture plots (LT) in comparison to the plots with monocultures Tora and Loden. No significant differences were observed among the monocultures and mixed culture plots in the early nor in the late plantation stages in Uppsala. Only plots with Loden displayed a statistical significance, with the highest activity in the late plantation stage. Overall, the acid phosphatase activity was the lowest at the late plantation stage of species in Rostock. On average, the activity in the early plantation stage, it lowered to an average of approximately 130  $\mu$ g p-nitrophenol g^{-1} DM h^{-1}. A significantly high phosphatase activity was the lowest in Rostock.

Overall, a significantly higher acid phosphatase production was recorded at both the investigated sites compared to alkaline phosphatase production (Figure 2).



**Figure 2.** The alkaline phosphatase and acid phosphatase activity [ $\mu$ g p-nitrophenol g<sup>-1</sup> DM h<sup>-1</sup>] in soils obtained from Rostock and Uppsala. The data present comparisons between two sites, Rostock (on the left site) and Uppsala (on the right), between growth stages (initial and after 4 years) and species (plots: L—Loden, T—Tora and LT—mixture). Values are means  $\pm$  SDs (n = 3). The significant differences with p < 0.05 are marked by the following symbols: small letters—differences between initial and after four years. DM—dry matter.

Regardless of the tested parameters, approximately 55% of the total variance was explained by the first two components in the PCA analysis (Figure 3). The PCA analysis revealed that the samples were differentiated mainly based on the test sites, i.e., Rostock and Uppsala. A positive tendency towards the increase in willow biomass production was observed for Rostock samples with higher acid and alkaline phosphatase activity.


**Figure 3.** Grouping of samples and corresponding variable component loadings according to the Principal Component Analysis (PCA). Samples are attributes (mean values of the attributes indicated by arrows) measured in two test sites (Rostock—R and Uppsala—U), two plantation stages (initial (early) and after 4 years (late)) and three species identity and culture conditions (L—Loden pure culture, T—Tora pure culture and LT—mixture of Loden and Tora). Attributes were soil phosphatase activity (Alkaline and Acid), willow biomass and soil nutrient content (K, Mg and P in early and late plantation stages). PC1 explained 37.6% of total variance; PC2 explained 18.8% of total variance.

# 4. Discussion

Short rotation coppices (SRCs) generate crops used in renewable energy generation in Europe. The success of SRC establishment can be assessed by studying the adaptability of crops by monitoring their growth, climate and site conditions. Factors such as climate, soil nutrient availability, plant species and growth design may significantly influence plant nutrient cycling and overall biomass production. This study investigated the Ecolink *SALIX* SRC plantations located in Germany (Rostock) and Sweden (Uppsala). Both test sites were maintained in a similar way and planted with same two *Salix* species and their mixture. We analyzed the effect of the growth design on the plant availability and hydrolytic mobilization of P at the year of planting and after 4 years of growth, including the first harvest. The test cultivars Loden and Tora were selected for our experiment because they are both phenotypically and genotypically very distinct *Salix* species. Loden

is rather slow-growing but more stress-tolerant, while Tora is generally high-performing and less stress-tolerant [37].

The initial concentrations of plant-available nutrients (Mg, K and P) at both test sites in the present study were high compared to the recommended level for arable crops [44] for Mg and K, but below the recommended level (10–18 mg P/100 g soil) for an optimal P supply. The plant-available concentration of Mg in the soils of Rostock and Uppsala was even higher than the recommended value of >19, i.e., to 32 mg/100 g soil for an optimal plant supply [44]. Moreover, the soil of the test site Rostock displayed high initial levels of plant-available K concentrations (see Table 1).

Overall, the biomass production at the test site Rostock was higher than at the test site Uppsala; however, no significant differences were observed between species and pure vs. mixed culture plots [37]. The biomass production was not correlated with the plant-availability of one of the tested nutrients (Mg, K, P); however, a correlation between the phosphatase activities and the biomass production was indicated (see Figure 3).

In agreement with Ens et al. [36], we measured significantly decreased plant-available P concentrations in the soil under the pure stands after the first cutting period, and a significant site effect on the P cycling (phosphatase activities, see Table 2) was observed. However, significant differences were observed for soil nutrient concentrations (mainly P and K) between the initial stage early and after four years of growth at both test sites (see Table 1). The acid and alkaline phosphatase activities decreased strongly from the initial level to the 4-year growth stage, which might be caused by the former grassland vegetation with a higher fine root density [46].

A general effect of the species and the growth design on the phosphatase activity under *Salix* is in agreement with the results of the mycorrhizosphere observation by Baum et al. [47]. However, only two *Salix* species were investigated in the present study due to the limitation of available plant variants at the test site Rostock in Germany (only Loden and Tora were present). Increased number of plant species and a higher amount of diversity in the mixtures (three or more species) might have increased the validity of the present information. Furthermore, a joint impact of the P and N supply might be assumed [36] and was not investigated in the present study.

The initial nutrient surplus at the arable test sites in Sweden and Germany agrees with results of former investigations of SRC [48] and underlines no need for fertilization in the first cutting period at such sites. This is because formerly arable farmland was usually regularly fertilized, which often results in high nutrient contents [49]. The nutrient concentrations in the soil changed significantly within the first four years (see Table 1). The cultivar Loden, which was included in the present study, is frequently reported with great potential in nutrient acquisition from soil, especially nitrogen and increased biomass production when paired with other Salix species [40]. The analysis of the P content in soil of both the sampling sites showed a significant decrease from early plantation to late plantation stage, which might suggest that Loden is efficient in P uptake. Since both experimental sites were not fertilized after willows were planted, most of the P present is in organic or low soluble form, which is not easily accessible to plants. P depletion in Uppsala and Rostock was also paired with a significant increase and decrease of acid phosphatase activity, respectively (see Figures 1 and 2). This inconsistency might suggest that acid phosphatase activity is not strongly connected with P supply in soil, but may be connected with other factors. Study performed by Criquet et al. [50] revealed that increased leaf litter moisture is positively correlated with acid phosphatase activity. Additionally, experiments performed in three forest ecosystems in China showed that increased precipitation during the dry season had a positive effect on enzyme activity [51]. The cultivar Tora showed slightly fewer prominent differences from the initial nutrient availability to the level after the first cutting cycle; only in Rostock site it differed in both P and Mg between these two sampling dates. Although P depletion was not as severe as for Loden, the plant-available Mg content decreased by almost two-fold compared to the initial content.

Of note, differences were observed in willow biomass production at the two test sites, which may be due to the varying nutrient concentrations in soils. Most of the plantavailable nutrient concentrations (Mg and P) were decreased in the soil within the first cutting period, although the level of K varied at both the test site and growth stages. The PCA analysis revealed that biomass was positively correlated with P and K during the early plantation stage and negatively with late plantation stage concentration of P and K (Figure 3). The correlation was prominent, although we observed K depletion in one experimental site and an increase in the other site. Willows are known to efficiently uptake organic P when paired with ectomycorrhizal fungi [52]. This suggests that the presence of these two compounds during early plantation stages is key to reaching higher biomass production efficiency in later plantation stages. Additionally, the K content was in direct correlation with alkaline and acid phosphatase activity in the early and late plantation stages, respectively, thus indicating that changes in phosphatase activity are not bound to soil P concentration but to other, more complex sets of factors. High correlation of plant-available K with phosphatase activity is probably connected with its important role as a co-factor of many enzymes. Tabaldi et al. [53] investigated the effect of various metals on Cucumis sativus L., e.g., Zn, K and Na. As a result, they observed increased acid phosphatase activity in higher presence of K ions.

Acid phosphatase activity was about three-fold higher than alkaline phosphatase. According to measurements performed in our previous study, pH on both sampling site is around 6 (measurements done at 2018 and 2019) [39], which promotes the activity of acid phosphatases. pH in which acid phosphatase is active is between 4.5-6, whereas for alkaline, this is 8-11 [54]. Additionally, the pH value in SRCs is known to drop slowly with time, which further promotes the activity of acid over alkaline phosphatase [55]. Another very important factor in acid phosphatase activity is the presence of arbuscular and ectomycorrhizal fungi. Baum et al. [47] pointed out the impact of both mycorrhiza types on various factors, including acid phosphatase activity. Loden was mostly colonized by ectomycorrhizal fungi and showed higher acid phosphatase activity in pure cultures, while Tora was colonized by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi with slightly lower activity. Additionally, they reported that mixed growth of Salix possessed higher phosphatase activity than monocultures [47]. The abovementioned factors contribute to increased P mobilization and were in agreement with the insignificant decrease of the plant-available P concentrations in the soil under mixed growth of Salix species within the first cutting cycle in the present study.

# 5. Conclusions

The site impacts are the main controls of the changes in the concentrations of plantavailable nutrients under *Salix*. The changes of the plant availability of P within one cutting cycle are generally low, independently of the site and growth design. Mixed growth of *Salix* species promotes the activity of alkaline phosphatases in P-deficient soil conditions. The impact of the growth design on the nutrient cycling differs significantly and site-specifically in the direction and amplitude. The future challenge will be to select a site-specific optimized growth design.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, M.W. and C.B.; data curation, M.B.; supervision, K.H. and C.B.; Writing original draft, P.K.; Writing review & editing, B.F., M.W. and C.B. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

**Funding:** Part of the research in the Swedish trial was funded by The Swedish Research Council Formas, project no. 2020-02339. Part of the soil analyses was funded by Deutsche Forschungsgesellschaft (DFG), project no. BA 1494/9-1.

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: The data were presented in this article.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

#### References

- Baum, C.; Leinweber, P.; Weih, M.; Lamersdorf, N.; Dimitriou, L. Effects of short rotation coppice with willows and poplar on soil ecology. Landbauforsch. Volkenrode 2009, 59, 183–196.
- Dimitriou, L.; Baum, C.; Baum, S.; Busch, G.; Schulz, U.; Köhn, J.; Lamersdorf, N.; Leinweber, P.; Aronsson, P.; Weih, M.; et al. The impact of Short Rotation Coppice (SRC) cultivation on the environment. *Landbauforsch. Volkenrode* 2009, 59, 159–162.
- Dimitriou, I.; Rutz, D. Sustainable Short Rotation Coppice: A Handbook; WIP Renewable Energies: Munich, Germany, 2015; ISBN 978-3-936338-36-2.
- Jørgensen, U.; Dalgaard, T.; Kristensen, E.S. Biomass energy in organic farming—The potential role of short rotation coppice. Biomass Bioenergy 2005, 28, 237–248. [CrossRef]
- Berhongaray, G.; Verlinden, M.S.; Broeckx, L.S.; Janssens, I.A.; Ceulemans, R. Soil carbon and belowground carbon balance of a short-rotation coppice: Assessments from three different approaches. GCB Bioenergy 2017, 9, 299–313. [CrossRef]
- Padoan, E.; Passarella, I.; Prati, M.; Bergante, S.; Facciotto, G.; Ajmone-Marsan, F. The suitability of short rotation coppice crops for phytoremediation of urban soils. *Appl. Sci.* 2020, 10, 307. [CrossRef]
- 7. Vanbeveren, S.P.P.; Ceulemans, R. Biodiversity in short-rotation coppice. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 2019, 111, 34-43. [CrossRef]
- Dimitriou, I.; Mola-Yudego, B.; Aronsson, P. Impact of Willow Short Rotation Coppice on Water Quality. Bioenergy Res. 2012, 5, 537–545. [CrossRef]
- Beringer, T.; Lucht, W.; Schaphoff, S. Bioenergy production potential of global biomass plantations under environmental and agricultural constraints. GCB Bioenergy 2011, 3, 299–312. [CrossRef]
- Kahle, P.; Baum, C.; Boelcke, B. Effect of afforestation on soil properties and mycorrhizal formation. *Pedosphere* 2005, *15*, 754–760.
   Rödl, A. Short Rotation Coppice: Status and Prospects. In *Meyers*; Springer: Berlin/Heidelberg, Germany; New York, NY, USA,
- 2019.
  12. Eppler, U.: Petersen, I.E.: Couturier, C. Short Rotation Forestru. Short Rotation Compice and Perennial Grasses in the European Union:
- Eppler, U.; Petersen, J.E.; Couturier, C. Short Rotation Forestry, Short Rotation Coppice and Perennial Grasses in the European Union: Agro-Environmental Aspects, Present Use and Perspectives. Short Rotation Forestry, Short Rotation Coppice and Perennial Grasses in the European Union: Agro-Environmental Aspects, Present Use and Perspectives; JRC Scientific and Technical Reports: Ispra, Italy, 2008; pp. 95–132.
- Wolf, H.; Schildbach, M.; Hartmann, K.-U. Plantagenbaumarten und Deren Züchtung; Verlag, W., Ed.; Weißensee Verlag: Berlin, Germany, 2010.
- Tullus, H.; Tullus, A.; Rytter, L. Short-Rotation Forestry for Supplying Biomass for Energy Production; Forest BioEnergy Production; Springer: New York, NY, USA, 2013; pp. 39–56.
- 15. Pleguezuelo, C.R.R.; Zuazo, V.H.D.; Bielders, C.; Bocanegra, J.A.J.; PereaTorres, F.; Martínez, J.R.F. Bioenergy farming using woody crops. A review. Agron. Sustain. Dev. 2014, 35, 95–119. [CrossRef]
- Hughes, F.; Richards, K.; Girel, J.; Moss, T.; Muller, E.; Nilsson, C.; Rood, S. The Flooded Forest: Guidance for Policy Makers and River Managers in Europe on the Restoration of Floodplain Forests; The FLOBAR2 Project: Cambridge, UK, 2003.
- 17. Dickmann, D.I.; Kuzovkina, J. Poplars and willows of the world, with emphasis on silviculturally important species. *Poplars Willows Trees Soc. Environ.* 2014, 22, 8.
- Castaño-Díaz, M.; Barrio-Anta, M.; Afif-Khouri, E.; Cámara-Obregón, A. Willow short rotation coppice trial in a former mining area in northern spain: Effects of clone, fertilization and planting density on yield after five years. Forests 2018, 9, 154. [CrossRef]
- Ruttens, A.; Boulet, J.; Weyens, N.; Smeets, K.; Adriaensen, K.; Meers, E.; van Slycken, S.; Tack, F.; Meiresonne, L.; Thewys, T.; et al. Short rotation coppice culture of willows and poplars as energy crops on metal contaminated agricultural soils. *Int. J. Phytoremediation* 2011, 13, 194–207. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Weih, M.; Hansson, P.-A.; Ohlsson, J.A.; Sandgren, M.; Schnürer, A.; Rönnberg-Wästljung, A.-C. Sustainable Production of Willow for Biofuel Use; Saffron, C., Ed.; Burleigh Dodds Science Publishing Limited: Cambridge, UK, 2020.
- 21. Dimitriou, I.; Aronsson, P. Willows for Energy and Phytoremediation in Sweden. Unasylva-FAO 2005, 56, 47.
- Stolarski, M.; Szczukowski, S.; Tworkowski, J.; Klasa, A. Productivity of seven clones of willow coppice in annual and quadrennial cutting cycles. *Biomass Bioenergy* 2008, 32, 1227–1234. [CrossRef]
- Caslin, B.; Teagasc, O.P. Energy Crops Agronomy–lessons to date. In *Energy Crops Business Contacts*; IrBEA: Dublin, Ireland, 2010; Volume 4.
- Langeveld, H.; Quist-Wessel, F.; Dimitriou, I.; Aronsson, P.; Baum, C.; Schulz, U.; Bolte, A.; Baum, S.; Köhn, J.; Weih, M.; et al. Assessing Environmental Impacts of Short Rotation Coppice (SRC) Expansion: Model Definition and Preliminary Results. *BioEnergy Res.* 2012, 5, 621–635. [CrossRef]
- Wilkinson, J.M.; Evans, E.J.; Bilsborrow, P.E.; Wright, C.; Hewison, W.O.; Pilbeam, D.J. Yield of willow cultivars at different planting densities in a commercial short rotation coppice in the north of England. *Biomass Bioenergy* 2007, 31, 469–474. [CrossRef]
- 26. Dimitriou, I.; Rutz, D. Sustainability Criteria and Recommendations for Short Rotation Woody Crops; IEE Project SRCplus; WIP Renewable Energies: Munich, Germany, 2014.
- 27. Dimitriou, I.; Rosenqvist, H.; Berndes, G. Slow expansion and low yields of willow short rotation coppice in Sweden; implications for future strategies. *Biomass Bioenergy* 2011, 35, 4613–4618. [CrossRef]

- Mirck, J.; Isebrands, J.G.; Verwijst, T.; Ledin, S. Development of short-rotation willow coppice systems for environmental purposes in Sweden. *Biomass Bioenergy* 2005, 28, 219–228. [CrossRef]
- Richardson, A.E.; Simpson, R.J. Soil microorganisms mediating phosphorus availability update on microbial phosphorus. *Plant Physiol.* 2011, 156, 989–996. [CrossRef]
- Zhu, J.; Qu, B.; Li, M. Phosphorus mobilization in the Yeyahu Wetland: Phosphatase enzyme activities and organic phosphorus fractions in the rhizosphere soils. Int. Biodeterior. Biodegrad. 2017, 124, 304–313. [CrossRef]
- Macaskie, L.E.; Bonthrone, K.M.; Yong, P.; Goddard, D.T. Enzymically mediated bioprecipitation of uranium by a Citrobacter sp.: A concerted role for exocellular lipopolysaccharide and associated phosphatase in biomineral formation. *Microbiology* 2000, 146, 1855–1867. [CrossRef]
- Anzuay, M.S.; Ludueña, L.M.; Angelini, J.G.; Fabra, A.; Taurian, T. Beneficial effects of native phosphate solubilizing bacteria on peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) growth and phosphorus acquisition. *Symbiosis* 2015, 66, 89–97. [CrossRef]
- Nasto, M.K.; Osborne, B.B.; Lekberg, Y.; Asner, G.P.; Balzotti, C.S.; Porder, S.; Taylor, P.G.; Townsend, A.R.; Cleveland, C.C. Nutrient acquisition, soil phosphorus partitioning and competition among trees in a lowland tropical rain forest. *New Phytol.* 2017, 214, 1506–1517. [CrossRef]
- Hauk, S.; Wittkopf, S.; Knoke, T. Analysis of commercial short rotation coppices in Bavaria, southern Germany. Biomass Bioenergy 2014, 67, 401–412. [CrossRef]
- Wickham, J.; Rice, B.; Finnan, J.; McConnon, R. A Review of Past and Current Research on Short Rotation Coppice in Ireland and Abroad; Coford: Dublin, Ireland, 2010.
- Ens, J.; Farrell, R.E.; Bélanger, N. Early effects of afforestation with willow (Salix purpurea, "Hotel") on soil carbon and nutrient availability. Forests 2013, 4, 137–154. [CrossRef]
- Hoeber, S.; Arranz, C.; Nordh, N.E.; Baum, C.; Low, M.; Nock, C.; Scherer-Lorenzen, M.; Weih, M. Genotype identity has a more important influence than genotype diversity on shoot biomass productivity in willow short-rotation coppices. *GCB Bioenergy* 2018, 10, 534–547. [CrossRef]
- Liu, C.L.C.; Kuchma, O.; Krutovsky, K.V. Mixed-species versus monocultures in plantation forestry: Development, benefits, ecosystem services and perspectives for the future. *Glob. Ecol. Conserv.* 2018, 15, e00419. [CrossRef]
- Koczorski, P.; Furtado, B.U.; Gołębiewski, M.; Hulisz, P.; Baum, C.; Weih, M.; Hrynkiewicz, K. The effects of host plant genotype and environmental conditions on fungal community composition and phosphorus solubilization in willow short rotation coppice. *Front. Plant Sci.* 2021, 12, 647709. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 40. Hoeber, S.; Fransson, P.; Prieto-Ruiz, I.; Manzoni, S.; Weih, M. Two Salix genotypes differ in productivity and nitrogen economy when grown in monoculture and mixture. *Front. Plant Sci.* 2017, *8*, 231. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Rytter, R.M.; Hansson, A.C. Seasonal amount, growth and depth distribution of fine roots in an irrigated and fertilized Salix viminalis L. plantation. *Biomass Bioenergy* 1996, 11, 129–137. [CrossRef]
- Tabatabai, M.A.; Bremner, J.M. Use of p-nitrophenyl phosphate for assay of soil phosphatase activity. Soil Biol. Biochem. 1969, 1, 301–307. [CrossRef]
- Kerschberger, M.; Hege, U.; Jungk, A. Phosphordüngung nach Bodenuntersuchung und Pflanzenbedarf. VDLUFA Standpkt. 1997, 8, 1–14.
- Hoffmann, G. Bestimmung von Phosphor und Kalium im Calcium-Acetat-Lactat (CAL)-Auszug. In *Die Untersuchung von Boden;* VDLUFA-Methodenbuch Bd. I, 4. Auflage, A 6.2.1.1, VDLUFA Verlag D Darmstadt; VDLUFA: Speyer, Germany, 1991.
- Hammer, D.A.T.; Ryan, P.D.; Hammer, Ø.; Harper, D.A.T. Past: Paleontological statistics software package for education and data analysis. Palaeontol. Electron. 2001, 4, 178.
- Lugli, L.F.; Andersen, K.M.; Aragão, L.E.O.C.; Cordeiro, A.L.; Cunha, H.F.V.; Fuchslueger, L.; Meir, P.; Mercado, L.M.; Oblitas, E.; Quesada, C.A.; et al. Multiple phosphorus acquisition strategies adopted by fine roots in low-fertility soils in Central Amazonia. *Plant Soil* 2019, 450, 49–63. [CrossRef]
- Baum, C.; Hrynkiewicz, K.; Szymanska, S.; Vitow, N.; Hoeber, S.; Fransson, P.M.A.; Weih, M. Mixture of Salix genotypes promotes root colonization with dark septate endophytes and changes P cycling in the mycorrhizosphere. *Front. Microbiol.* 2018, *9*, 1012. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Kahle, P.; Baum, C.; Boelcke, B.; Kohl, J.; Ulrich, R. Vertical distribution of soil properties under short-rotation forestry in Northern Germany. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 2010, 173, 737–746. [CrossRef]
- Lutter, R.; Tullus, A.; Kanal, A.; Tullus, T.; Tullus, H. The impact of short-rotation hybrid aspen (*Populus tremula* L.× *P. tremuloides* Michx.) plantations on nutritional status of former arable soils. *For. Ecol. Manag.* 2016, 362, 184–193. [CrossRef]
- Criquet, S.; Ferre, E.; Farnet, A.M.; Le Petit, J. Annual dynamics of phosphatase activities in an evergreen oak litter: Influence of biotic and abiotic factors. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 2004, *36*, 1111–1118. [CrossRef]
- Huang, W.; Liu, J.; Zhou, G.; Zhang, D.; Deng, Q. Effects of precipitation on soil acid phosphatase activity in three successional forests in southern China. *Biogeosciences* 2011, 8, 1901–1910. [CrossRef]
- Rennenberg, H.; Herschbach, C. Phosphorus nutrition of woody plants: Many questions-few answers. Plant Biol. 2013, 15, 785–788. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 53. Tabaldi, L.A.; Ruppenthal, R.; Cargnelutti, D.; Morsch, V.M.; Pereira, L.B.; Schetinger, M.R.C. Effects of metal elements on acid phosphatase activity in cucumber (Cucumis sativus L.) seedlings. *Environ. Exp. Bot.* 2007, *59*, 43–48. [CrossRef]

- Nannipieri, P.; Giagnoni, L.; Landi, L.; Renella, G. *Role of Phosphatase Enzymes in Soil*; Springer: Berlin/Heidelberg, Germany, 2011; pp. 215–243.
   Pellegrino, E.; Di Bene, C.; Tozzini, C.; Bonari, E. Impact on soil quality of a 10-year-old short-rotation coppice poplar stand compared with intensive agricultural and uncultivated systems in a Mediterranean area. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 2011, 140, 245–254. [CrossRef]

# ORIGINAL RESEARCH published: 05 July 2021 doi: 10.3389/fpls.2021.647709



<sup>1</sup> Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Biological and Veterinary Sciences, Nicolaus Copernicus University, Torun, Poland, <sup>2</sup> Department of Plant Physiology and Biotechnology, Faculty of Biological and Veterinary Sciences, Nicolaus Copernicus

University, Torun, Poland, <sup>3</sup> Interdisciplinary Center for Modern Technologies, Nicolaus Copernicus University, Torun, Poland, <sup>4</sup> Department of Soil Science and Landscape Management, Faculty of Earth Sciences and Spatial Management, Nicolaus

Phosphorus (P) is an essential plant nutrient. Low availability of P in soil is mainly caused

Copernicus University, Torun, Poland, <sup>6</sup> Soil Science, Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences, University

of Rostock, Rostock, Germany, <sup>6</sup> Department of Crop Production Ecology, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences,

Piotr Koczorski<sup>1</sup>. Bliss Ursula Furtado<sup>1</sup>. Marcin Gołebiewski<sup>2,3</sup>. Piotr Hulisz<sup>4</sup>. Christel Baum<sup>5</sup>, Martin Weih<sup>6</sup> and Katarzyna Hrynkiewicz<sup>1\*</sup>

**OPEN ACCESS** 

#### Edited by:

Uppsala, Sweden

Kasten Dumroe Rocky Mountain Research Station. United States Forest Service (USDA), I Inited States

#### Reviewed by:

Rodica Pena, University of Reading, United Kinadom Jane E. Stewart. Colorado State University, United States

> \*Correspondence: Katarzyna Hrynkiewicz hrvnk@umk.pl

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Functional Plant Ecology, a section of the iouma Frontiers in Plant Science

Received: 30 December 2020 Accepted: 03 June 2021 Published: 05 July 2021

#### Citation

Koczorski P, Furtado BU, Golębiewski M, Hulisz P, Baum C, Weih M and Hrynkiewicz K (2021) The Effects of Host Plant Genotype and Environmental Conditions on Fungal Community Composition and Phosphorus Solubilization in Willow Short Rotation Coppice. Front. Plant Sci. 12:647709. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2021.647709

Frontiers in Plant Science | www.frontiersin.org

by high content of Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> in the clay fraction that binds to P making it unavailable. Beneficial microbes, such as P solubilizing microorganisms can increase the available P in soil and improve plant growth and productivity. In this study, we evaluated the effects of environmental conditions (climate, soil parameters), plant genotype, and level of plant association (rhizosphere or endophytic root organism) on the abundance and diversity of phosphorus solubilizing microorganisms in a Salix production system. We hypothesized that a lower number of endophytic fungi may possess the ability to solubilize P compared to the number of rhizosphere fungi with the same ability. We also expect that the plant genotype and the experimental site with its environmental conditions will influence fungal diversity. Two Salix genotypes grown in pure and mixed cultures were investigated for their fungal microbiome community and diversity in the rhizosphere and endosphere during two growing seasons. We found that the rhizosphere fungal community was more diverse. A general dominance of Ascomycota (Dothideomycetes) and Basidiomycota (Tremellomycetes) was observed. The classes Agaricomycetes and Pezizomycetes were more frequent in the endosphere, while Tremellomycetes and Mortierellomycetes were more abundant in the rhizosphere. Plot-specific soil properties (pH, total organic carbon, and nitrogen) significantly influenced the fungal community structure. Among the culturable fungal diversities, 10 strains of phosphate solubilizing fungi (PSFs) from roots and 12 strains from rhizosphere soil were identified using selective media supplemented with di-calcium and tri-calcium phosphates. The fungal density and the number of PSF were much higher in the rhizosphere than in the endosphere. Penicillium was the dominant genus of PSF isolated from both sites; other less frequent genera of PSFs

1



were Alternaria, Cladosporium, and Clonostachys. Overall the main factors controlling the fungal communities (endophytic vs. rhizosphere fungi) were the soil properties and level of plant association, while no significant influence of growing season was observed. Differences between *Salix* genotypes were observed for culturable fungal diversity, while in metagenomic data analysis, only the class *Dothideomycetes* showed a significant effect from the plant genotype.

Keywords: diversity, fungal endophytes, phosphate solubilization, rhizosphere fungi, short rotation cropping, willow

# INTRODUCTION

Phosphorus (P) is an essential plant nutrient provided by a non-renewable resource (Filippelli, 2008; Shen et al., 2011). Fluoroapatite is the main and non-renevable resource from which fertilizers are produced (Filippelli, 2008). Moreover, P compounds released during weathering are usually complex and are not immediately bio-available (Filippelli, 2008; Singh and Satyanarayana, 2011). Plants and microorganisms release extracellular phosphatases from roots and recover orthophosphate ions from mineralizing phosphor-organic compounds (Richardson and Simpson, 2011). Furthermore, P solubilization is a microbial-driven process of hydrolysis of organic and inorganic P compounds to simpler compounds that can be utilized by plants (Richardson and Simpson, 2011).

Phosphorus solubilizing microorganisms can increase the availability of P for plants from the soil P pool, reducing the need for P fertilization. More P solubilizing bacteria have been reported than P solubilizing fungi (PSFs), but the latter are more effective, as PSFs do not lose the ability to solubilize P after subculture (Zhang et al., 2011). There are reports of various PSF species, such as Aspergillus spp., Penicillium spp., Trichoderma viride, Arthrobotrys oligospora, Cephalosporium sp., or Cladosporium sp. (Khan et al., 2010; Patil et al., 2012; Sharma et al., 2012; Ram et al., 2015; Li et al., 2016; Alori et al., 2017). In certain cases, these fungi may form symbioses with plants, develop mycelial networks, produce plant growth-promoting metabolites, and increase plant P and nitrogen uptake from the soil, e.g., by increasing root surface area (Baum et al., 2009). Chatli et al. (2008) isolated PSFs belonging to the genera Aspergillus and Penicillium from the rhizosphere of willow (Salix alba L.) growing in the trans-Himalayan region. Few experiments have demonstrated that PSFs isolated from other host plants could be used to increase yields of tomato, maize, and wheat (Khan and Khan, 2002; Reyes et al., 2002; Sharma et al., 2012; Ram et al., 2015).

The European Union directive (April 2009) on the promotion of the use of energy from renewable sources (Directive 2009/28/EC) states that 20% of the total energy in Europe should be generated from renewable sources<sup>1</sup>. Generally modern agriculture is focused mostly on reaching high yields by the use of best-performing plant species grown in pure culture. Such pure cultures are often easier in maintenance than mixed cultures, but pure cultures have been shown to be more vulnerable

Frontiers in Plant Science | www.frontiersin.org

2

to pests and diseases in many cases. Thus, the introduction of mixed genotypes plantations could limit the losses due to pests and diseases while significantly enhancing biodiversity (Hoeber et al., 2018; Schweier et al., 2019). This may improve the sustainability of biomass production on SRCs but our knowledge in this area is still limited. Additionally selection of tree species for SRC is critical and depends on the local climate and soil conditions. SRCs are generally confined to fast growing tree species, mainly from the genera Populus, Salix, Eucalyptus, and Robinia (Navarro et al., 2016), Salix species are fast growing trees that possess high economic value because of their high potential to contribute to renewable energy generation in Europe (Sevel et al., 2012; Weih et al., 2021). This woody crop can be planted on soils that are less suitable for farming of food crops and can be fertilized with sewage sludge, wastewater, or ashes which contain high amounts of nitrogen and phosphorus (Dimitriou and Aronsson, 2011). Many species of Salix can control P uptake and metabolism, although the corresponding mechanisms are still largely unknown (Rennenberg and Herschbach, 2013).

Rhizosphere and endophytic fungi play important roles in plant growth and development. Their ecology and function is different and depends on various parameters (Hrynkiewicz and Baum, 2012). The level of plant association may be affected by soil properties, climate, weather conditions, and host plant genotype. Likewise, understanding how the willow plantations in the form of monoculture and mixed genotypes could affect the overall microbial diversity is key information. This study bridges the gap by providing knowledge on the rhizosphere and endophytic fungal diversity in willow SRCs. Hence, the main aim of this research was to investigate the diversity of rhizosphere and endophytic fungi from two willow species, S. dasyclados (cultivar "Loden") and S. schwerinii × S. viminalis ("Tora"), as well as their mixture at two sites located in Germany and Sweden. The two species selected for the study are phenotypically different, and "Tora" is known for its high productivity compared to "Loden" (Hoeber et al., 2017). The mixture of two host species may result in increased diversity of fungi compared to growing the same species in pure culture. The two investigated experimental sites represent ECOLINK-Salix within a global tree diversity network (Verheyen et al., 2016). The two selected sites are similar in terms of planting time, design, and management (e.g., fertilization, timing of shoot harvests) but vary by local climate and soil conditions. This might provide more information about importance of climate and soil nutrient content on willow microbiome. We

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/energy/data/shares

evaluated the effect of climate, soil conditions, level of plant association, and planting design on the abundance and diversity of PSFs by applying culture-dependent and culture-independent (metagenomic) methods. Using culture-dependent techniques is critical as it allows application of this study for future research in using these strains as inoculants in plants. Moreover, cultureindependent methods give more insight into the culturable and unculturable fungal diversity present in the two experimental sites. In addition, to assess the potential impact of PSFs on the P supply of Salix in fall, we tested the P solubilization efficiency of fungal isolates. We hypothesized that a lower number of endophytic fungi may possess the ability to solubilize P compared to the number of rhizosphere fungi with the same ability. Second, the site-specific climate and soil conditions and the Salix species genotypes may determine the abundance and diversity of total fungi and PSFs.

### MATERIALS AND METHODS

### Site Description and Sampling

The two experimental sites have been well-established SRCs since spring 2014 (Hoeber et al., 2018). The first experimental site is located in Uppsala, Sweden ( $59^{\circ}49'13.4''N$ ,  $17^{\circ}38'25.2''E$ ), and the second is located in Rostock, Germany ( $54^{\circ}03'41.0''N$ ,  $12^{\circ}04'54.7''E$ ). Both sites are former arable fields. The experimental site in Uppsala is located on fine-textured mineral soils, mainly Vertic Cambisols (according to IUSS Working Group WRB, 2015). The experimental site Rostock is dominated by Stagnic Cambisols developed from loamy sands.

The study sites vary by local climate and soil conditions. According to the Köppen–Geiger classification, the climate in Uppsala is boreal (Dfb: snow, fully humid with warm summers; Kottek et al., 2006). The average annual rainfall is 551 mm, and the average annual air temperature is 5.8°C (1970–2000; http: //www.worldclim.org/current). Winters are usually not as cold as in other cities at similar latitudes due to the influence of the Gulf Stream. Rostock is situated on the Baltic coast in a warm temperate climate (Cfb: fully humid with warm summers). The average air temperature of Rostock is higher than that of Uppsala (8.4°C), but the rainfall sum is similar (600 mm).

The meteorological data obtained from https://www. worldweatheronline.com/showed similar trends in the 2018– 2019 period for both studied localities. In general, these years were warmer than average (2009–2019). However, lower than average monthly temperatures were recorded in February (Rostock and Uppsala) and March (Rostock) 2018. The interannual variability in the monthly distribution of rainfall was high. The 2018 year was significantly drier and the 2019 year was much wetter than average (2009–2019; **Supplementary Table 1** and **Supplementary Figure 1**). Two Salix genotypes, "Loden" (S. dasyclados) [L] and "Tora" (S. schwerinii × S. viminalis) [T], were cultivated as pure cultures and mixtures [LT] at the two sites. The L genotype is characterized by shorter shoots and a larger leaf area than the T genotype (Hoeber et al., 2018).

Willow roots and soils were sampled from the two experimental sites during two seasons: Fall 2018

Frontiers in Plant Science | www.frontiersin.org

(Sweden – October 23rd, Germany – October 27th) and spring 2019 (Sweden – May 15th, Germany – May 18th). Both experimental sites were organized into three blocks, and the density of plants was 15,600 ha<sup>-1</sup>. Blocks were divided into plots randomly planted with different *Salix* genotypes (**Figure 1**) and their mixtures in all possible combinations. Treatments L, T, and LT were selected for investigation since they were present at both experimental sites (**Figure 1**). There were three replicates per treatment (nine plots per experimental site, in total), and each plot was 9.6 m × 9.6 m.

Three samples per plot (81 from Sweden and 81 from Germany per season, 324 in total) were taken by digging root samples with adhering soil (15 cm  $\times$  15 cm  $\times$  15 cm) at a distance of 6 m from each other for microbiological analysis. The organic litter layer (up to 5 cm thick) was removed and topsoil (0–25 cm) was sampled. Samples were carefully transferred to collection bags and covered with a thin layer of soil to prevent drying. Collected samples were immediately transported to the laboratory and used for analyses.

#### **Soil Physicochemical Analysis**

Air-dried soil samples were passed through a 2 mm sieve. The total organic carbon (TOC) and total nitrogen (TN) contents were measured after dry combustion using a CHNS Vario Macro Cube elemental analyzer. Available phosphorus ( $P_{av}$ ) in 1% citric acid (van Reeuwijk, 2002) was determined by a spectrophotometric method using spectrophotometer UV–Vis Rayleigh UV-1601 (van Reeuwijk, 2002), and the pH (in H<sub>2</sub>O and 1M KCl) at 1:2.5 soil to solution ratio was determined by the potentiometric method using an Elmetron CP-105 pH-meter. **Table 1** shows differences in soil parameters on both sampling sites and two growing seasons.

#### **Total Cultivable Fungal Density**

Samples from fall 2018 were processed for cultivable fungal density and phosphate solubilizationability. The willow roots were carefully separated from the adhering rhizosphere soil. One and a half grams of roots were surface sterilized with 60% alcohol (3 min) by vigorous shaking and then washed three times in sterile 2% NaCl solution. The roots were washed in sterile 5%  $H_2O_2$  solution (10 min) and rinsed three times in sterile 2% NaCl solution. The last wash of 2% NaCl was plated on R2A medium (BD Difco, United States; sterilization control). The surface sterilized roots (1 g) were homogenized using a sterile mortar and pestle under sterile conditions and then transferred to Falcon tubes containing 9 ml of sterile 0.5% NaCl solution. For the rhizosphere soil samples (from uppermost mineral part of soil affected by the plant roots), 1 g was transferred to Falcon tubes with 9 ml of sterile distilled water, and dilutions were performed.

For the total fungal density, potato dextrose agar (PDA) medium (BD Difco, United States) supplemented with tetracycline at 100 mg/l was used. Serial dilutions of  $10^{-2}$  and  $10^{-3}$  of the root samples and  $10^{-3}$  and  $10^{-4}$  of the rhizosphere soil were selected for spread plating. Plates were kept at 24°C, and the total number of fungal colonies on PDA medium was counted after day 7 and presented as colony forming units (c.f.u).

July 2021 | Volume 12 | Article 647709

3





FIGURE 1 | (A) The randomized block design of the ECOLINK-Salix field trial in Germany (Rostock) consisting of 9 plots (each 9.6 m × 9.6 m) in three blocks with genotype monocultures and mixtures. (B) The randomized block design of the ECOLINK-Salix field trial in Sweden (Uppsala) consisting of 45 plots (each 9.6 m × 9.6 m) in three blocks with genotype monocultures and mixtures.

# Screening PSFs From Roots and Rhizosphere Soil

The isolation and selection of PSFs were performed on three selective media (NBRIP, PVK; Nautiyal, 1999, and DCP; modified Pikovskaya, 1948; **Supplementary Table 2**) containing either tri-(NVRIP, PVK) or diphosphates (DCP). In total, 108 plates per medium were used to evaluate P solubilizing and non-PSF.

The serial dilutions from the roots and the rhizosphere soil (100  $\mu$ l each) were spread plated on the three selective media. For NBRIP and PVK media,  $10^{-5}$ – $10^{-6}$  dilutions were used for both types of samples. For DCP medium,  $10^{-3}$ – $10^{-4}$  dilutions were used for the roots, and  $10^{-4}$ – $10^{-5}$  dilutions were used for the rhizosphere soil samples. Three technical replicates were prepared for each sample. Plates were kept at 24°C for 7 days and observed for fungal halos indicated phosphorous solubilization. Calculations were performed to determine the number of PSF and the total number of fungi growing on each of the three media.

All PSF isolates unique to each plot were subjected to molecular identification. The fungal density was determined by the  $\log_{10}$  [c.f.u. (g f.w. soil)<sup>-1</sup> or (g f.w. roots)<sup>-1</sup>] values for both the total fungal count and those screened with selective media.

#### **Molecular Identification of Fungal Strains**

Twenty-two selected fungal isolates (12 from Germany and 10 from Sweden) were cultivated on fresh PDA medium (BD Difco, United States). Fungal DNA was isolated from fresh mycelium using the Plant and Fungi DNA Purification Kit (Eurx, Poland). The concentration of DNA was measured using a UV-Vis spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific NanoDrop2000, United States). The ITS region was amplified using ITS1 (5-CTTGGTCATTTAGAGGAAGTAA-3) and ITS4 (5-TCCTCCGCTTATTGATATGC-3) primers (Martin and Rygiewicz, 2005; Manter and Vivanco, 2007). PCR clean-up was carried out using a PCR/DNA Clean-Up Purification Kit

Frontiers in Plant Science | www.frontiersin.org

4

TABLE 1	Characteristics	of rhizosphere soils

TABLE I Orianautrisuito of mizosphere solis.										
Site	Season	Genotype	TOC (%)	TN (%)	C:N	P <sub>av</sub> (mg⋅kg <sup>-1</sup> )	pH(H <sub>2</sub> O)	pH(KCI)		
Sweden	Fall	L	$1.69 \pm 0.24^{*}$	$0.16 \pm 0.02^{*}$	$10.3\pm0.5b$	$101 \pm 12.2b$	$5.7\pm0.2b$	$5.3\pm0.1$		
		Т	$1.59 \pm 0.21^{*}$	$0.16 \pm 0.01^{*}$	$10.2\pm0.7$	$94.2 \pm 13.6^{*}$	$5.7 \pm 0.1b$	$5.2\pm0.2$		
		LT	$1.65 \pm 0.2^{*}$	$0.16\pm0.02^{\star}$	$10.4\pm0.6$	$105\pm28.1b^{\star}$	$5.7\pm0.1$	$5.1\pm0.1$		
	Spring	L	$1.89 \pm 0.29^{*}$	$0.17 \pm 0.02^{*}$	11.1 ± 0.5Aa	75.7 ± 20.1Ba*	$6.0\pm0.2Ba$	$5.2\pm0.2$		
		Т	$1.72 \pm 0.22^{*}$	$0.17 \pm 0.02^{*}$	$10.2\pm0.6B$	$93.6 \pm 14.7 A^{*}$	$6.2\pm0.2Ba$	$5.2\pm0.1$		
		LT	$1.63\pm0.18$	$0.16 \pm 0.02^{*}$	$10.3\pm0.5\text{B}$	63.1 ± 19.8Ba	$5.7\pm0.2A$	$5.2\pm0.1$		
Germany	Fall	L	$1.21 \pm 0.17$	$0.11 \pm 0.02$	$11.3 \pm 0.7^{*}$	$101 \pm 22.0 Aa$	$6.0 \pm 0.4^*$	$5.8 \pm 0.4^{*}$		
		Т	$1.13\pm0.13b$	$0.1\pm0.01b$	$11.3 \pm 0.7^{*}$	$57.0\pm7.3\text{B}$	$6.1 \pm 0.3^{*}$	$6.0 \pm 0.3^{*}$		
		LT	$1.22 \pm 0.21b$	$0.1 \pm 0.01 b$	$11.7 \pm 1.0^{*}$	$55.0 \pm 12.3B$	$6.0\pm0.3b^{*}$	$5.7 \pm 0.4^{*}$		
	Spring	L	$1.24 \pm 0.2$	$0.11\pm0.01$	$11.3\pm0.9$	$50.5\pm9.5b$	$6.2 \pm 0.3^{*}$	$6.1 \pm 0.3^{*}$		
		Т	$1.4 \pm 0.24a$	$0.11 \pm 0.01a$	$12.5 \pm 1.3^{*}$	$54.8 \pm 11.3$	$6.3 \pm 0.2^{*}$	$6.2 \pm 0.2^{*}$		
		LT	1.49 ± 0.19a	$0.12 \pm 0.01a$	$12.4\pm0.8^{\star}$	$57.3 \pm 11.2$	$6.2\pm0.2a^{\star}$	$6.1 \pm 0.3^{*}$		

At each sampling site (Sweden and Germany), three plots per three blocks for each variant of the experiment (Loden, Tora, and mixture of both genotypes) were sampled. In total, 108 root and soil samples from both samplings were collected. Soil properties were compared by site, season, and genotype (plots: L-Loden, T-Tora, and LT-mixture). Values are means  $\pm$  SDs (n = 9). The significant differences with p < 0.05 are marked by the following symbols: \* – differences between sites in the same season, small letters – differences between seasons within one site, and capital letters – differences between genotypes on the same site and season.

(EurX, Poland). The presence of ITS sequences was confirmed on a 1% agarose gel (1X TBE buffer) with the addition of Simply Safe dye (EurX, Poland). Samples were sent for sequencing to the Institute of Biochemistry and Biophysics PAS<sup>2</sup>. Contigs were assembled using Sequencher 5.4.6 software and compared with the NCBI database using BLASTn3 to find sequences that showed the highest similarity to the assembled contigs. The DNA sequence generated for this study were deposited in the NCBI GenBank under the following accession numbers: MW342736-MW342757 (as shown in Supplementary Table 3). The phylogenetic tree was constructed using the NI method in MEGA 7, and 1,000 bootstrap replicates were used to assess branching support (Tamura et al., 2013; Kumar et al., 2016). The p-distance method was calculated (Saitou and Nei, 1987). The phylogenetic tree was visualized using Interactive Tree of Life (iTOL) v3 (Letunic and Bork, 2016).

#### Metagenomic Analysis

Total DNA was extracted from 50 mg of lyophilized willow roots and rhizosphere soil samples using Plant and Fungi DNA Purification Kit (EURx, Poland) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Three biological replicates were prepared for each plot. The amount of isolated DNA was quantified fluorometrically (InvitrogeneQubit 2.0, United States) and the quality was assessed spectrophotometrically (Thermo Scientific NanoDrop 2000, United States) and the preparations were diluted to 1 ng/µl.

Fungal ITS amplicon libraries were generated in two-step PCR, as described by Thiem et al. (2018) using fungal primers (uITS1 and uITS2) then with M13 and M13R primers with P5/P7 adapters and barcodes (different MID sequences for each sample). Libraries were purified twice with Agencourt AMPure XP (Beckman Coulter) according to the manufacturer's protocol. The quality of the pooled libraries was assessed on a Bioanalyzer

<sup>2</sup>http://oligo.ibb.waw.pl/ 3 www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/BLAST

Frontiers in Plant Science | www.frontiersin.org

5

chip (Agilent) and they were quantified with KAPA Library Ouantification Kit for Illumina Platform using LightCycler 480 (Roche) according to the manufacturers' protocols. The final pool was diluted to 4 nM, denaturated, mixed with 5% of PhiX control library and sequenced with the use of 2  $\times$  300 cycles kit v.3 on a MiSeq machine (Illumina).

The resulting read pairs were denoised with dada2 (Callahan al., 2016) and the fungal sequences were processed with ITSx (Bengtsson-Palme et al., 2013), and all fungal ITS1 sequences were used in the downstream analyzes. The reads were dereplicated and OTUs were constructed using vsearch (Rognes et al., 2016) at 0.03 dissimilarity level, then singletons as well as doubletons (OTUs consisting of one or two sequences only) were removed. The sequences were classified with naive Bayesian classifier (minimum 80% bootstrap support was required; Wang et al., 2003) using ITS1 extracted from UNITE v.7 (fungi), and the non-fungal sequences were removed. The final data were subsampled to 300 (fungi) sequences per sample 20 times, sequences names were mangled to reflect the iteration, the sets were pooled, de-replicated, and OTUs were constructed as described earlier. OTU tables were then averaged over the 20 subsamples and the entries were rounded to the nearest integer with a Perl script to yield the final tables.

### **Data Analysis**

Statistical analysis for screening of PSFs was performed using the Statistica software package (version 13.0, StatSoft) based on three replicates for each sample variant. For total density of culturable strains (Figure 2) and PSF screening (Figure 3) nine replicates (three samples from each of three plots) for each genotype present on site were used. Normality was tested using Shapiro-Wilk test and homogeneity of variance using Levene's test. Samples that were outside of two standard deviations range from mean were removed. The one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to determine whether there are any statistically significant differences between the means of total fungi count for each genotype on PDA and selective media and PSF count for



genotypes for each experimental site. Upper case letters represent significant differences for PSF count for genotypes for each experimental site (**Figures 2, 3**).

For metagenomic data analysis, Bray–Curtis distance matrices based on Wisconsin double-standardized OTU tables were calculated with vegdist in R. Non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) and canonical correspondence analysis (CCA) analyzes were performed within R with vegan's metaMDS and cca functions. In case of CCA, forward selection procedure implemented in ordistep was used for stepwise model building. Significance of differences between sample clusters was assessed with ANOSIM and PERMANOVA in vegan's anosim and adonis functions, respectively. P-values < 0.05 was considered significant. Variance partitioning was performed with the varpart function. Significance of differences in means (number of observed OTUs, Shannon's H', Shannon's E, taxa, and functional groups distribution) was assessed with ANOVA with post hoc Tukey's HSD analysis, unless assumptions of normality of data and/or homogeneity of variance were violated, in which case robust ANOVA implemented in raov of the Rfit package was used to check for general p-value. All figures were plotted with standard R graphic functions.

### RESULTS

# Soil Properties and Climatic Conditions at the Two Experimental Sites

As shown in **Table 1**, in Uppsala the rhizosphere soil parameters TOC, TN, C:N was higher while  $P_{av}$ , pH(H<sub>2</sub>O), pH(KCl) was lower. ANOVA analysis revealed that the soil properties differed significantly between the experimental sites (**Table 1**). Soil samples from Sweden had higher contents of TOC, TN, and  $P_{av}$ , while soil samples from Germany were characterized by higher C:N ratios and pH values. Soil parameters at both experimental sites differed slightly in spring. Significant differences between genotypes were observed for the TOC (T and LT in Germany), pH (all plots in Sweden) and  $P_{av}$  content, which were higher in fall (L and LT plots in Sweden and L plots in Germany; **Table 1**).

# Identification of Dominant PSFs and Total Fungal Density in Willow Genotypes and Mixtures

The overall density of cultivable fungi ranged from 3.38 to 4.94 log10 [measured as colony-forming units: c.f.u. (g d.w. roots)<sup>-1</sup>]

Frontiers in Plant Science | www.frontiersin.org

#### 6



for endophytes from both experimental sites. In the rhizosphere soil, the total fungal count ranged from 4.71 to 7.72 log10 [c.f.u. (g d.w. soil)<sup>-1</sup>]. Significant differences among the analyzed willow genotypes were observed for endophytic fungal density (**Figure 2**), but this was not observed for rhizosphere fungi. The endophytic fungal density was lower than that of rhizosphere fungi. The difference in fungal density between the endophytes and rhizosphere soil was significantly greater in Swedish samples than German ones. Generally, the highest fungal density was recorded in LT samples from Sweden and T samples from Germany.

The medium supplemented with triphosphate (PVK) showed nofungal growth, and therefore, it was excluded from the analysis. The total number of culturable endophytic fungi ranged from 0.80 to 4.57 log10 c.f.u g<sup>-1</sup>, among which PSF ranged from 0.12 to 1.86 log10 c.f.u g<sup>-1</sup> but showed no significant differences with the exception of Loden (only in Sweden). The endophytic fungal density was lower than that of rhizosphere fungi, ranging from 3.38 to 4.94 log10 c.f.u g<sup>-1</sup>, whereas rhizosphere fungi ranged from 4.75 to 7.72 log10 c.f.u g<sup>-1</sup>. The LT genotype showed the highest non-PSF density at both experimental sites (Figure 3). The endophytic fungal density was lowest for the Tora genotype at both experimental sites. The phosphate solubilizing ability of fungi from the Swedish site (found mostly in rhizosphere soil) was higher than that in fungi from the German site.

In total, 22 fungal strains were isolated from roots (10 strains) and rhizosphere soil (12 strains; Figure 4). Clonostachys and Penicillium were the dominant genera at the German site (30% for each), while at the Swedish site, Penicillium alone was the dominant genus (70%; Figure 4). Most of the strains found at the German site were isolated from the rhizosphere soil of T, in contrast to the Swedish site, where the majority was endophytic isolates from the L genotype. Penicillium was the only fungal genus occurring at both sites. The German site showed higher diversity in the rhizosphere, with five different fungal genera (Penicillium, Clonostachys, Alternaria, Gibellulopsis, and Cladosporium). For the Swedish site, the highest diversity was obtained for endophytes of the L genotype with three different species (Penicillium, Talaromyces, and Juxtiphoma). In total, 54% of the identified strains were isolated from T, 31% from L, and 13% from LT samples.

Frontiers in Plant Science | www.frontiersin.org

7



8

The endophytes comprised 54% of the total number of identified fungi.

# Experimental Site and Level of Plant Association Shaped the Community Structure in Willow SRCs

The alpha diversity of the fungal community was not influenced by genotype but by site or the level of fungi association with the plant (rhizosphere vs. endosphere; **Figure 5**). Diversity (H'), species richness (observed OTU number) and evenness (E) were higher in the rhizosphere than in the endosphere. Endophytic communities at the German site were more diverse and even harbored more OTUs than those at the Swedish site; however, there were no differences between seasons. At the Swedish site, alpha diversity was higher in spring than in fall. There were no differences between variants in rhizospheric communities.

The alpha diversity analysis did not show significant differences between genotypes. Overall, Shannon's diversity (H'), Shannon's evenness, and observed OTUs revealed significant

Frontiers in Plant Science | www.frontiersin.org

differences between the endophytes and rhizosphere fungal diversity regardless of the experimental site and seasons. The endophytic diversity at the two experimental sites in Germany and Sweden was significantly different from that of the rhizosphere fungi. A significant effect of seasonality was observed only for endophytes from Sweden (**Figure 5**). The number of observed OTUs for rhizosphere fungal diversity showed a greater tendency than that of the endophytes, and this difference was prominent between the experimental sites in Germany and Sweden during the fall.

The NMDS analysis revealed that the fungal communities clustered according to the experimental sites, but this was not observed for seasons and genotypes (**Figure 6**). The grouping was significant for roots (PERMANOVA, F = 0.5050, df = 1, and P = 0.0001) and for soil (PERMANOVA, F = 0.1830, df = 1, and P = 0.0001). The differences in variance were not significant for roots (PERMDISP, P = 0.579) or soil (PERMDISP, P = 0.2911). The distance between the fungal communities in the two experimental sites was significantly larger for the rhizosphere soil than for roots.



The CCA showed that the fungal communities were significantly different between the two experimental sites only (**Figures 6B,D**). In the rhizosphere soil, total organic C and total N were the two environmental variables shaping fungal diversity at the Swedish experimental site (**Figure 6**). TN explained 7.5% of variance whereas TOC explained 2.4%. In contrast, the fungal communities in the roots of the German experimental site were mostly influenced by pH(H<sub>2</sub>O), whereas at the Swedish experimental site, the most influential factor was TN (**Figure 6**). TN explained 2.5% of the variance, while pH(H<sub>2</sub>O) explained 1.5%.

In conjunction with the culturable fungal diversity, the fungal libraries from the rhizosphere soil and endophytic community showed significant dominance of the phylum Ascomycota, followed by Basidiomycota and Mortierellomycota (**Supplementary Figure 2**).

At the class level, the fungal community was dominated by *Dothideomycetes* and *Leotiomycetes*, with significant differences seen for both endophytes and rhizosphere soil fungi. The above two classes were significantly different based on both the experimental sites and seasons as well (Figure 7). *Agaricomycetes* and *Pezizomycetes* showed high abundance and were exclusive to endophytes only. All classes except *Agaricomycetes* displayed significant differences between the two seasons. The rhizosphere soil fungal community was dominated by *Tremellomycetes* and *Mortierellomycetes*; the former showed significance among the two sites and seasons, while the latter showed only seasonal

effects. Dothideomycetes was the only class exhibiting differences among genotypes.

At the family level, *Piskurozymaceae* showed greater fungal diversity among the rhizospheric fungi than the endophytes (**Figure 7**). *Helotiaceae* and *Phaeosphaeriaceae* were dominant and significantly represented in the Swedish site. *Tuberaceae* and *Herpotrichiellaceae* reads were found mostly in German samples, but the former did not show seasonal changes. Among the fungal endophytic communities, the effect of season was not observed for *Tuberaceae* and *Thelephoraceae*. In the rhizosphere fungal community, both sites were dominated by *Piskurozymaceae* and *Mortierellaceae*, mainly at the Swedish site. At the German site, the family *Plectosphaerellaceae* displayed a significant seasonal effect.

The endophytes *Paraphoma* and *Exophiala* were the most frequently occurring genera in both the experimental sites and seasons. The genus *Exophiala* was present in greater numbers at the German site than at the Swedish site; in contrast, the *Tetracladium* genus was present mostly at the Swedish site. On the other hand, the rhizosphere fungal libraries were dominated by reads of the genera *Solicoccozyma* and *Mortierella* mainly at the Swedish site. The rhizospheric fungi were significantly different in the two seasons and were more prominent at the Swedish site than at the German site.

At the species level, the endophytic fungal community consisted mostly of *Tetracladium* sp., *Paraphoma rhaphiolepidis* and *Exophiala salmonis*, whereas most of the identified fungi

July 2021 | Volume 12 | Article 647709

Frontiers in Plant Science | www.frontiersin.org

9





10

from the rhizosphere soil belonged to *Salicoccozyma terrea* (with the highest occurrence at the Swedish site). Based on the experimental sites, the rhizosphere fungi at the German site showed significantly more fungal reads belonging to *E. salmonis*. *E. salmonis* was the only species to show significant differences between the endophytic and rhizospheric communities at the German site.

# DISCUSSION

This study is first in describing the PSF in woody SRC and comparing the fungal diversity and community structure between sites, seasons, and genotypes. The beta diversity revealed that experimental site drives the fungal community structure. Abundance as well as alpha and beta-diversity of fungal community were mainly driven by TOC, TN, and pH. We found *Penicillium* to be the dominant genus of PSF in the group of

Frontiers in Plant Science | www.frontiersin.org

isolated fungal strains, while this genus was not detected in the metagenomic analysis. This may be due to the presence of other abundant fungal genera that may mask its presence. The level of plant association (endophytic or rhizosphere fungi) was the main factor driving fungal diversity and community structure (number of observed OTUs was greater for rhizosphere fungi than endophytic fungi). Differences for seasons and genotypes were present but were not particularly prominent.

# Physico-Chemical Soil Properties and Climate Distinct at the Two Experimental Sites

To date, only a few studies have characterized the fungi associated with woody crops from different geographic locations, e.g., *S. alba* in India (Chatli et al., 2008), *Salix viminalis* in the United Kingdom (Barnes et al., 2018), *S. viminalis* and  $S. \times dasyclados$  in Germany (Baum et al., 2006), and *S. viminalis* 





and S. schwerinii in Sweden (Hrynkiewicz and Baum, 2012). The soils in the investigated sites can be described as fertile and biologically active, with optimal properties for willow cultivation (Guidi et al., 2013). Soils at the Swedish site contained a higher content of TOC, TN, and Pav than soils at the German site, which likely resulted from primary soil properties related to their different pedogenesis (Vertic and Stagnic Cambisols) such as texture and nutrient abundance. However, the studied soils were moderately to slightly acidic, which undoubtedly favors the bioavailability of P (Yue et al., 2000; Richardson et al., 2009; Yadav et al., 2012). TN is frequently found to be a critical factor for fungal diversity (Allison et al., 2007; Lauber et al., 2008; Zhou et al., 2016). The available P in soil may influence fungal communities in the rhizosphere to some extent (He et al., 2016; Rosenstock et al., 2016; Williams et al., 2017). In our case, the Swedish site had significantly higher Pav, but we observed no significant influence of this variable. This confirms N-limited rather than P-limited conditions, as is common at most arable sites (Williams et al., 2017).

A statistically significant short-term seasonal increase in TOC was recorded at the experimental site in Germany, but a similar trend was also observed at the experimental site in Sweden. This can be attributed to the leaf and root litter inputs in combination with no-till management. However, research by Hoeber et al. (2020) showed that climatic factors may significantly determine the rate of decomposition of leaf litter. These authors found that

Frontiers in Plant Science | www.frontiersin.org

source of soil organic matter (Kahle et al., 2007). A slight decrease in  $P_{av}$  concentrations in spring suggested nutrient depletion. No effects of nutrient depletion on the yields were observed in Sweden. These results were supported by the findings of (Kahle et al., 2007).

the decomposition rates in Germany were 43% faster than those

in Sweden. The fine roots of willows can also be an important

# Dominating PSF Identity and Total Fungal Density in Willows

Among the culturable diversities, the number of PSF was much higher in the rhizosphere fungi than in the endophytic fungi. This supports our hypothesis that lower number of endophytic fungi may possess ability to solubilize P than rhizosphere fungi. We found *Penicillium* to be the dominant genus of PSF isolates from the SRCs; other, less frequent isolates were of the genera *Alternaria, Cladosporium,* and *Clonostachys.* Similarly, Chatli et al. (2008) reported members of *Penicillium* to be among the dominant strains isolated from woody crop species. These strains were also abundant in the rhizosphere of *Salix* spp. in Lithuania (Repečkienė et al., 2009). The genus *Clonostachys* (isolated from the rhizosphere and endosphere) was specific to the German site, whereas *Juxtiphoma, Talaromyces,* and *Beauveria* were specific to the Swedish site. Apart from PSFs, we isolated non-PSF that were able to grow on selective media (NBRIP, PVK DCP). These

11

fungi probably require low P concentrations to support growth. At the Swedish site, the fungal density in the three genotypes was found to range as follows: LT > Loden > Tora, in contrast to the German site, where it ranged as follows: Loden > LT > Tora. This effect might be based on the varying site-specific environmental conditions and their interactions with the genotypes.

Penicillium is commonly found as a PSF taxon (Chatli et al., 2008; Patil et al., 2012; Sharma et al., 2012). Penicillium bilaiae is even sold by NovoZymes as a bioinoculant enabling soil P mobilization. Levels of plant growth-promoting effects by Penicillium species were associated with increased uptake of P into shoots (Qiao et al., 2019). Although P solubilization ability is common in the genus Penicillium, various species and strains differ in their capacity to mobilize P due to differences in the secretion of organic acids, phosphatases, and phytase or in the operation of other P solubilizing mechanisms. The genus Clonostachys (isolated both from the endosphere and rhizosphere) was previously reported as an endophyte in Salix species growing in SRCs (Hosseini-Nasabnia et al., 2016). Clonostachys rosea is reported to be a mycoparasite in Theobroma gileri and as a biocontrol agent against Phytophthora palmivora and Moniliophthora roreri (ten Hoopen et al., 2003). To date, reports on the P solubilizing abilities of Alternaria and Cladosporium are scarce. There is not much information about PSF isolates from other woody plants. Schmidt et al. (2018) investigated endophytic community of poplar, species that is also commonly grown as SRCs but did not found any PSFs. Mishra et al. (2014) reported presence of several phosphorus solubilizing fungi in banana tree including Fusarium sp., Trichoderma sp. and present in this study Penicillium sp. In forest environment Aspergillus sp., Cladosporium sp., Curvularia sp. and several Penicillium species are frequently reported to possess high potential in P solubilization (Manoharachary and Nagaraju, 2017). There is several studies that use Penicillium species as bioinoculants that improve P availability for various plants (Omar, 1997; Ram et al., 2015; Yin et al., 2015; Li et al., 2016).

# Multiple Factors Influencing Alpha Diversity and Fungal Community Structure in Willow SRCs

The rhizosphere fungal community was more diverse in culture independent (metabarcoding) analyses, suggesting strong selective pressure in the interior of willow roots. Similar observations are common both for bacterial (e.g., Kielak et al., 2008; Bulgarelli et al., 2012) and fungal (e.g., Hrynkiewicz et al., 2012; Yergeau et al., 2015; Thiem et al., 2018; Furtado et al., 2019) communities associated with various plants. The reason for this phenomenon could be that roots may act as a filter or selection barrier for fungal species present in the rhizosphere soil, which can result in a lower number of endophytes (Garbeva et al., 2004; Lauber et al., 2008). This might be especially valid for woody roots such as those of *Salix* spp.

The classes Agaricomycetes and Pezizomycetes were more frequent in the endosphere, while Tremellomycetes and Mortierellomycetes were more abundant in the rhizosphere.

Frontiers in Plant Science | www.frontiersin.org

These facts could be explained by the former two classes comprising mostly ectomycorrhizal fungi (Li et al., 2018), whereas the latter contains mostly saprophytic organisms (Francioli et al., 2020). Yergeau et al. (2015) reported the dominance of the class *Dothideomycetes* in willows, and the same was observed in our study. Members of this class are mainly endophytes and epiphytes and can be lichenized or lichenicolous fungi (Schoch et al., 2009). Moreover, *Dothideomycetes* was the only fungal class whose abundance differed between genotypes. *Agaricomycetes* was the only class whose abundance differences within variants (i.e., high standard deviation). Similarly, reports by Shakya et al. (2013) from poplar showed no seasonal effect for rhizosphere fungi at any of their investigated sites.

At species level fungal community was mostly build from six species. For endophytes Tetracladium sp., P. rhaphiolepidis and E. salmonis were the most frequent. All three species are known grass endophytes while E. salmonis was additionally reported as an animal pathogen (Maciá-Vicente et al., 2016; Ricks and Koide, 2019; Gomzhina et al., 2020). Besides being pathogenic in animals it was previously isolated from the roots of poplar, which is another commonly grown tree species in SRCs (Maciá-Vicente et al., 2016). Most of the fungal reads from the rhizosphere soil belonged to S. terrea, but no information is available on this fungal species. The other Solicoccozyma species found in this study, S. terricola is a well known psychrotolerant yeast used in lipid production (Filippucci et al., 2016; Stosiek et al., 2019; Tasselli et al., 2019). Lastly, Mortierella camargensis isolated from grassland soils showed ability to produce arachidonic acid and lipase activity (Botha et al., 1999; Miklós et al., 2012).

The absence of the PSFs cultured from our samples in amplicon libraries is probably due to technical reasons. First, universal primers used to generate libraries might be biased against particular sequence variants (SVs), which together with SV scarcity in samples might result in excluding them from libraries.

Unconstrained ordination revealed that the level of community association with plants (rhizosphere vs. endosphere) and experimental sites were the two most important factors grouping the samples. This is expected, as (i) the difference between rhizosphere and endophytic communities is frequently observed (Thiem et al., 2018) and (ii) the sites differed in both climatic and soil conditions. Indeed, soil environmental parameters (TOC, TN, and pH) significantly influenced the fungal community structure. A significant influence of pH was unexpected, as it is usually not a limiting factor for fungi. Out of four factors we hypothesized would influence fungal communities in willow, level of community association with the plant, experimental site location and season turned out to exert a significant impact on fungi, while the effect of tree genotype was not as prominent. This fact can be explained by (i) the spatial distribution of fungal mycelium in soil, i.e., mycelium is able to freely grow out of particular field boundaries, effectively canceling actual differences, and (ii) genetic differences between analyzed genotypes may cause little effect on the soil fungal microbiome.

July 2021 | Volume 12 | Article 647709

12

# CONCLUSION

The level of fungal community association with the plant (rhizosphere vs. root endophytes) is the most important factor shaping its diversity. The site, season, and planting design have a lower impact. The fungal diversity at the same level of plant association was mainly driven by soil properties such as TN, TOC, and pH. Among the culturable fungal diversities, Penicillium was dominant and commonly isolated genus as a P solubilizing taxon from both SRCs, while others less frequently isolated were the genera Alternaria, Cladosporium, and Clonostachys. Apart from PSFs, we isolated non-PSF that may require less P to support their growth. In general, a lower number of endophytic fungal strains possessed the ability to solubilize P compared to the number of rhizosphere fungal strains with this ability. The rhizosphere fungal community was generally more diverse than that in the endosphere at both willow SRC sites. This might suggest selective pressure on willow roots and emphasize the uniqueness of the fungal community. Fungal libraries of rhizosphere soil and endophytic communities showed significant dominance of the phyla Ascomycota followed by Basidiomycota and Mortierellomycota. The genus Exophiala was present in greater numbers at the German site, while the genus Tetracladium was present mostly at the Swedish site.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found below: https://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/bioproject, PRJNA716888; https://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/genbank/, MW342736–MW342757.

# AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PK participated in all analyses and wrote the first version of the manuscript. BF participated in preparation of manuscript. MG designed the bioinformatics pipeline, performed bioinformatics analyses, and participated in the preparation of the manuscript. PK and BF analyzed the results and the statistical output. PK, CB, and MW performed sampling at the locations, selected plant genotypes for the experiments, and participated in the preparation of the manuscript. PH did soil analyzes and participated in the field and lab experiments and participated in the preparation of

# REFERENCES

- Allison, S. D., Hanson, C. A., and Treseder, K. K. (2007). Nitrogen fertilization reduces diversity and alters community structure of active fungi in boreal ecosystems. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 39, 1878–1887. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2007. 02.001
- Alori, E. T., Glick, B. R., and Babalola, O. O. (2017). Microbial phosphorus solubilization and its potential for use in sustainable agriculture. *Front. Microbiol*, 8:971. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.00971

Frontiers in Plant Science | www.frontiersin.org

the manuscript. All authors revised the manuscript and approve of its publication.

# FUNDING

The establishment and management of the Swedish field trial was funded by grants from the Swedish Energy Agency (projects nos. 36654-1 and 36654-2). Parts of the research in the Swedish trial were also funded by The Swedish Research Council Formas (project no. 942-2016-31). All microbiological and molecular analysis as well as manuscript editing were funded from the project: Universitas Copernicana Thoruniensis In Futuro – modernization of the Nicolaus Copernicus University as part of the Integrated University Program (project no. POWR.03.05.00-00-Z302/17-00) implemented under the Knowledge Education Development Operational Program.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to take this opportunity to thank Dominika Thiem from Department of Microbiology, Nicolaus Copernicus University in Torun for her help in standardization and sample preparation for Illumina sequencing.

#### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpls.2021. 647709/full#supplementary-material

Supplementary Figure 1 | Average temperatures and average rainfalls in Rostock (Germany) and Uppsala (Sweden) in 2018 and 2019.

Supplementary Figure 2 | Fungal community structure at the phylum level among rhizosphere soil and root samples, two experimental sites, and two seasons.

Supplementary Table 1 | Meteorological data from two experimental sites in Sweden (SE) and Germany (GER). The maximal monthly temperature (max temp), minimal monthly temperature (min temp), average monthly temperature (avg temp), precipitation (rain), and monthly sunshine hours (sun) in 2018–2019. Data source: https://www.worldweatheronline.com.

Supplementary Table 2 | Selective media (NBRIP, PVK, and DCP) used for the selection of phosphate solubilizing fungi.

Supplementary Table 3 | Identified fungi with accession numbers. S – Sweden, G – Germany, L – Loden, T – Tora, LT – mixture, E – endophyte, and R – rhizosphere fungi.

Barnes, C. J., van der Gast, C. J., McNamara, N. P., Rowe, R., and Bending, G. D. (2018). Extreme rainfall affects assembly of the root-associated fungal community. *New Phytol* 220, 1172–1184. doi: 10.1111/nph.14900

community. New Phytol. 220, 1172–1184. doi: 10.1111/nph.14990
Baum, C., Hrynkiewicz, K., Leinweber, P., and Meißner, R. (2006). Heavy-metal mobilization and uptake by mycorrhizal and nonmycorrhizal willows (Salix x dasyclados). J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 169, 516–522. doi: 10.1002/jpln.200521925

Baum, C., Leinweber, P., Weih, M., Lamersdorf, N., and Dimitriou, I. (2009). Effects of short rotation coppice with willows and poplar on soil ecology. *Agric. For. Res.* 3, 183–196.

13

- Bengtsson-Palme, J., Ryberg, M., Hartmann, M., Branco, S., Wang, Z., Godhe, A., et al. (2013). Improved software detection and extraction of ITS1 and ITS2 from ribosomal ITS sequences of fungi and other eukaryotes for analysis of environmental sequencing data. *Methods Ecol. Evol.* 4:919. doi: 10.1111/2041-210X.12073
- Botha, A., Paul, I., Roux, C., Kock, J. L., Coetzee, D. J., Strauss, T., et al. (1999). An isolation procedure for arachidonic acid producing *Mortierella* species. *Antonie Leeuwenhoek* 75, 253–256. doi: 10.1023/A:1001848709005
- Bulgarelli, D., Rott, M., Schlaeppi, K., van Themaat, E. V. L., Ahmadinejad, N., Assenza, F., et al. (2012). Revealing structure and assembly cues for *Arabidopsis* root-inhabiting bacterial microbiota. *Nature* 488, 91–95. doi: 10. 1038/nature11336
- Callahan, B. J., McMurdie, P. J., Rosen, M. J., Han, A. W., Johnson, A. J. A., and Holmes, S. P. (2016). DADA2: high-resolution sample inference from Illumina amplicon data. *Nat. Methods* 13, 581–583. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.3869
- Chatli, A. S., Beri, V., and Sidhu, B. S. (2008). Isolation and characterisation of phosphate solubilising microorganisms from the cold desert habitat of *Salix alba* Linn. in trans Himalayan region of Himachal Pradesh. *Indian J. Microbiol.* 48, 267–273. doi: 10.1007/s12088-008-0037-y
- Dimitriou, I., and Aronsson, P. (2011). Wastewater and sewage sludge application to willows and poplars grown in lysimeters-plant response and treatment efficiency. *Biomass Bioenergy* 35, 161–170. doi: 10.1016/j.biombioe.2010. 08.019
- Filippelli, G. M. (2008). The global phosphorus cycle: past, present, and future. *Elements* 4, 89–95. doi: 10.2113/GSELEMENTS.4.2.89
- Filippucci, S., Tasselli, G., Scardua, A., Di Mauro, S., Cramarossa, M. R., Perini, D., et al. (2016). Study of Holtermanniella wattica, Leucosporidium creatinivorum, Naganishia adeliensis, Solicoccozyma aeria, and Solicoccozyma terricola for their lipogenic aptitude from different carbon sources. Biotechnol. Biofuels 9, 1–14. doi: 10.1186/s13068-016-0672-1
- Francioli, D., van Rijssel, S. Q., van Ruijven, J., Termorshuizen, A. J., Cotton, T. A., Dumbrell, A. J., et al. (2020). Plant functional group drives the community structure of saprophytic fungi in a grassland biodiversity experiment. *Plant and Soil* 461, 91–105. doi: 10.1007/s11104-020-04454-y
- Furtado, B. U., Golębiewski, M., Skorupa, M., Huliz, P., and Hrynkiewicz, K. (2019). Bacterial and fungal endophytic microbiomes of Salicornia europaea. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 85:e0305-19. doi: 10.1128/AEM.00305-19
- Garbeva, P., van Veen, J. A., and van Elsas, J. D. (2004). Microbial diversity in soil: selection of microbial populations by plant and soil type and implications for disease suppressiveness. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.* 42, 243–270. doi: 10.1146/ annurev.phyto.42.012604.135455
- Gomzhina, M. M., Gasich, E. L., Khlopunova, I., B., and Gannibal, P. B. (2020). Paraphoma species associated with *Convolvulaceae*. *Mycologic*. Prog. 19, 185– 194. doi: 10.1007/s11557-020-01558-8
- Guidi, W., Pitre, F. E., and Labrecque, M. (2013). "Short-rotation coppice of willows for the production of biomass in eastern Canada," in *Biomass now-Sustainable Growth and Use*, ed. M. D. Matovic (London: IntechOpen), 421– 448. doi: 10.5772/51111
- He, D., Xiang, X., He, J. S., Wang, C., Cao, G., Adams, J., et al. (2016). Composition of the soil fungal community is more sensitive to phosphorus than nitrogen addition in the alpine meadow on the Qinghai-Tibetan Plateau. *Biol. Fertil. Soils* 52, 1059–1072. doi: 10.1007/s00374-016-1142-4
- Hoeber, S., Arranz, C., Nordh, N. E., Baum, C., Low, M., Nock, C., et al. (2018). Genotype identity has a more important influence than genotype diversity on shoot biomass productivity in willow short-rotation coppices. *GCB Bioenergy* 10, 534–547. doi: 10.1111/gcbb.12521
- Hoeber, S., Fransson, P., Prieto-Ruiz, I., Manzoni, S., and Weih, M. (2017). Two Salix genotypes differ in productivity and nitrogen economy when grown in monoculture and mixture. *Front. Plant Sci.* 8:231. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2017. 00231
- Hoeber, S., Fransson, P., Weih, M., and Manzoni, S. (2020). Leaf litter quality coupled to Salix variety drives litter decomposition more than stand diversity or climate. *Plant Soil* 453, 313–328. doi: 10.1007/s11104-020-0 4606-0
- Hosseini-Nasabnia, Z., Van Rees, K., and Vujanovic, V. (2016). Preventing unwanted spread of invasive fungal species in willow (Salix spp.) plantations. Can. J. Plant Pathol. 38, 325–337. doi: 10.1080/07060661.2016.1228697

14

Frontiers in Plant Science | www.frontiersin.org

- Hrynkiewicz, K., and Baum, C. (2012). "The potential of rhizosphere microorganisms to promote the plant growth in disturbed soils," in *Environmental Protection Strategies for Sustainable Development*, eds A. Malik and E. Grohmann (Dordrecht: Springer), 35-64. doi: 10.1007/978-94-007-1591-2\_2
- Hrynkiewicz, K., Toljander, Y. K., Baum, C., Fransson, P. M., Taylor, A. F., and Weih, M. (2012). Correspondence of ectomycorrhizal diversity and colonisation of willows (*Salix* spp.) grown in short rotation coppice on arable sites and adjacent natural stands. *Mycorrhiza* 22, 603–613. doi: 10.1007/s00572-012-0437-z
- IUSS Working Group WRB (2015). World Reference Base for Soil Resources 2014. International Soil Classification System for Naming Soils and Creatinglegends for Soil Mass: Update 2015. World Soil Resources Reports 106. Rome: FAO.
- Kahle, P., Hildebrand, E., Baum, C., and Boelcke, B. (2007). Long-term effects of short rotation forestry with willows and poplar on soil properties. *Archiv. Agron. Soil Sci.* 53, 673–682. doi: 10.1080/03650340701648484
- Khan, M. R., and Khan, S. M. (2002). Effects of root-dip treatment with certain phosphate solubilizing microorganisms on the fusarial wilt of tomato. *Bioresour. Technol.* 85, 213–215. doi: 10.1016/S0960-8524(02)00077-9
- Khan, M. S., Zaidi, A., Ahemad, M., Oves, M., and Wani, P. A. (2010). Plant growth promotion by phosphate solubilizing fungi-current perspective. *Archiv. Agron. Soil Sci.* 56, 73–98. doi: 10.1080/03650340902806469
- Kielak, A., Pijl, A. S., Van Veen, J. A., and Kowalchuk, G. A. (2008). Differences in vegetation composition and plant species identity lead to only minor changes in soil-borne microbial communities in a former arable field. *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.* 63, 372–382. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6941.2007.00428.x
- Kottek, M., Grieser, J., Beck, C., Rudolf, B., and Rubel, F. (2006). World Map of the Köppen-Geiger climate classification updated. *Meteorol. Zeitschrift* 15, 259–263. doi: 10.1127/0941-2948/2006/0130
- Kumar, S., Stecher, G., and Tamura, K. (2016). MEGA7: molecular evolutionary genetics analysis version 7.0 for bigger datasets. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 33, 1870–1874. doi: 10.1093/molbev/mst197
- Lauber, C. L., Strickland, M. S., Bradford, M. A., and Fierer, N. (2008). The influence of soil properties on the structure of bacterial and fungal communities across land-use types. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 40, 2407–2415. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio. 2008.05.021
- Letunic, I., and Bork, P. (2016). Interactive tree of life (iTOL) v3: an online tool for the display and annotation of phylogenetic and other trees. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 44, W242–W245. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkw290
- Li, X., Wang, J., Zhang, S., Wang, H., Li, X., Li, X., et al. (2018). Distribution of fungal endophytes in roots of *Stipa krylovii* across six vegetation types in grassland of northerm China. *Fungal Ecol.* 31, 47–53. doi: 10.1016/j.funeco.2017. 11.001
- Li, Z., Bai, T., Dai, L., Wang, F., Tao, J., Meng, S., et al. (2016). A study of organic acid production in contrasts between two phosphate solubilizing fungi: *Penicillium oxalicum* and *Aspergillus niger. Sci. Rep.* 6, 1–8. doi: 10.1038/ srep25313
- Maciá-Vicente, J. G., Glynou, K., and Piepenbring, M. (2016). A new species of Exaphiala associated with roots. *Mycologic. Prog.* 15:18. doi: 10.1007/s11557-016-1161-4
- Manoharachary, C., and Nagaraju, D. (2017). Role of phosphate solubilizing fungi and microbes for sustainable agriculture and agro forestry. *Kavaka* 48, 33–40.
- Manter, D. K., and Vivanco, J. M. (2007). Use of the ITS primers, ITSIF and ITS4, to characterize fungal abundance and diversity in mixedtemplate samples by qPCR and length heterogeneity analysis. J. Microbiol. Methods 71,7–14. doi: 10.1016/j.mimet.2007.06.016 doi: 10.1016/j.mimet.2007. 06.016
- Martin, K., and Rygiewicz, P. (2005). Fugal-specific primers developed for analysis of the ITS region of environmental DNA extracts. *BMC Microbiol.* 5:28. doi: 10.1186/1471-2180-5-28
- Miklós, T., Kotogán, A., Németh, B., Radulov, I., Niţă, L. D., Tărău, D. D. D., et al. (2012). Extracellular lipase production of zygomycetes fungi isolated from soil. *Rev. Agric. Rural Dev.* 1, 62–66.
- Mishra, V. K., Passari, A. K., Kumar, K. S., and Singh, B. P. (2014). Molecular characterization of phosphate solubilizing fungi associated with rhizospheric soils of banana. *Sci. Technol. J.* 2, 57–66.

- Navarro, A., Stellacci, A. M., Campi, P., Vitti, C., Modugno, F., and Mastrorilli, M. (2016). Feasibility of SRC species for growing in mediterranean conditions. *Bioenerg. Res.* 9, 208–223. doi: 10.1007/s12155-015-9677-z
- Nautiyal, C. S. (1999). An efficient microbiological growth medium for screening phosphate solubilizing microorganisms. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 170, 265–270. doi: 10.1016/S0378-1097(98)00555-2
- Omar, S. A. (1997). The role of rock-phosphate-solubilizing fungi and vesiculararbusular-mycorrhiza (VAM) in growth of wheat plants fertilized with rock phosphate. World J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 14, 211–218. doi: 10.1023/A: 1008830129262
- Patil, P. M., Kuligod, V. B., Hebsur, N. S., Patil, C. R., and Kulkarni, G. N. (2012). Effect of phosphate solubilizing fungi and phosphorus levels on growth, yield and nutrient content in maize (*Zea mays*). *Karnat. J. Agric. Sci.* 25, 58–62.
- Pikovskaya, R. I. (1948). Mobilization of phosphorus in soil in connection with vital activity of some microbial species. *Mikrobiologiya* 17, 362-370.
- Qiao, H., Sun, X. R., Wu, X. Q., Li, G. E., Wang, Z., and Li, D. W. (2019). The phosphate-solubilizing ability of *Penicillium guanacastense* and its effects on the growth of *Pinus massoniana* in phosphate-limiting conditions. *Biol. Open* 8:bio046797. doi: 10.1242/bio.046797
- Ram, H., Malik, S. S., Dhaliwal, S. S., Kumar, B., and Singh, Y. (2015). Growth and productivity of wheat affected by phosphorus-solubilizing fungi and phosphorus levels. *Plant Soil Environ.* 61, 122–126. doi: 10.17221/982/2014-PSE
- Rennenberg, H., and Herschbach, C. (2013). Phosphorus nutrition of woody plants: many questions-few answers. *Plant Biol.* 15, 785–788. doi: 10.1111/plb.12078
- Repečkienė, J., Salina, O., Nedzinskienė, T. L., and Bakšienė, E. (2009). Microorganism communities in low productivity soil, where willows (*Salix L.*) are growing. *Rural Dev.* 2009:393.
- Reyes, I., Bernier, L., and Antoun, H. (2002). Rock phosphate solubilization and colonization of maize rhizosphere by wild and genetically modified strains of *Penicillium rugulosum. Microb. Ecol.* 44, 39–48. doi: 10.1007/s00248-002-1001-8
- Richardson, A. E., Hocking, P. J., Simpson, R. J., and George, T. S. (2009). Plant mechanisms to optimise access to soil phosphorus. *Crop Past. Sci.* 60, 124–143. doi: 10.1071/CP07125
- Richardson, A. E., and Simpson, R. J. (2011). Soil microorganisms mediating phosphorus availability update on microbial phosphorus. *Plant Physiol.* 156, 989–996. doi: 10.1104/pp.111.175448
- Ricks, K. D., and Koide, R. T. (2019). The role of inoculum dispersal and plant species identity in the assembly of leaf endophytic fungal communities. *PLoS* One 14:e0219832. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0219832
- Rognes, T., Flouri, T., Nichols, B., Quince, C., and Mahé, F. (2016). VSEARCH: a versatile open source tool for metagenomics. *PeerJ* 4:e2584. doi: 10.7717/peerj. 2584
- Rosenstock, N. P., Berner, C., Smits, M. M., Krám, P., and Wallander, H. (2016). The role of phosphorus, magnesium and potassium availability in soil fungal exploration of mineral nutrient sources in Norway spruce forests. *New Phytol.* 211, 542–553. doi:10.1111/nph.13928 Saitou, N., and Nei, M. (1987). The neighbor-joining method: a new method for
- Saitou, N., and Nei, M. (1987). The neighbor-joining method: a new method for reconstructing phylogenetic trees. Mol. Biol. Evol. 4, 406–425. doi: 10.1093/ oxfordjournals.molbev.a040454
- Schmidt, C. S., Lovecká, P., Mrnka, L., Vychodilová, A., Strejček, M., Fenclová, M., et al. (2018). Distinct communities of poplar endophytes on an unpolluted and a risk element-polluted site and their plant growth-promoting potential in vitro. *Microb. Ecol.* 75, 955–969. doi: 10.1007/s00248-017-1103-y
- Schoch, C. L., Crous, P. W., Groenewald, J. Z., Bochm, E. W. A., Burgess, T. I., de Gruyter, J., et al. (2009). A class-wide phylogenetic assessment of Dothideomycetes. Stud. Mycol. 64, 1–15. doi: 10.3114/sim.2009.64.01
- Schweier, J., Arranz, C., Nock, C. A., Jaeger, D., and Scherer-Lorenzen, M. (2019). Impact of increased genotype or species diversity in short rotation coppice on biomass production and wood characteristics. *Bioenerg. Res.* 12, 497–508. doi: 10.1007/s12155-019-09997-2
- Sevel, L., Nord-Larsen, T., and Raulund-Rasmussen, K. (2012). Biomass production of four willow clones grown as short rotation coppice on two soil types in Denmark. *Biomass Bioenergy* 46, 664–672. doi: 10.1016/j.biombioe. 2012.06.030

Frontiers in Plant Science | www.frontiersin.org

- Shakya, M., Gottel, N., Castro, H., Yang, Z. K., Gunter, L., Labbé, J., et al. (2013). A multifactor analysis of fungal and bacterial community structure in the root microbiome of mature *Populus deltoides* trees. *PLoS One* 8:e76382. doi: 10.1371/ iournal.pone.0076382
- Sharma, A., Rawat, U. S., and Yadav, B. K. (2012). Influence of phosphorus levels and phosphorus solubilizing fungi on yield and nutrient uptake by wheat under sub-humid region of Rajasthan, India. *Intern. Schol. Res. Notic.* 2012:234656. doi: 10.5402/2012/234656
- Shen, J., Yuan, I., Zhang, J., Li, H., Bai, Z., Chen, X., et al. (2011). Phosphorus dynamics: from soil to plant. *Plant Physiol*. 156, 997–1005. doi: 10.1104/pp.111. 175232
- Singh, B., and Satyanarayana, T. (2011). Microbial phytases in phosphorus acquisition and plant growth promotion. *Physiol. Mol. Biol. Plants* 17, 93–103. doi: 10.1007/s12298-011-0062-x
- Stosiek, N., Terebienicc, A., Ząbek, A., Mlynarz, P., Cieśliński, H., and Klimek-Ochab, M. (2019). N-phosphonomethylglycine utilization by the psychrotolerant yeast Solicoccozyma terricola M 3.1. 4. Bioorgan. Chem. 93:102866. doi: 10.1016/j.bioorg.2019.03.040
- Tamura, K., Stecher, G., Peterson, D., Filipski, A., and Kumar, S. (2013). MEGA6: molecular evolutionary genetics analysis version 6.0. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 30, 2725– 2729. doi: 10.1093/molbev/mst197
- Taselli, G., Filippucci, S., D'Antonio, S., Cavalaglio, G., Turchetti, B., Cotana, F., et al. (2019). Optimization of enzymatic hydrolysis of cellulosic fraction obtained from stranded driftwood feedstocks for lipid production by *Solicoccozyma terricola. Biotechnol. Rep.* 24:e00367. doi: 10.1016/j.btre.2019. e00367
- ten Hoopen, G. M., Rees, R., Aisa, P., Stirrup, T., and Krauss, U. (2003). Population dynamics of epiphytic mycoparasites of the genera Clonostachys and Fusarium for the biocontrol of black pod (Phytophthora palmivora) and moniliasis (Moniliophthora roreri) on cocoa (Theobroma cacao). Mycologic. Res. 107, 587–596. doi: 10.1017/S095375620300772X
- Thiem, D., Gołebiewski, M., Hulisz, P., Piernik, A., and Hrynkiewicz, K. (2018). How does salinity shape bacterial and fungal microbiomes of *Alnus glutinosa* roots? *Front. Microbiol.* 9:651. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2018. 00651
- van Reeuwijk, L. P. (2002). Procedures for Soil Analysis, 6th Edn, Wageningen: ISRIC.
- Verheyen, K., Vanhellemont, M., Auge, H., Baeten, L., Baraloto, C., Barsoum, N., et al. (2016). Contributions of a global network of tree diversity experiments to sustainable forest plantations. *Ambio* 45, 29–41. doi: 10.1007/s13280-015-0685-1
- Wang, H., Fan, W., Yu, P. S., and Han, J. (2003). "Mining concept-drifting data streams using ensemble classifiers," in *Proceedings of the Ninth ACM SIGKDD International Conference on Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining* (New York, NY), 226–235.
- Weih, M., Nordh, N. E., Manzoni, S., and Hoeber, S. (2021). Functional traits of individual varieties as determinants of growth and nitrogen use patterns in mixed stands of willow (*Salix spp.). For. Ecol. Manag.* 479:118605. doi: 10.1016/ j.foreco.2020.118605
- Williams, A., Manoharan, L., Rosenstock, N. P., Olsson, P. A., and Hedlund, K. (2017). Long-term agricultural fertilization alters arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal community composition and barley (*Hordeum vulgare*) mycorrhizal carbon and phosphorus exchange. *New Phytol.* 213, 874–885. doi: 10.1111/nph. 14196
- Yadav, R. S., Meena, S. C., Patel, S. I., Patel, K. I., Akhtar, M. S., Yadav, B. K., et al. (2012). "Bioavailability of soil P for plant nutrition," in *Farming for Food and Water Security*, ed. E. Lichtfouse (Dordrecht: Springer), 177–200. doi: 10.1007/978-94-007-4500-1\_8
- Yergeau, E., Bell, T. H., Champagne, J., Maynard, C., Tardif, S., Tremblay, J., et al. (2015). Transplanting soil microbiomes leads to lasting effects on willow growth, but not on the rhizosphere microbiome. *Front. Microbiol.* 6:1436. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2015.01436
- Yin, Z., Shi, F., Jiang, H., Roberts, D. P., Chen, S., and Fan, B. (2015). Phosphate solubilization and promotion of maize growth by *Penicillhum oxalicum* P4 and *Aspergillus niger* P85 in a calcareous soil. *Can. J. Microbiol.* 61, 913–923. doi:10.1139/cjm-2015-0358 Yue, Q., Miller, C. J., White, J. F., and Richardson, M. D. (2000).
- Yue, Q., Miller, C. J., White, J. F., and Richardson, M. D. (2000). Isolation and characterization of fungal inhibitors from *Epichloë*

15

festucae. J. Agric. Food Chem. 48, 4687–4692. doi: 10.1021/jf99 0685q

- Obs3q Zhang, H., Wu, X., Li, G., and Qin, P. (2011). Interactions between arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and phosphate-solubilizing fungus (*Mortierella* sp.) and their effects on *Kostelelzkya virginica* growth and enzyme activities of rhizosphere and bulk soils at different salinities. *Biol. Fertil. Soils* 47, 543–554. doi: 10.1007/ s00374-011-0563-3
- S003/4-011-0563-3 Zhou, J., Jiang, X., Zhou, B., Zhao, B., Ma, M., Guan, D., et al. (2016). Thirty four years of nitrogen fertilization decreases fungal diversity and alters fungal community composition in black soil in northeast China. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 95, 135–143. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2015.12.012

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Koczorski, Furtado, Golębiewski, Hulisz, Baum, Weih and Hrynkiewicz. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Frontiers in Plant Science | www.frontiersin.org

16

Frontiers Frontiers in Microbiology

#### Check for updates

# OPEN ACCESS

Lin Chen, Institute of Soil Science (CAS), China

REVIEWED BY Angelica Rodriguez Dorantes, Instituto Politécnico Nacional, Mexico Preeti Mehta, DBT-IOC Centre for Advanced Bio-Energy Research. India

\*CORRESPONDENCE Katarzyna Hrynkiewicz hrynk@umk.pl

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Terrestrial Microbiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Microbiology

RECEIVED 01 August 2022 ACCEPTED 22 September 2022 PUBLISHED 20 October 2022

#### CITATION

Koczorski P, Furtado BU, Gotębiewski M, Hulisz P, Thiem D, Baum C, Weih M and Hrynkiewicz K (2022) Mixed growth of Salix species can promote phosphatesolubilizing bacteria in the roots and rhizosphere. *Front. Microbiol.* 13:1006722. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2022.1006722

COPPRIAT © 2022 Koczorski, Furtado, Gotębiewski, Hulisz, Thiem, Baum, Weih and Hrynkiewicz. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Mixed growth of Salix species can promote phosphate-solubilizing bacteria in the roots and rhizosphere

Piotr Koczorski<sup>1</sup>, Bliss Ursula Furtado<sup>1</sup>, Marcin Gołębiewski<sup>2,3</sup>, Piotr Hulisz<sup>4</sup>, Dominika Thiem<sup>1</sup>, Christel Baum<sup>5</sup>, Martin Weih<sup>6</sup> and Katarzyna Hrynkiewicz<sup>1</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup>Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Biological and Veterinary Sciences, Nicolaus Copernicus University, Torun, Poland, <sup>2</sup>Department of Plant Physiology and Biotechnology, Faculty of Biological and Veterinary Sciences, Nicolaus Copernicus University, Torun, Poland, <sup>3</sup>Interdisciplinary Centre for Modern Technologies, Nicolaus Copernicus University, Torun, Poland, <sup>4</sup>Department of Soil Science and Landscape Management, Faculty of Earth Sciences and Spatial Management, Nicolaus Copernicus University, Torun, Poland, <sup>6</sup>Soil Science, Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences, University of Rostock, Rostock, Germany, <sup>6</sup>Department of Crop Production Ecology, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Upsala, Sweden

Phosphorus (P) is an essential plant nutrient that can limit plant growth due to low availability in the soil. P-solubilizing bacteria in the roots and rhizosphere increase the P use efficiency of plants. This study addressed the impact of plant species, the level of plant association with bacteria (rhizosphere or root endophyte) and environmental factors (e.g., seasons, soil properties) on the abundance and diversity of P-solubilizing bacteria in short-rotation coppices (SRC) of willows (Salix spp.) for biomass production. Two willow species (S. dasyclados cv. Loden and S. schwerinii × S. viminalis cv. Tora) grown in mono-and mixed culture plots were examined for the abundance and diversity of bacteria in the root endosphere and rhizosphere during two seasons (fall and spring) in central Sweden and northern Germany. Soil properties, such as pH and available P and N, had a significant effect on the structure of the bacterial community. Microbiome analysis and culture-based methods revealed a higher diversity of rhizospheric bacteria than endophytic bacteria. The P-solubilizing bacterial isolates belonged mainly to Proteobacteria (85%), Actinobacteria (6%) and Firmicutes (9%). Pseudomonas was the most frequently isolated cultivable bacterial genus from both the root endosphere and the rhizosphere. The remaining cultivable bacterial isolates belonged to the phyla Actinobacteria and Firmicutes. In conclusion, site-specific soil conditions and the level of plant association with bacteria were the main factors shaping the bacterial communities in the willow SRCs. In particular, the concentration of available P along with the total nitrogen in the soil controlled the total bacterial diversity in willow SRCs. A lower number of endophytic and rhizospheric bacteria was observed in Loden willow species compared to that of Tora and the mix of the two, indicating that mixed growth of Salix species promotes P-solubilizing bacterial diversity and abundance. Therefore, a mixed plant design was presented as a management option to increase the P availability for Salix in SRCs. This design should be tested for further species mixtures.

KEYWORDS

diversity, bacterial endophytes, rhizosphere bacteria, phosphate solubilization, short-rotation cropping, willow diversity, willow

# Introduction

Most of the research on plant-bacterial interactions, specifically on woody plant species, focuses either on the general bacterial community diversity or on the role of bacteria in plant interactions, i.e., the bacterial properties that directly affect host plant growth such as plant growth-promoting metabolites, synthesis of phytohormones, and N<sub>2</sub> binding (Basu et al., 2021). Few studies have addressed bacterial diversity based on their level of association (root endosphere or rhizosphere), and their properties or specific function in woody plants have been scarcely investigated (e.g., Thiem et al., 2018). Meanwhile, in the pool of endophytic and rhizospheric bacteria, there may be those whose direct or indirect influence on plant development is underestimated and not sufficiently investigated to date.

One of the most important contributions of bacteria to plant host growth is their role in facilitating the plant host's access to available forms of phosphorus (P) (Billah et al., 2019). Several reviews describe the important role of P-solubilizing microorganisms in enhancing overall plant (shoot) growth (Kalayu, 2019; Prabhu et al., 2019; Divjot et al., 2021; Rawat et al., 2021). It is frequently reported that the use of P-solubilizing bacteria (PSB) as bioinoculants is cost-effective and a sustainable alternative to chemical fertilizers, as the excessive use of the latter contributes to lowering the quality of groundwater and soil, as well as the accumulation of toxic elements such as selenium (Se) or arsenic (As) in the soil (Khan et al., 2009; Alori et al., 2017). Experimental studies on the role of P-solubilizing bacteria in plants have mostly used well-known strains of bacteria belonging mainly to Pseudomonas sp., Bacillus sp. or Streptomyces sp. (Wani et al., 2005; Chen et al., 2006; Ahemad and Khan, 2011; Kaur et al., 2011; Grafe et al., 2018; Rathinasabapathi et al., 2018; Ahmad et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2020;). Additionally, screening studies exploring new bacterial strains with P-solubilizing abilities are carried out relatively often (e.g., El Habil-Addas et al., 2017; Rahman et al., 2017; Boubekri et al., 2021; Chen et al., 2021). However, only in some cases are studies on P-solubilizing bacteria conducted on larger scales that take into account (i) the selection and differentiation of strains that are able to degrade easily and sparingly soluble P compounds (belonging to the groups diphosphates and triphosphates, respectively), (ii) the compatibility of specific groups of P-solubilizing bacteria with specific plant species and specific environmental conditions and cultivation systems (e.g., monoculture or mixed cultivation), and (iii) the application potential of these microorganisms. Highthroughput methods such as metagenomic analysis, which can provide the background of the entire community of bacteria of a given environment, are also rarely targeted by the previously mentioned research (Sarikhani et al., 2019; Teng et al., 2019; Chawngthu et al., 2020; Rfaki et al., 2020). Meanwhile, the evaluation of the microbiological background of the microorganisms coexisting with P-solubilizing microbes is extremely important because the composition of the microbiological background can be used as a guide for selecting the right bacteria that will be compatible not only with a specific plant species but also with its microbiome.

Our work responds to the above deficiencies and presents not only the screening of cultivable P-solubilizing bacteria (e.g., di-and triphosphates) but also a metagenomic analysis of the rhizosphere and root endosphere, which provides a proper background of the bacterial community. The research was carried out in experimental trials including single-species and mixedspecies plots of two willow varieties belonging to different species (Loden (S. dasyclados) [L] and Tora (S. schwerinii × S. viminalis) [T]), which were grown in two locations with different soil and climatic conditions (Germany and Sweden). This study focused on bacteria and complements our previous results on P-solubilizing fungi in the same experimental trials (Koczorski et al., 2021). The main objective was to assess the influence of soil properties, seasons, the level of plant association with bacteria (root endophyte and rhizosphere), and the host plant cultivation system (single-species vs. mixed-species) on the diversity of P-solubilizing bacteria and to determine their role and contribution to the background of the entire willow microbiome. The application of culturable and nonculturable research techniques allowed us to evaluate the culturable PSB in the context of a complete community of bacteria, as well as to determine the influence of soil properties and seasons on changes in community structure. We hypothesized that (i) bacteria with the ability to solubilize P would be more abundant in the rhizosphere than the root endosphere of the tested plants and (ii) the plant species and the test site conditions would significantly affect the bacterial diversity and bacterial community.

# Materials and methods

#### Sample collection and processing

The test sites used in this study are two experimental trials of willow short-rotation coppices (SRCs) located in Uppsala (Sweden: 59.820375, 17.640334) and Rostock (Germany: 54.061391, 12.081857). Both sites were previously used as arable sites, and they differ in the soil type. The soil at site S is characterized as a Vertic

Cambisol type (moderate amount of clay), while at site G, the soil type is described as a Stagnic Cambisol (sandy loam dominance) (IUSS Working Group WRB, 2015). The experiment was established in 2014 as part of the ECOLINK-Salix to investigate the impact of willow diversity on growth, nutrient use and ecosystem functioning (Hoeber et al., 2018). A detailed description of the experimental trials is found elsewhere (Hoeber et al., 2018; Koczorski et al., 2021; Figure 1). In our investigation, we only used the data from two willow genotypes belonging to two different species, Loden (S. dasyclados) and Tora (S. schwerinii × S. viminalis), and compared them between the two test sites (German and Swedish). Tora is characterized by a higher growth rate and smaller total leaf area than Loden (Hoeber et al., 2018). At each test site,

three blocks (replicates) were established, each consisting of three plots with willows planted in single-species or mixed-species cultures. The size of each plot was  $9.6 \times 9.6$  m, and the tree planting density was 15,600 plants per ha (Hoeber et al., 2018). Samples for analysis were collected at both sites in two seasons: fall (October) 2018 and spring (May) 2019. During each season, samples from each experimental site were collected from three plots in three replicates: Loden monoculture, Tora monoculture and mixed cultivation of both (Loden and Tora). In total, 162 samples (81 from Sweden and 81 from Germany) of willow roots and adjacent soils  $(15 \times 15 \times 15 \text{ cm})$  sampled at equal intervals of 6 m from each other were collected. The collected samples were immediately transported to the laboratory in Poland (Department of



Germany). (AB) and P-solubilizing bacteria (C-m) abundance on dimension frequest samples were taken in fait 2015 from two test sites (sweden and Germany). (AB) present the total bacterial count on plates with R2A medium for two levels of plant associations (trixosphere and endophytic bacteria). Blue bars represent samples from Sweden and red from Germany). (AB) present the total bacterial count on plates with R2A medium for two levels of plant associations (trixosphere and endophytic bacteria). Blue bars represent samples from Sweden and red from Germany. (C-H) show the abundance of bacteria present on selective media plates (blue and red bars) and the abundance of P-solubilizing bacteria (yellow bars). Small and capital letters indicate significant differences between the two willow species used (Tora=S. schwerinii x viminalis, Loden=S. dasyclados) (small letters for total bacteria count; capital letters for P-solubilizing bacteria). \*Indicates differences between sites.

Frontiers in Microbiology

Microbiology, Nicolaus Copernicus University) and analyzed as described below. The samples collected in fall 2018 were used to determine the total number of bacteria and the total number of P-solubilizing bacteria (PSB), for which a collection was also established. The roots were carefully separated from adherent soil and subjected to a surface sterilization process as described previously (Koczorski et al., 2021). In the first step of surface sterilization, 60% alcohol was used (3 min), and then the roots were rinsed 3 times in a sterile 2% NaCl solution. In the second step, 5% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> solution (10 min) was used for sterilization, and roots were last rinse were used to perform sterilization control on R2A medium (Difco, United States).

### Soil analysis

In this study, soil data obtained in previous studies were used (Koczorski et al., 2021; Supplementary Table S1). Soil samples were sieved through a 2-mm-mesh screen after air-drying for the following analyses: total organic carbon (TOC) and total nitrogen (TN) contents were measured after dry combustion using a CHNS Vario Macro Cube elemental analyzer. Available phosphorus ( $P_{av}$ ) in 1% citric acid (Van Reeuwijk, 2002) was determined by a spectrophotometric method using a UV–Vis Rayleigh UV-1601 spectrophotometer (Van Reeuwijk, 2002), and the pH at a 1:2.5 soil to water ratio was determined by the potentiometric method using an Elmetron CP-105 pH meter.

# Isolation of endophytic and rhizospheric total culturable bacteria and screening for P-solubilizing bacteria

Sterile roots (1 g) were homogenized in a sterile mortar and transferred to 9 ml of a sterile 0.5% NaCl solution. The processed rhizosphere soil samples (1 g) were transferred to 9 ml of a sterile 0.5% NaCl solution. Serial dilutions ( $10^{-1} - 10^{-7}$ ) were prepared and used for inoculations (spread plating technique) on R2A media with the addition of 40 mg/µl nystatin (for roots:  $10^{-3}$  and  $10^{-4}$ , for rhizosphere soil:  $10^{-4}$  and  $10^{-5}$ ) in 3 replicates for each variant and dilution (108 Petri plates, in total). The plates were incubated for 7 days at 24°C, and then total bacterial counts were determined and presented as colony-forming units (cfu).

Three selective media were used for the isolation of phosphate (P)-solubilizing bacteria: NBRIP, PVK containing tri-phosphates (Nautiyal, 1999) and DCP containing di-phosphates (modified by Pikovskaya, 1948) (composition of media presented as Supplementary materials in Koczorski et al., 2021).<sup>1</sup> The inoculations were made from the same serial dilutions (mentioned above) that were used to determine the total number of bacteria. For NBRIP and

1 https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpls.2021.647709/full

10.3389/fmicb.2022.1006722

PVK media, dilutions of  $10^{-6}$  and  $10^{-7}$  were used (roots and rhizosphere soil), and for DCP media, dilutions of  $10^{-4}$ –  $10^{-5}$  (roots) and  $10^{-5} - 10^{-6}$  (rhizosphere soil) were used. All analyses were performed in three technical replications (324 plates in total, 108 plates for each of the selective media). After 7 days of cultivation at 24°C, colonies with visible halo zones were noted. The presence of halo zones indicated the P-solubilizing ability of the isolated strains and allowed for the selection of positive strains for further analysis.

In the experiment, the total number of P-solubilizing bacteria and the total number of bacteria grown on the tested media were determined to assess the potential of the investigated sites and zones (rhizospheric and endophytic) for colonization by potential P-solubilizing bacteria. The bacterial isolates with the ability to solubilize P on selective media were selected and transferred to R2A medium for further identification using molecular methods.

# Identification of culturable P-solubilizing bacterial strains

A Bacterial and Yeast Genomic DNA Purification Kit (EurX, Poland) was used to isolate bacterial DNA. The isolated DNA was quantified using a UV-Vis spectrophotometer (NanoDrop 2000, United States). Bacteria were identified based on the 16S rRNA region using primers 27f (5'-AGAGTTTGATCMTGGCTCAG-3') and 1492r (5'-TACGGYTACCTTGTTACGACT-3'; Frank et al., 2008). The PCR products were purified using the PCR/DNA Clean-Up Purification Kit (EurX). A 1% agarose gel (1 x TBE buffer) with the addition of Simply Safe (EurX) dye was used to confirm the presence of PCR products after purification. The length of the PCR products was determined based on the 100 bp ladder (Perfect 100 bp DNA Ladder, EurX). The genetic material was sequenced at the Institute of Biochemistry and Biophysics.<sup>2</sup> Sequencher 5.4.6 software was used to prepare contigs, and the obtained sequences were compared with those in the NCBI database using BLASTn, which is available on the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) servers.3 Mega X software (Kumar et al., 2018) was used for phylogenetic analysis according to the procedure described by Furtado et al. (2019). Reference sequences were obtained from NCBI, and phylogenetic analysis was performed using the neighbour-joining method. Evolutionary distances were determined with the use of the p-distance method (Saitou and Nei, 1987). The phylogenetic tree was visualized with Interactive Tree of Life (iTOL) v3 (Letunic and Bork, 2016).

#### Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using Statistica software (version 13.0, StatSoft). Mean values and standard deviations were

<sup>2</sup> http://oligo.ibb.waw.pl/

<sup>3</sup> http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/BLAST

calculated. The computed data from both the isolation of total culturable bacteria and screening for culturable P-solubilizing bacteria are presented as Colony-Forming Unit (CFU)/g dry weight.

# Assessing nonculturable bacterial diversity

Total DNA (from the roots and rhizosphere) was isolated according to Koczorski et al. (2021). DNA was isolated from 50 mg of lyophilized roots (for endophytic diversity) and 50 mg of air-dried rhizosphere soil, and each sample was prepared in 3 replicates. Root samples were homogenized with plastic beads prior to isolation. The spectrophotometric (NanoDrop 2000, United States) and fluorometric (Qubit 2.0) methods were used to determine the concentration of DNA in the samples. DNA prepared in this way was used to create libraries in a two-step PCR and purified using Agencourt AMPure XP (Beckman Coulter). The quality and quantity of libraries were assessed using the Bioanalyzer chip (Agilent) and the KAPA Library Quantification Kit for the Illumina Platform - LightCycler 480 (Roche). The complete process of DNA isolation and library preparation was described in our previous work (Thiem et al., 2018), and the method of statistical analysis was described in the publication by Koczorski et al. (2021).

# Results

# Culturable bacteria and their phosphate solubilization activity at two sites

The number of culturable bacteria ranged between 3.5 and 6.8 cfu/g of dry roots for endophytes and 6.89-7.89 cfu/g of dry soil for the rhizosphere. In general, the tests showed that there was a significant difference in endophytic bacterial abundance between the tested variants of the experiment (mono and mixed cultures). In the case of the willow species, a lower number of endophytic and rhizospheric bacteria were observed in Loden than in both Tora and the mix of both (Loden and Tora; Figure 1). The difference between P-solubilizing bacterial abundance in the Loden species and the mixed variant was an almost twofold lower. indicating the importance of Tora species presence. The NBRIP and PVK selective media showed very similar trends for Loden, where the frequency of occurrence of isolates with phosphate solubilization was lower than in the other tested variants (singlespecies Tora and the species mix). At the Swedish site, the mixed cultures showed the highest number of PSB both in the case of endophytic and rhizospheric bacteria, while at the German site, the number of PSB was the highest in Tora for endophytic and the mixed culture for the rhizospheric bacteria (Figure 1). Loden showed a lower number of PSBs associated with the plant (both endophytic and rhizospheric bacteria). Overall, the NBRIP medium selected more PSBs from the Swedish site, while in the PVK medium, the PSB abundance was higher in the German site. The total abundance of PSB on the DCP medium was lower than that on the NBRIP and PVK media. The number of PSBs on the DCP medium was lowest for Loden at both experimental sites and both levels of association with the plant (endophytes and rhizosphere). For endophytes in the Swedish site, the mixed cultures showed the highest number of PSB, while for the German site, it was Tora. Similarly, for the rhizosphere, the PSB was the highest for the mixed cultures in the Swedish site, while no significant differences were observed in the German site.

# Identification of culturable phosphate-solubilizing bacteria

During the experiment, 88 different bacterial strains with the ability to solubilize P were isolated. Among this bacterial collection, 61 were isolated from tri-phosphate-containing media (26 from NBRIP, 35 from PVK) and 27 from di-phosphate (DCP) media. A total of 41 different endophytic and 47 rhizospheric strains were isolated. Almost 85% of the isolated bacteria (74 strains) belonged to Proteobacteria, 6 belonged to Actinobacteria (6%) and 8 belonged to Firmicutes (9%). The dominant taxa among Proteobacteria included species of Pseudomonas with 12 strains (13%), Erwinia with 17 (19%) and Rahnella with 10 (11%). Actinobacteria was dominated by the genus Curtobacterium, with 3 identified strains (50%), and Firmicutes was dominated by 6 strains from the Bacillus (67%) genus. A total of 51 strains with the ability to solubilize P at the German site and 37 at the Swedish site were obtained. At the German site, more rhizospheric than endophytic PSBs were isolated, while at the Swedish site, we observed the reverse trend. The most frequently isolated PSB at the Swedish site were bacteria belonging to the genera Pseudomonas and Rahnella, both found in the endosphere and the rhizosphere. The genus Erwinia was characteristic of the German site for both levels of association with the plant (endosphere and rhizosphere). The highest number of strains belonging to Actinobacteria were isolated from the German site. Almost 50% of the strains were isolated from the mixed culture (LT; Figure 2).

#### Microbiome analysis

The bacterial alpha diversity was mainly determined by the level of association with the plant (endosphere and rhizosphere), whereas in the case of endophytes, it was additionally determined by the experimental sites (S, G; Figures 3A–C). A significant difference between the rhizospheric and endophytic bacterial diversity was found in the Shannon's H' and the number of OTUs observed, wherein the bacterial population in the rhizosphere soil was more diverse (Figure 3A). In the case of endophytic bacteria at site G, significant differences were observed between the cultivable variants and the seasons. This is due to the high values



obtained for the samples from the Tora mono-and mixed cultures, which differed significantly from those of the other variants (Figure 3A). The analysis of the Shannon evenness index showed a significant difference between the endophytic communities from the German and Swedish sites (Figure 3B). No significant differences were observed in other variants of the experiment (Figure 3B). The number of observed OTUs showed a significant difference between endophytes and the rhizosphere, as well as between the sites within the endophyte variant (Figure 3C). Overall, the most prominent difference in the diversity of the bacterial microbiome was observed for endophytes and is related to the differences between the studied sites (Swedish and German) Shannon's H', Shannon's E and the number of observed OTUs.

# NMDS and CCA analysis

In this study, soil data obtained in previous studies were used (Koczorski et al., 2021; Supplementary Table S1). According to the results of NMDS analysis, the bacterial communities in the

Frontiers in Microbiology

frontiersin.org

rhizosphere (Figure 4A) and endosphere (Figure 4C) were

clustered based on sites (S and G). A PERMANOVA test

confirmed that the grouping of rhizosphere and endosphere

variants was statistically significant (rhizosphere soil: F=20.241 $r^2=0.180$  p=0.0001 roots: F=44.85  $R^2=0.099$  p=0.0001).

Grouping of bacterial communities by season was not observed.

The samples from the German site were more scattered, especially

from the roots, indicating higher variability at this test site. The

separation between sites was much more prominent in the case of

the rhizosphere, which suggests that these communities show

greater differentiation than the endophytic communities. NMDS

ordination showed clear division of samples from the German site

according to willow species, with Loden grouped with Sweden samples, while Tora and mixed variants remained grouped together (Figure 4C). The samples from Tora and the mixed

cultures were separated from the Loden samples that were grouped with the samples from the Swedish site. The CCA

confirmed the separation of samples from the rhizosphere by site.

In Figure 4B, the total nitrogen (TN) and partially available

phosphorus (Pav) were the key factors responsible for the



separation of samples with a positive correlation for site S. The rhizosphere samples were more scattered and formed 3 separate groups. The first group correlated with  $P_{av}$  and consisted mainly of samples from the Tora and mixed cultures (TL) from Sweden. The second group showed a high correlation with pH (pH\_water) and was composed of the samples belonging to Tora and mixed cultures (TL) from Germany. The remaining samples that formed the third group showed a negative correlation with all the previously mentioned factors and with organic carbon (TOC). CCA analysis revealed that for soil samples, the phylum *Firmicutes* showed a positive correlation with  $P_{av}$  while *Proteobacteria* correlated with TN. For root samples, there was no clear correlation with any of the bacterial strains.

# Bacterial diversity at different taxonomic levels

As with the identification of isolated bacteria, most of the reads obtained in the microbiome analysis belonged to the

phyla Actinobacteria and Proteobacteria, especially in the communities of endophytic bacteria from Sweden (Figure 5A). At the class level, significant differences were also observed between the level of bacterial association and the location of the test site. Additionally, some seasonal differences were observed, but only for samples from site G. At the class level, no differences between the two willow species were observed (Figure 5A). At the order level (Figure 5B), we observed a high number of different taxa across all samples. Most of the samples showed significant differences in the level of plant association (endophyte, rhizosphere) and site (Figure 5B). Bacterial community analysis showed that similar to the class level (Figure 5A), a small number of samples showed differences between seasons. However, in the case of the samples from Sweden, differences between the willow species were observed. Figures 5C,D show that this trend is also valid for the remaining taxonomic levels (family and genus). It was also shown that the lower we are at the taxonomic level, the higher the number of reads belonging to the 'rare' category (number of reads is less than a predetermined threshold).

Frontiers in Microbiology



# Discussion

The aim of this work was to gain insight into bacterial diversity and to identify P-solubilizing bacteria in the rhizosphere and endosphere of single-species and two-species plots of shortrotation willow coppices. Moreover, this is also an extension of a previous investigation that aimed at isolating and identifying P-solubilizing microorganisms (fungi) from the same experimental trials and comparing them with the results of the microbiome analysis (season comparison included; Koczorski et al., 2021). In the present work, we expected that the increased diversity of host plant species grown in the species mixture may favor a greater diversity of microorganisms, including phosphatesolubilizing microorganisms. Consequently, biomass production may be enhanced (Chen et al., 2021). To verify this, we used a classical microbiological approach combined with NGS analysis. The results presenting the number of P-solubilizing bacteria

revealed that there was a significantly higher number of bacteria in the rhizosphere than in the endosphere. It could be that only selected bacterial strains can penetrate the root's intercellular space and form endophytes. Most plant species are known to produce substances that either attract or inhibit microbial root entry (Jacoby et al., 2017). As such, the roots can act as a filter through which only selected bacteria can penetrate and form a well-functioning symbiosis with the host plant (Taulé et al., 2021). Moreover, bacteria that form endophytes are known to possess specific properties or functions that help to survive in plant tissues and establish this symbiosis (Papik et al., 2020). Furthermore, the results from the culturable diversity showed the lowest number of P-solubilizing bacteria for Loden species (S. dasyclados) grown in monoculture and the highest number in the case of the species mixture (at both sites and levels of association of microorganisms with the plant: endo-and rhizosphere). Therefore, we can expect that an increased number of plant species in a cultivation system

Frontiers in Microbiology

08



will promote microbial diversity and function. This suggests that both species identity and the cultivation of mixed species at the same site can have positive effects on the number of P-solubilizing bacteria. The mixing effect may be due to the higher competition of microorganisms for nutrients in mixed cultures, which promotes the diversity of rhizospheric and endophytic microorganisms (Weih et al., 2019). A similar conclusion was made by Schweier et al. (2019), where mixed cultures of willow species and genotypes produced higher biomass and positively influenced the diversity of microorganisms at the site.

The soil analysis presented in our earlier publication showed a much higher level of P at the Swedish site than at the German site (Koczorski et al., 2021). This may suggest that the increased P availability in the soil has a positive effect on the abundance of PSBs (rhizosphere and endophytes). Our experiment showed the presence of bacteria that were able to grow on media without available P but at the same time did not show any visible signs of P solubilization (halo zones). Since the bacteria were grown on the media for 7 days, it is possible that their cells had some reservoir of P that allowed them to grow. Liu et al. (2015) made similar observations using media supplemented with the same P source as we did, and they stated that lack of clear signs of P solubilization might also be a result of their very low activity. The most

frequently isolated PSB in our experiment were Pseudomonas, Erwinia and Bacillus. These genera are well known and frequently isolated as PSBs, especially Pseudomonas (Yu et al., 2011; Sarker et al., 2014) and Bacillus (Liu et al., 2015; Chawngthu et al., 2020). These strains have found applications as biofertilizers for the cultivation of wheat (Liu et al., 2019), maize (Viruel et al., 2014), rice (Gomez-Ramirez and Uribe-Velez, 2021) and fruit trees, e.g., apple trees (Kurek et al., 2013). Erwinia sp. is often mentioned in the literature as a plant pathogen; however, the Salix trees grown at the two test sites did not show any symptoms of infection during sampling. Few researchers have shown the potential of Erwinia sp. as a plant growth-promoting bacterium and confirmed its presence in underground and aboveground parts of plants, e.g., almond trees (Guzmán et al., 2021), apple trees, pear trees (Rezzonico et al., 2016) and barley (Li et al., 2021). This suggests that willow trees are a potential source of both well-known and completely new P-solubilizing microorganisms. Our work also provides insight into P-solubilizing bacteria that can potentially be used as a part of specific willow SRC biofertilizers.

The Shannon diversity index (H') and the number of observed OTUs confirmed that the bacterial diversity of the rhizosphere was higher than that of the endosphere. The same trend was observed by Tardif et al. (2016), where alpha diversity was also

higher in the rhizospheric than endophytic bacteria. Additionally, we observed a very large difference between the root endophytes derived from site G of the single-species Tora plots and the mixed-species plots, which showed much higher diversity than the rhizosphere samples. This is in agreement with the results obtained from the culturable bacterial abundance assessment on R2A medium, where Loden showed significantly lower numbers of bacterial isolates than Tora and the mixed plots. This result suggests that there is a strong connection between host plant species and microbial community composition in the rhizosphere and the endosphere.

In our previous publication that describes the abundance and diversity of fungi, we observed differences in alpha diversity for sites and levels of association with the plant, while no differences between host plant species were seen (Koczorski et al., 2021). In comparison to the fungal diversity, the bacterial diversity analysed using Shannon's index (H') was higher than that of fungi with 4.5 (bacteria) and 3 (fungi) for rhizosphere soil and 3 (bacteria) and 2.5 (fungi) for endophytes. The NMDS analysis showed a clear division of samples according to the test sites, except for endophytic bacteria at site G, where a statistically significant separation between genotypes was observed. The separation of samples by the two sites in the NMDS analysis for fungi was more distinct, and the samples showed a greater concentration (Koczorski et al., 2021). This suggests that fungal communities are more dependent on soil and weather conditions or nutrient content, while bacteria are mostly dependent on pH and soil structure (Lauber et al., 2008; Furtado et al., 2019).

The results of the CCA analysis showed that among the assessed variables, total nitrogen and available P were the main factors driving bacterial community diversity, while for fungi, total nitrogen and organic carbon were the main factors driving community diversity (Koczorski et al., 2021). The high similarity of samples from the Tora monoculture and the mixed cultures at site G with soil pH suggests that the increase in bacterial diversity could be caused by the higher pH of the soil at this site. The significant effect of pH on bacterial diversity was analyzed by Tripathi et al. (2018), and their results indicate that any deviation from neutral pH significantly affects the structure of soil microorganisms. Furthermore, the research conducted by Kuzovkina et al. (2018) showed a significant positive effect of higher soil pH on the growth of willow, which may also increase the diversity of microorganisms by promoting P-solubilizing microorganism abundance. Although acidification is a strong indicator of P solubilization, we did not observe a positive correlation between those two factors in our analyses. The optimal pH for P solubilization appears to range from 5.5 to 7.5 (Alori et al., 2017), and at both of our sites, the pH was in the reported range. This indicates that there are other factors that can influence P solubilization efficiency.

For the bacterial community, the dominance of *Actinobacteria* and *Alphaproteobacteria* in the soil environment and willow roots was also reported by Tardif et al. (2016) and Yergeau et al. (2015). However, it should be mentioned that these studies were conducted

in contaminated areas that are usually dominated by Proteobacteria. In the abovementioned studies, as in our work, there was a difference in the bacterial community between the endo-and rhizosphere, which was evident in the significant differences in the abundances of Actinobacteria, Alphaproteobacteria and Firmicutes. Bacteria belonging to 10 different genera were observed. Among them, we found possible P solubilizers. Bacillus is a genus reportedly comprising many P-solubilizing organisms. They are also known for their antifungal properties and IAA and ACC deaminase synthesis (Cherif-Silini et al., 2016), Another efficient P-solubilizing genus of bacteria found in willows is Streptomyces. They are also known for their antifungal properties (Cao et al., 2004; Khamna et al., 2009; Jog et al., 2014). Other, not as explored, genera of P solubilizers found in our experiment are Gaiella and Nocardioides (Albuquerque et al., 2011). Nocardioides was also reported to possess the ability to degrade casein and Tweens 20, 40 and 80 (Roh et al., 2020). Additionally, in Figure 5D, it can be observed that bacteria from the genus Bradyrhizobium do not differ significantly between the variants, which suggests that they belong to the group of microorganisms characteristic of willow regardless of the tested variants of the experiment. Other genera found in our study were also reported and are briefly described in Supplementary Table S1A in the supplementary materials. The collection of isolated and characterized P-solubilizing bacteria will be used in our future experiments to select the most efficient P-solubilizing bacteria in short-rotation coppices of willow.

# Conclusion

The level of plant association (direct: endophytes vs. indirect: rhizosphere contact with plant tissue) is the most important factor shaping the bacterial community in willow short-rotation coppices, with dominance of Actinobacteria in the endosphere and Gammaproteobacteria and Bacilli in the rhizosphere. Cultivation of a mixed willow species system increases the abundance of P-solubilizing bacteria, which can ultimately minimize the problem of low P availability in agricultural soils and lower the need for fertilizer application.

# Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found below: https://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/bioproject, PRJNA716888; https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ genbank/, OP102593- OP102680.

# Author contributions

PK participated in all analyses and wrote the first version of the manuscript. BF participated in preparation of manuscript. MG

10

10.3389/fmicb.2022.1006722

designed the bioinformatics pipeline, performed bioinformatics analyses, and participated in the preparation of the manuscript. DT participated in manuscript preparations and total DNA isolations and prepared libraries required for sequencing. PK and BF analyzed the results and the statistical output. PK, CB, and MW performed sampling at the locations, selected plant genotypes for the experiments, and provided input to the manuscript. PH did soil analyses and participated in the preparation of the manuscript. KH designed and managed the field and lab experiments and participated in the preparation of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

# Funding

The establishment and management of the Swedish field trial was funded by grants from the Swedish Energy Agency (project nos. 36654-1 and 36654-2). Parts of the research in the Swedish trial were also funded by The Swedish Research Council Formas (project no. 942-2016-31). All microbiological and molecular analyses as well as manuscript editing were funded from the project: Universitas Copernicana Thoruniensis In Futuro – modernization of the Nicolaus Copernicus University as part of the Integrated University Program (project no. POWR.03.05.00-00-Z302/17-00)

# References

Ahemad, M., and Khan, M. S. (2011). Pseudomona saeruginosa strain PS1 enhances growth parameters of greengram [Vigna radiata (L.) Wilczek] in insecticide-stressed soils. J. Pest. Sci. 84, 123–131. doi: 10.1007/s10340-010-0335-0

Ahmad, M., Adil, Z., Hussain, A., Mumtaz, M. Z., Nafees, M., Ahmad, I., et al. (2019). Potential of phosphate solubilizing bacillus strains for improving growth and nutrient uptake in mungbean and maize crops. *Pak. J. Agric. Sci.* 56, 283–289. doi: 10.21162/PAKJAS/19.7455

Albuquerque, L., França, L., Rainey, F. A., Schumann, P., Nobre, M. F., and da Costa, M. S. (2011). *Gaiella acculta* gen. Nov., sp. nov., a novel representative of a deep branching phylogenetic lineage within the class *Actinobacteria* and proposal of Gaiellaceae fam. Nov. and Gaiellales Ord. Nov. *Syst. Appl. Microbiol.* 34, 595–599. doi: 10.1016/j.syapm.2011.07.001

Alori, E. T., Glick, B. R., and Babalola, O. O. (2017). Microbial phosphorus solubilization and its potential for use in sustainable agriculture. *Front. Microbiol.* 8:971. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.00971

Basu, A., Prasad, P., Das, S. N., Kalam, S., Sayyed, R. Z., Reddy, M. S., et al. (2021). Plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) as green bioinoculants: recent developments, constraints, and prospects. *Sustainability* 13:1140. doi: 10.3390/ su13031140

Billah, M., Khan, M., Bano, A., Hassan, T. U., Munir, A., and Gurmani, A. R. (2019). Phosphorus and phosphate solubilizing bacteria: keys for sustainable agriculture. *Geomicrobiol J.* 36, 904–916. doi: 10.1080/01490451.2019.1654043

Boubekri, K., Soumare, A., Mardad, I., Lyamlouli, K., Hafidi, M., Ouhdouch, Y., et al. (2021). The screening of potassium-and phosphate-solubilizing actinobacteria and the assessment of their ability to promote wheat growth parameters. *Microorganisms* 9:470. doi: 10.3390/microorganisms9030470

Cao, L., Qiu, Z., You, J., Tan, H., and Zhou, S. (2004). Isolation and characterization of endophytic streptomyces strains from surface-sterilized tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum*) roots. *Lett. Appl. Microbiol.* 39, 425–430. doi: 10.1111/j.1472-765X. 2004.01606.x

Chawngthu, L., Hnamte, R., and Lalfakzuala, R. (2020). Isolation and characterization of rhizospheric phosphate solubilizing bacteria from wetland paddy field of Mizoram, India. *Geomicrobiol. J.* 37, 366–375. doi: 10.1080/01490451. 2019.1709108

implemented under the Knowledge Education Development Operational Program.

# Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

# Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

# Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmicb.2022.1006722/ full#supplementary-material

Chen, Y. P., Rekha, P. D., Arun, A. B., Shen, F. T., Lai, W. A., and Young, C. C. (2006). Phosphate solubilizing bacteria from subtropical soil and their tricalcium phosphate solubilizing abilities. *Appl. Soil Ecol.* 34, 33–41. doi: 10.1016/j. apsoil.2005.12.002

Chen, J., Zhao, G., Wei, Y., Dong, Y., Hou, L., and Jiao, R. (2021). Isolation and screening of multifunctional phosphate solubilizing bacteria and its growth-promoting effect on Chinese fir seedlings. *Sci. Rep.* 11, 1–13. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-59793-8

Cherif-Silini, H., Silini, A., Yahiaoui, B., Ouzari, I., and Boudabous, A. (2016). Phylogenetic and plant-growth-promoting characteristics of bacillus isolated from the wheat rhizosphere. *Ann. Microbiol.* 66, 1087–1097. doi: 10.1007/ \$13213-016-1194-6

Divjot, K. O. U. R., Rana, K. L., Tanvir, K. A. U. R., Yadav, N., Yadav, A. N., Kumar, M., et al. (2021). Biodiversity. current developments and potential biotechnological applications of phosphorus-solubilizing and-mobilizing microbes: a review. Pedosphere 31, 43–75. doi: 10.1016/S1002-0160(20)60057-1

El Habil-Addas, F., Aarab, S., Rfaki, A., Laglaoui, A., Bakkali, M., and Arakrak, A. (2017). Screening of phosphate solubilizing bacterial isolates for improving growth of wheat. *Screening* 2, 7–11.

Frank, J. A., Reich, C. I., Sharma, S., Weisbaum, J. S., Wilson, B. A., and Olsen, G. J. (2008). Critical evaluation of two primers commonly used for amplification of bacterial 16S rRNA genes. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 74, 2461–2470. doi: 10.1128/ AEM.02272-07

Furtado, B. U., Szymańska, S., and Hrynkiewicz, K. (2019). A window into fungal endophytism in Salicornia europaea: deciphering fungal characteristics as plant growth promoting agents. *Plant Soil* 445, 577–594. doi: 10.1007/ s11104-019-04315-3

Gomez-Ramirez, L. F., and Uribe-Velez, D. (2021). Phosphorus solubilizing and mineralizing bacillus spp. contribute to rice growth promotion using soil amended with rice straw. *Curr. Microbiol.* 78, 932–943. doi: 10.1007/s00284-021-02354-7

Grafe, M., Goers, M., von Tucher, S., Baum, C., Zimmer, D., Leinweber, P., et al. (2018). Bacterial potentials for uptake, solubilization and mineralization of extracellular phosphorus in agricultural soils are highly stable under different fertilization regimes. *Environ. Microbiol. Rep.* 10, 320–327. doi: 10.1111/1758-2229. 12651

11

Guzmán, J. P. S., Reyes-Prieto, M., and Hart, S. C. (2021). Characterization of Erwinia gerundensis A4, an almond-derived plant growth-promoting endophyte. Front. Microbiol. 12. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2021.687971

Hoeber, S., Arranz, C., Nordh, N. E., Baum, C., Low, M., Nock, C., et al. (2018). Genotype identity has a more important influence than genotype diversity on shoot biomass productivity in willow short-rotation coppices. *GCB Bioenergy* 10, 534–547. doi:10.1111/gcbb.12521

Jacoby, R., Peukert, M., Succurro, A., Koprivova, A., and Kopriva, S. (2017). The role of soil microorganisms in plant mineral nutrition—current knowledge and future directions. *Front. Plant Sci.* 8:1617. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2017.01617

Jog, R., Pandya, M., Nareshkumar, G., and Rajkumar, S. (2014). Mechanism of phosphate solubilization and antifungal activity of Streptomyces spp. isolated from wheat roots and rhizosphere and their application in improving plant growth. *Microbiology* 160, 778–788. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.074146-0

Kalayu, G. (2019). Phosphate solubilizing microorganisms: promising approach as biofertilizers. Int. J. Agron. 2019, 1–7. doi: 10.1155/2019/4917256

Kaur, M., Sharma, S., and Mishra, A. (2011). Influence of phosphate solubilizing pseudomonas and bacillus strains on the growth of *Ashvagandha (Withania somnifera)*. Indian J. Agric. Res. 45.

Khamna, S., Yokota, A., Peberdy, J. F., and Lumyong, S. (2009). Antifungal activity of Streptomyces spp. isolated from rhizosphere of Thai medicinal plants. *Int. J. Integr. Biol.* 6, 143–147.

Khan, I., Ahmad, A., and Iqbal, M. (2009). Modulation of antioxidant defence system for arsenic detoxification in Indian mustard. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* 72, 626–634. doi: 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2007.11.016

Koczorski, P., Furtado, B. U., Golębiewski, M., Hulisz, P., Baum, C., Welh, M., et al. (2021). The effects of host plant genotype and environmental conditions on fungal community composition and phosphorus solubilization in willow short rotation coppice. Front. Plant Sci. 12:647709. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2021.647709

Kumar, S., Stecher, G., Li, M., Knyaz, C., and Tamura, K. (2018). MEGA X: molecular evolutionary genetics analysis across computing platforms. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 35, 1547–1549. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msy096

Kurek, E., Ozimek, E., Sobiczewski, P., Słomka, A., and Jaroszuk-Ścisel, J. (2013). Effect of Pseudomonas luteola on mobilization of phosphorus and growth of young apple trees (Ligol)—pot experiment. *Sci. Hortic.* 164, 270–276. doi: 10.1016/j. scienta.2013.09.012

Kuzovkina, Y. A., Schulthess, C. P., and Zheng, D. (2018). Influence of soil chemical and physical characteristics on willow yield in Connecticut. *Biomass Bioenergy* 108, 297–306. doi: 10.1016/j.biombioe.2017.11.021

Lauber, C. L., Strickland, M. S., Bradford, M. A., and Fierer, N. (2008). The influence of soil properties on the structure of bacterial and fungal communities across land-use types. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 40, 2407–2415. doi: 10.1016/j. soilbio.2008.05.021

Letunic, I., and Bork, P. (2016). Interactive tree of life (iTOL) v3: an online tool for the display and annotation of phylogenetic and other trees. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 44, W242–W245. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkw290

Li, T., Mann, R., Kaur, J., Spangenberg, G., and Sawbridge, T. (2021). Transcriptome analyses of barley roots inoculated with novel *Paenibacillus* sp. and *Erwinia gerundensis* strains reveal beneficial early-stage plant-bacteria interactions. *Plan. Theory* 10:1802. doi: 10.3390/plants10091802

Liu, X., Jiang, X., He, X., Zhao, W., Cao, Y., Guo, T., et al. (2019). Phosphatesolubilizing pseudomonas sp. strain P34-L promotes wheat growth by colonizing the wheat rhizosphere and improving the wheat root system and soil phosphorus nutritional status. *J. Plant Growth Regul.* 38, 1314–1324. doi: 10.1007/ s00344-019-09935-8

Liu, Z., Li, Y. C., Zhang, S., Fu, Y., Fan, X., Patel, J. S., et al. (2015). Characterization of phosphate-solubilizing bacteria isolated from calcareous soils. *Appl. Soil Ecol.* 96, 217–224. doi: 10.1016/j.apsoil.2015.08.003

Nautiyal, C. S. (1999). An efficient microbiological growth medium for screening phosphate solubilizing microorganisms. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 170, 265–270. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6968.1999.tb13383.x

Papik, J., Folkmanova, M., Polivkova-Majorova, M., Suman, J., and Uhlik, O. (2020). The invisible life inside plants: deciphering the riddles of endophytic bacterial diversity. *Biotechnol. Adv.* 44:107614. doi: 10.1016/j.biotechadv.2020.107614

Pikovskaya, R. I. (1948). Mobilization of phosphorus in soil in connection with vital activity of some microbial species. *Mikrobiologiya* 17, 362–370.

Prabhu, N., Borkar, S., and Garg, S. (2019). Phosphate solubilization by microorganisms: overview, mechanisms, applications and advances. *Adv. Biol. Sci. Res.* 11, 161–176. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-817497-5.00011-2

Rahman, C. H., Ahcene, B., Miloud, B., and Rachid, D. (2017). Screening and characterization of plant growth promoting traits of phosphate solubilizing bacteria isolated from wheat rhizosphere of Algerian saline soil. *Malaysian J. Microbiol.* 13, 124–131.

Rathinasabapathi, B., Liu, X., Cao, Y., and Ma, L. Q. (2018). "Phosphatesolubilizing pseudomonads for improving crop plant nutrition and agricultural productivity," in *Crop Improvement through Microbial Biotechnology* (Amsterdam: Elsevier), 363–372.

Rawat, P., Das, S., Shankhdhar, D., and Shankhdhar, S. C. (2021). Phosphatesolubilizing microorganisms: mechanism and their role in phosphate solubilization and uptake. *J. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* 21, 49–68. doi: 10.1007/ 42729-020-00342-7

Rezzonico, F., Smits, T. H., Born, Y., Blom, J., Frey, J. E., Goesmann, A., et al. (2016). Erwinia gerundensis sp. nov., a cosmopolitan epiphyte originally isolated from pome fruit trees. *Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol.* 66, 1583–1592. doi: 10.1099/ ijsem.0.00020

Rfaki, A., Zennouhi, O., Aliyat, F. Z., Nassiri, L., and Ibijbijen, J. (2020). Isolation, selection and characterization of root-associated rock phosphate solubilizing bacteria in moreccan wheat (*Triticum aestivum L.*). *Geomicrobiol J.* 37, 230–241. doi: 10.1080/01490451.2019.1694106

Roh, S. G., Lee, C., Kim, M. K., Kang, H. J., Kim, Y. S., Kim, M. J., et al. (2020). Nocardioides euryhalodurans sp. nov, Nocardioides seonyuensis sp. nov. and Nocardioides eburyhaniflavus sp. nov, isolated from soil. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 70, 2682–2689. doi: 10.1099/ijsem.0.004095

Saitou, N., and Nei, M. (1987). The neighbor-joining method: a new method for reconstructing phylogenetic trees. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 4, 406–425. PMID: 3447015

Sarikhani, M. R., Khoshru, B., and Greiner, R. (2019). Isolation and identification of temperature tolerant phosphate solubilizing bacteria as a potential microbial fertilizer. *World J. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 35, 1–10. doi: 10.1007/s11274-019-2702-1

Sarker, A., Talukder, N. M., and Islam, M. T. (2014). Phosphate solubilizing bacteria promote growth and enhance nutrient uptake by wheat. *Plant Sci. Today* 1, 86–93. doi: 10.14719/pst.2014.1.2.25

Schweier, J., Arranz, C., Nock, C. A., Jaeger, D., and Scherer-Lorenzen, M. (2019). Impact of increased genotype or species diversity in short rotation coppice on biomass production and wood characteristics. *Bioenergy Res.* 12, 497–508. doi: 10.1007/s12155-019-09997-2

Tardif, S., Yergeau, E., Tremblay, J., Legendre, P., Whyte, L. G., and Greer, C. W. (2016). The willow microbiome is influenced by soil petroleum-hydrocarbon concentration with plant compartment-specific effects. *Front. Microbiol.* 7:1363. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2016.01363

Taulé, C., Vaz-Jauri, P., and Battistoni, F. (2021). Insights into the early stages of plant–endophytic bacteria interaction. World J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 37, 1–9. doi: 10.1007/s11274-020-02966-4

Teng, Z., Shao, W., Zhang, K., Huo, Y., and Li, M. (2019). Characterization of phosphate solubilizing bacteria isolated from heavy metal contaminated soils and their potential for lead immobilization. J. Environ. Manag. 231, 189–197. doi: 10.1016/j.jenvman.2018.10.012

Thiem, D., Gołębiewski, M., Hulisz, P., Piernik, A., and Hrynkiewicz, K. (2018). How does salinity shape bacterial and fungal microbiomes of Alnus glutinosa roots? *Front. Microbiol.* 9:651. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.00651

Tripathi, B. M., Stegen, J. C., Kim, M., Dong, K., Adams, J. M., and Lee, Y. K. (2018). Soil pH mediates the balance between stochastic and deterministic assembly of bacteria. *ISME J*. 12, 1072–1083. doi: 10.1038/s41396-018-0082-4

Van Reeuwijk, L. P., (2002). Procedures for Soil Analysis, 6th Edition, Technical Paper 9. International Soil Reference Centre (ISRIC), Wageningen.

Viruel, E., Erazzú, L. E., Martínez Calsina, L., Ferrero, M. A., Lucca, M. E., and Siñeriz, F. (2014). Inoculation of maize with phosphate solubilizing bacteria: effect on plant growth and yield. *J. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* 14, 819–831. doi: 10.4067/ S0718-95162014005000065

Wang, Y. Y., Li, P. S., Zhang, B. X., Wang, Y. P., Meng, J., Gao, Y. F., et al. (2020). Identification of phosphate-solubilizing microorganisms and determination of their phosphate-solubilizing activity and growth-promoting capability. *Bioresources* 15, 2560–2578. doi: 10.15376/biores.15.2.2560-2578

Wani, P. A., Zaidi, A., Khan, A. A., and Khan, M. S. (2005). Effect of phorate on phosphate solubilization and indole acetic acid releasing potentials of rhizospheric microorganisms. *Ann. Plant Prot. Sci.* 13, 139–144. doi: 10.1016/j.jarc.2021.08.014

Weih, M., Glynn, C., and Baum, C. (2019). Willow short-rotation coppice as model system for exploring ecological theory on biodiversity-ecosystem function. *Diversity* 11:125. doi: 10.3390/d11080125

Yergeau, E., Bell, T. H., Champagne, J., Maynard, C., Tardif, S., Tremblay, J., et al. (2015). Transplanting soil microbiomes leads to lasting effects on willow growth, but not on the rhizosphere microbiome. *Front. Microbiol.* 6:1436. doi: 10.3389/ fmicb.2015.01436

Yu, X., Liu, X., Zhu, T. H., Liu, G. H., and Mao, C. (2011). Isolation and characterization of phosphate-solubilizing bacteria from walnut and their effect on growth and phosphorus mobilization. *Biol. Fertil. Soils* 47, 437–446. doi: 10.1007/ s00374-011-0548-2

# Large effect of phosphorus-solubilizing bacteria on the growth and gene expression of *Salix* spp. at low phosphorus levels

# Piotr Koczorski<sup>1</sup>, Bliss Ursula Furtado<sup>1</sup>, Christel Baum<sup>2</sup>, Martin Weih<sup>3</sup>, Pär Ingvarsson<sup>4</sup>, Piotr Hulisz<sup>5</sup> and Katarzyna Hrynkiewicz<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Biological and Veterinary Sciences, Nicolaus Copernicus University, Torun, Poland

<sup>2</sup>Soil Science, Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences, University of Rostock, Rostock, Germany

<sup>3</sup>Department of Crop Production Ecology, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden

<sup>4</sup>Linnean Centre for Plant Biology, Department of Plant Biology, Uppsala BioCenter, Swedish University of Agricultural Science, Uppsala, Sweden

<sup>5</sup>Department of Soil Science and Landscape Management, Faculty of Earth Sciences and Spatial Management, Nicolaus Copernicus University, Torun, Poland

\* Correspondence: Katarzyna Hrynkiewicz; hrynk@umk.pl

Keywords: transcriptome analysis, willow, phosphate solubilization, phosphatesolubilizing microorganism, differential gene expression

# Abstract

Phosphorus (P) is one of the most important nutrients required for plant growth and development. However, owing to its low availability in the soil, phosphorus is also one of the most difficult elements for plants to acquire. Phosphorus released into the soil from bedrock quickly becomes unavailable to plants, forming poorly soluble complexes. Phosphorussolubilizing bacteria (PSB) can solubilize unavailable phosphorus-containing compounds into forms in which phosphorus is readily available, thus promoting plant growth. In this study, two willow species, Salix dasyclados cv. Loden and Salix schwerinii × Salix viminalis cv. Tora, were inoculated with two selected bacterial strains, Pantoea agglomerans and Paenibacillus spp., to evaluate the plant growth parameters and changes in gene expression in the presence of different concentrations of tricalcium phosphate: 0 mM (NP), 1 mM (LP), and 2 mM (HP). Inoculation with PSB increased root, shoot and leaf biomass, and for the HP treatment, significant changes in growth patterns were observed. However, the growth responses to plant treatments tested depended on the willow species. Analysis of the leaf transcriptomes of the phosphate-solubilizing bacterium-inoculated plants showed a large variation in gene expression between the two willow species. For the Tora willow species, upregulation of genes was observed, particularly for those involved in pathways related to photosynthesis, and this effect was strongly influenced by bacterial phosphorus solubilization. The Loden willow species was characterized by a general downregulation of genes involved in pathway activity that included ion transport, transcription regulation and chromosomes. The results obtained in this study provide an improved understanding of the dynamics of *Salix* growth and gene expression under the influence of PSB, contributing to an increase in yield and phosphorus-use efficiency.
#### Introduction

Phosphorus is a key element required for proper plant development, and its deficiency can lead to disrupted shoot growth, delayed plant maturation, reduced plant resistance to pathogens or reduced leaf area and number (Prabhu et al., 2019). Furthermore, phosphorus in the soil is nonrenewable, and research in recent years confirms that the demand for this element is continually increasing (Bindraban et al., 2020). Modern artificial fertilizers contain phosphorus most often in the form of rock phosphate or superphosphate, the sources of which are limited worldwide, and their increasing price is becoming a serious problem for farmers wishing to use this type of fertilizer. In the soil, phosphorus compounds unavailable to plants can exist in two forms, namely, inorganic form and organic form, and only mineralization and solubilization processes can result in these phosphorus forms becoming available to plants (Richardson and Simpson, 2011). Soil phosphorus availability is impacted by pH (Penn and Camberato, 2019). In general, two phosphorus solubility maxima are observed at approximately pH levels of 4.5 and 6.5, which are associated with the lowest degree of P fixation by Ca, Al, and Fe minerals (Barrow, 2017; Penn and Camberato, 2019). In acidic soils, the dominant forms of inorganic phosphorus are aluminium (AlPO<sub>4</sub>-2H<sub>2</sub>O) or iron (FePO<sub>4</sub>-2H<sub>2</sub>O) compounds (Kalayu, 2019; Zhang et al., 2019). In alkaline soils, low-soluble and indirectly plant-available calcium compounds (dicalcium phosphate (DCP), tricalcium phosphate (TCP), etc.) are most often found (Bashan et al., 2021). In these form, phosphorus can be leached from soils and ends up in groundwater and lakes until it reaches the bottom of the oceans where it is unrecoverable (Bashan et al., 2021).

Phosphorus-solubilizing microorganisms (PSMs) can play a key role in the conversion of phosphorus compounds into bioavailable forms for plant uptake. Interest in this particular group of microorganisms and in the possibilities for their practical use in agriculture and forestry has been particularly important in recent years due to climate change, soil contamination by excessive use of fertilizers, drought and overexploitation of agricultural land (Tian et al. 2021). Knowledge of PSMs is progressively advancing by scientists from all over the world. A key action that would allow full use of PSMs in practice is the selection of strains with the highest efficiency, i.e., the ability to solubilize phosphorus compounds. PSMs can enhance phosphorus solubilization directly, e.g., through proton efflux, synthesis of acid and alkaline phosphatases or chelation of iron ions (*via* siderophores) (Tian et al. 2021). PSMs can also indirectly improve the ability of plants to take up nutrients (including phosphorus) through

phytostimulation (synthesis of indole-acetic acid (IAA) or ACC deaminase) or the production of hydrolytic enzymes (Richardson and Simpson 2021). Microorganisms in this group can promote the development of the plant root system and increased uptake efficiency of other key nutrients needed by plants (Bargaz et al. 2021). For this reason, PSMs are used as key components of engineered biofertilizers in modern agriculture, for example, in wheat, maize, rice or fruit trees such as apple trees (Kurek et al., 2013; Viruel et al., 2014; Liu et al. 2019; Kour et al., 2020).

We chose two *Salix* species that are commonly grown as short-rotation coppices in Europe as a renewable energy source as model plant species. The two *Salix* species, Loden and Tora, are characterized by substantial morphological differences. Most of the biomass of Loden willow species is allocated to the leaves, while that of Tora is mainly allocated to the shoots (Hoeber et al., 2018). In general, *Salix* species are also considered P efficient, suggesting that microorganisms associated with these plant species help promote their ability to solubilize and maintain stable P levels in the soil, making them the perfect model plant species for both investigation of microbial diversity and phosphorus-focused research.

Currently, in terms of phosphorus, most attention is given to understanding plant responses to phosphorus deficiency alone, without no consideration of the influence of microorganisms on this process (Ren et al., 2018; Mo et al., 2019; Wang et al. 2019, Zhang et al. 2019; Sun et al. 2021). Analysing the transcriptome of a plant inoculated with PSMs can help provide answers on the extent to which PSMs affect or influence their plant host. Under phosphorus-deficiency stress, plants activate gene expression cascades responsible for the synthesis of auxins, abscisic acid, jasmonic acid, salicylic acid and ethylene (Sun et al. 2016). Researchers have investigated the interactions of plants with arbuscular fungi and the effects of these interactions on the plant transcriptome (Liu et al. 2020; Ray et al. 2021). Fungi are responsible for activating genes responsible for auxin synthesis and responses to nitrogen or phosphorus deficiency (Ludwig-Müller et al., 2015). In terms of phosphorus metabolism, fungi are capable of activating genes responsible for the synthesis of phosphatases or genes related to the transport of phosphorus in plant tissues (Ray et al. 2021). However, there is a large gap in knowledge, as little attention has been given to the effect of bacteria on plants under phosphorus-deficient conditions. Soni (2021) and his team examined the effect of the bacterium Paenibacillus polymyxa on the tobacco transcriptome. The researchers observed that in addition to activating genes responsible for promoting plant growth, bacteria can influence the transcription of many genes responsible for phosphorus transport (pstA, pstB, pstC, pstS, phnD

or phnE) within the plant. However, this was the only publication we could find on the subject. A more in-depth understanding of the effects of bacteria on the plant transcriptome will allow a more accurate determination of their positive effects on plants, resulting in more effective bioinoculants in the future.

This study aimed to assess the effect of inoculation with phosphorus-solubilizing bacterial strains on the growth and gene expression dynamics in the leaves of two *Salix* species grown under three different phosphate concentrations. Therefore, our research involved screening from a pool of 64 phosphorus-solubilizing bacterial strains obtained in our previous study (Koczorski et al. (2022)) and selecting strains with the highest efficiency for solubilization of TCP and DCP for in vitro experiments. Second, evaluation of their potential to promote plant growth under conditions of phosphorus deficiency in the media was not only determined based on plant growth parameters but also characterized by the level of gene expression changes during plant inoculation with the phosphorus-solubilizing bacterial strains. We hypothesize that phosphorus-solubilizing bacterial strains not only can solubilize phosphate in the substrate but also can regulate phosphorus-related pathways in plants as well as stimulate plant growth and development. We speculate that at the initial stages of *Salix* growth, the effect of phosphorus-solubilizing bacteria (PSB) will be noticeable at the transcriptomic level in the leaf tissue.

#### **Materials and Methods**

#### Phosphorus-solubilizing bacterial strain collection

The phosphorus-solubilizing bacterial strains used in this experiment are part of a collection reported in our previous study (Koczorski et al., 2021). The bacteria were isolated (autumn 2018) from the roots and rhizosphere soil of two willow species: 'Tora' (Svalöf-Weibull (SW species No. 910007, *S. schwerinii* × *S. viminalis*) and 'Loden' (SW 890129, *S. dasyclados*). These willow trees were grown at two test sites established in 2014 as part of the ECOLINK project in Uppsala (Sweden) and Rostock (Germany) (Hoeber et al., 2018). The selection of PSB was performed using three selection media containing calcium triphosphate (National Botanical Research Institute's phosphate growth medium (NBRIP) and Pikovskaya (PVK)) or calcium diphosphate (DCP) as phosphorus sources (Koczorski et al., 2021). The bacteria that showed the ability to solubilize phosphorus (presence of halo zones) were classified into the PSB group and identified based on their 16S rRNA sequences (OP102593-OP102680) (Koczorski et al., 2021).

## Selection of phosphorus-solubilizing bacterial strains with the highest phosphorus solubilization efficiency

In the present study, a total of 64 bacterial strains from the PSB collection belonging to the species *Pseudomonas, Bacillus, Erwinia, Serratia, Paenibacillus* or *Burkholderia* (Koczorski et al 2022) were screened. Solid NBRIP and DCP media were used to select the phosphorus-solubilizing bacterial strains with the highest efficiency for phosphorus solubilization (the composition of the media is given in Koczorski et al., 2021). The bacteria were spot inoculated onto media (4 strains per Petri plate), and there were three replicates. The bacteria were cultured in the dark at 28°C, and the diameter of the halo zone was measured after 1, 5 and 10 days of culture. The results obtained were statistically analysed; the 10 most efficient phosphorus-solubilizing bacterial strains were selected and used for further analysis. The 10 selected bacteria did not include strains that were pathogenic to humans and plants, despite their high activity (data verified based on published literature).

The ten phosphorus-solubilizing bacterial strains selected in the previous step were tested in liquid NBRIP media. NBRIP medium was chosen since plants cannot efficiently solubilize TCP on their own (Ticconiand Abel, 2004). In this part of the experiment, three different P concentrations were used, namely, 0 M (NP), 1.0 M (0.3129 g/L TCP) (LP) and 2.0

M (0.6259 g/L TCP) (HP), and noninoculated media with the same variants were maintained as controls. The concentration of available P in the liquid NBRIP medium for all 10 strains was determined using the spectrophotometric molybdenum blue method (30 samples in total). Based on a statistical analysis, the 2 most effective phosphorus-solubilizing bacterial strains, *Paenibacillus* spp. and *Pantoea agglomerans*, were selected and used to inoculate the plants in the pot experiment.

# Inoculation of two willow species with PSB in conjunction with varying phosphorous contents

Pots were divided into two compartments using membranes and filled with sterile sand. Loden and Tora willow cuttings with two or more nodes were inserted into the pots such that there were two cuttings per pot. To minimize the effect of phosphorus sorption in the soil, quartz sand was used as a substrate. The pot experiment was designed to include three phosphorus concentrations and two willow species for inoculation treatments (control (Ctr), bacterium 1 (Pantoea agglomerans) and bacterium 2 (Paenibacillus spp.)). The temperature in the room was set to 22°C with a photoperiod comprising 10 hours of light and 14 hours of darkness. After the cuttings acclimated for 7 days, with the exception of the control plants, the pots were inoculated with bacteria. The plants were watered thrice a week with a fertilizer solution with one of three different P concentrations (NP, LP, HP) for 1 month. We aimed to reach the final P concentrations (0.3129 g/L for LP and 0.6259 g/L for HP) in the first week of the experiment. After the plants were cultivated for 5 weeks, we harvested them and measured the length of their roots and shoots, along with measuring the fresh weights of their roots, shoots and leaves. In addition, the total P content in leaves at the end of the experiment was examined via inductively coupled plasma-optical emission spectrometry (ICP-OES). The available P in soil substrate was measured using the spectrophotometric molybdenum blue method after sample extraction with 1% citric acid solution (Van Reeuwijk, 2002) for all the analysed variants in the experiment (180 samples in total). A portion of the leaves obtained at harvest was flash frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C.

#### Statistical analysis

The plant growth parameters (leaf weight, shoot weight, root weight, shoot length, root length) and phosphorus concentrations in leaves and soil were analysed using STATISTICA v.13.3.721 (StatSoft, Poland). As the results obtained were not normally distributed, the

Kruskal–Wallis test was used to determine significant differences. Dunn's post hoc test was performed to determine differences between inoculation variants, different phosphorus concentrations and the willow genotypes used. The data were analysed using 3-way ANOVA, with soil P concentration (3 levels), *Salix* species (2 levels) and bacterial inoculation (2 levels) included as factors, and their interactions were also evaluated. The response variables included all the growth parameters and P concentrations in the soil and plant leaves.

#### **RNA** isolation

Total RNA was extracted from 100 mg of leaf tissue and crushed in sterile mortars filled with liquid nitrogen. RNA extraction was performed according to the protocol of Chomczynski and Sacchi (2006), with slight modifications. A total of 1000  $\mu$ l of TRIzol reagent (Life Technologies, Poland) was added to the crushed leaf material, which was then incubated for 5 minutes at room temperature. Then, 300  $\mu$ l of chloroform was added, after which the material was incubated for 15 minutes and then centrifuged at 12000 rpm for 15 minutes. A mixture of 0.8 M sodium chloride, 1.2 M sodium citrate and 200  $\mu$ l of isopropanol was added to the upper layer of the supernatant, after which the mixture was centrifuged. The resulting pellet was washed twice with 75% ethanol. The RNA pellet was then resuspended in RNAse-free water (50  $\mu$ l) and stored at -80°C. The RNA samples were outsourced to the company Novogene (Great Britain) for library preparation and transcriptome analysis.

## Transcriptome analysis

The reference genome of *Salix viminalis* was acquired from Almeida et al. (2020). The total RNA was sequenced using the Illumina platform in conjunction with P5 (P5-AATGATACGGCGACCACCGAGA (5'-3') and P5'-TTACTATGCCGCTGGTGGCTCT (3'-5')and **P**7 adapters (CGTATGCCGTCTTCTGCTTG-P7' (5'-3')and CATACGGCAGAAGACGAAC-P7 (3'-5')). After the removal of reads that were contaminated with adapter sequences, that included unknown nucleotides that constituted more than 10% of either read (N > 10%) and that were of low quality (base quality < 5) and constituted more than 50% of the sequence, the genome of Salix viminalis retrieved from the European Nucleotide Archive (ENA) was used as a reference for mapping using HISAT2 (cite the publication of this reference). Assembly of the sequences was performed using StringTie software with transcripts of class code type 'u'. Quantification was performed using featureCounts, and a differential analysis was performed using DESeq2 and edgeR with the following parameters:  $|\log 2(\text{fold-change})| \ge 1 \& \text{padj} \le 0.05$ . Finally, enrichment analysis was performed using clusterProfiler with a padj  $\le 0.05$ .

## Results

## Selection of bacterial strains with the highest efficiency of P solubilization

The solubilization indices obtained from the experiment (given in the range from 0 to 1.6) are presented in the form of a heatmap where for each experimental variant (growth medium: DCP and NBRIP, strain: 64 in total and time of cultivation: 1, 5 and 10 days), the values are indicated based on colour differences (from blue to yellow) (Figure 1 A-B). The values in Figure 1 are sorted according to the P solubilization efficiency measured on the NBRIP medium after 1 day of bacterial cultivation as the main criterion for the selection of microorganisms for further studies.



Figure 1 Heatmap of bacteria isolates ordered according to their P solubilization efficiency after 1 day of growth (from down to top). Activity was measured using solubilization index (from halo zone diameter we subtracted colony diameter). Measurements were taken after day 1, 5 and 10 from two selective media DCP and TCP. Blue colour indicates low solubilization index, while yellow high solubilization index.

Of the 64 strains tested, 15 with the strongest ability to solubilize P on DCP and NBRIP solid media were selected. In this group, we observed a predominance of species of the genus

Bacillus (7 out of 15: Bacillus megaterium, Bacillus aryabhattai, Bacillus spp. and Bacillus mycoides); Erwinia (2 out of 15: Erwinia spp.); and single strains of Rhizobium spp., Streptomyces spp., Pantoea agglomerans, Paenibacillus spp., Caballeronia glathei and Serratia spp. The strains with the highest activity on NBRIP media after 10 days of incubation belonged to Bacillus megaterium, Erwinia spp., Bacillus spp. and Bacillus aryabhattai. The second DCP medium showed a slightly different distribution of strains in terms of their activity. Among the 15 strains previously selected (based on the NBRIP medium), only four displayed high activity for P solubilization of DCP: Caballeronia glathei, Bacillus aryabhattai, Pantoea agglomerans and Paenibacillus spp. Notably, the strains with the highest activity on the DCP medium included Pseudomonas frederiksbergensis, Mitsuaria spp., Paenibacillus spp. and Pseudomonas spp. Among the group of strains, Bacillus megaterium, Bacillus aryabhattai, Erwinia spp. and Caballeronia glathei were excluded from further study, as they were previously reported to be potential plant pathogens (Abdel-Monaim et al., 2012, Narsing Rao et al., 2019, Dobritsa et al., 2019, Parcey et al. 2022). A more detailed quantitative determination of bacterial P solubilization efficiency in liquid media (NBRIP) with different P contents showed that *Rhizobium* spp., *Pantoea agglomerans*, and *Paenibacillus* spp. were most efficient at solubilizing P compounds (Figure 2). Among the strains with significantly lower activity were Streptomyces spp., Bacillus megaterium, Bacillus aryabhattai, Acinetobacter spp. and Pseudomonas spp., while the Mitsuaria spp. and Rhizobium lusitanum strains displayed the lowest activity (Figure 2). These last two strains were excluded from subsequent stages of the study. Rhizobium spp. emerged as members among the most active strains; however, this species is not a typical endophyte and was excluded from further stages of the study.



Figure 2 P solubilization level represented by presence of  $PO_{4}^{-3}$  in 0,5 ml of bacteria inoculum ( $OD_{600}$  0.10) in liquid TCP medium. Media were supplemented with 3 different P concentrations: NoP – blue, LowP – red, HighP – green. Letters indicate significant differences between bacteria for each P variant.

## Bacterial contribution to plant growth promotion under phosphorus-limited conditions

All experimental factors (3 P concentrations, 2 willow species and 2 bacterial inoculations) showed statistically significant effects on most plant growth parameters (Table 1; Supplementary Figure 1,2). A slightly better plant growth stimulation effect was observed for *Paenibacillus* spp. than for the other species (B2). Significant differences were also observed in response to different concentrations of P in the soil substrate. The positive or negative effects of the bacteria were dependent on the parameters tested, and the direction of change varied between the willow species and the bacterial variants (e.g., significant inoculation x species interactions listed in Table 1). High P concentrations in the soil significantly increased root fresh weight and length, while a decrease in leaf fresh weight was observed (Table 1). Soil P effects on plant growth patterns varied between the two willow species (e.g., the significant species x factor interaction effects in Table 1). Changes in soil P concentration did not affect the P content in the leaves (Supplementary Figure 3). Only B1 showed a significant decrease

in leaf P content for the LP and HP treatments compared to the NP treatment for both Loden and Tora (Supplementary Figure 3A-B).

	Root length			Shoot length			Wet weight of roots			Wet weight of leaf			Wet weight of shoot		
	MS effect	F	p-level	MS effect	F	p-level	MS effect	F	p-level	MS effect	F	p-level	MS effect	F	p-level
(1) Inoculation	145.42*	20.198*	0.00000*	1891.82*	99.578*	0.00000*	1.78164*	139.884*	0.00000*	30.4661*	130.063*	0.00000*	6.0201*	44.970*	0.00000*
(2) P concentration	92.89*	12.902*	0.00001*	81.30*	4.280*	0.01677*	2.27967*	178.986*	0.00000*	7.1424*	30.491*	0.00000*	1.7321*	12.939*	0.00001*
(3) Species	1068.67*	148.435*	0.00000*	264.36*	13.915*	0.00033*	2.41824*	189.865*	0.00000*	0.1916	0.818	0.368185	3.1836*	23.781*	0.00001*
(1) x (2)	163.31*	22.684*	0.00000*	280.32*	14.755*	0.00000*	0.17112*	13.435*	0.00000*	2.4937*	10.646*	0.00000*	1.0162*	7.591*	0.00003*
(1) x (3)	193.21*	26.836*	0.00000*	38.16	2.009	0.140142	0.31205*	24.500*	0.00000*	0.1297	0.554	0.576823	1.9774*	14.771*	0.00000*
(2) x (3)	154.13*	21.408*	0.00000*	315.16*	16.589*	0.00000*	1.43592*	112.740*	0.00000*	4.9392*	21.086*	0.00000*	0.0498	0.372	0.690559
(1) x (2) x (3)	122.62*	17.032*	0.00000*	357.90*	18.839*	0.00000*	0.56060*	44.015*	0.00000*	1.8046*	7.704*	0.00002*	1.1084*	8.280*	0.00001*
Error	7.20			19.00			0.01274			0.2342			0.1339		
Tukey test for unequal	sample sizes:														
(1) Inoculation	Ctr	11.62 A		<u>Ctr</u>	21.16 A		Ctr	0.38 A		<u>Ctr</u>	1.12 A		<u>Ctr</u>	1.07 A	
	B1	12.38 A		B1	31.41 B		B1	0.58 B		B1	2.74 B		B1	1.55 B	
	B2	15.42 B		B2	35.16 C		<b>B</b> 2	0.83 C		<b>B</b> 2	2.69 B		<b>B</b> 2	1.89 C	
(2) P concentration	NP	11.29 A		No P	30.62 B		No P	0.36 A		No P	2.67 C		No P	1.41 A	-
	LP	14.19 B		Low P	27.64 A		Low P	0.57 B		Low P	2.08 B		Low P	1.35 A	
	HP	13.93 B		High P	29.47 AB		High P	0.86 C		High P	1.80 A		High P	1.76 B	
(3) Species	Loden	9.99 A		Loden	27.68 A		Loden	0.45 A		Loden	2.23 A		Loden	1.68 B	
	Tora	16.28 B		Tora	30.81 B		Tora	0.75 B		Tora	2.14 A		Tora	1.33 A	
Table 1 A	NOVA resu	lts for th	he effec	ts of bac	terial In	oculatio	on (B1, E	32), soil	P conce	entration	(NP, L	P, HP)	and willo	ow plar	ıt

Species (Loden, Tora) on various plant growth traits. \* indicate significant difference.

## Transcriptome analysis of two willow species in response to inoculation and limited phosphorus concentrations

A transcriptome analysis of two willow species was performed to determine the effects of inoculation with the two selected PSB (B1 and B2) and different concentrations of P compounds (NP, LP and HP). The most distinctive difference was observed for plants inoculated with B2 of the Loden variety compared with the Ctr, where 2147 genes were downregulated and 2296 genes were upregulated. In addition, a similar trend was observed for both willow species in the HP and LP treatments: there was a greater number of genes that were upregulated compared to those in the NP treatment, the number of which ranged from 426 to 1920 genes (Supplementary Figure 4). No significant trend was observed in terms of downregulation of genes. The average numbers of all genes in Loden and Tora whose transcription patterns differed from those of the control variant were approximately 2500 and 1000, respectively. According to Venn diagrams for the Loden species, a pool of genes common to both the Ctr and B1 and B2 variants was lower in the NP (15009 genes) treatment compared to the LP (18099 genes) and HP (18054 genes) treatments (Figure 3A-C). In addition, a very low number of common genes between the B1 variants and the Ctr were observed in the LP treatment for the Loden (Figure 4B) and Tora (Figure 3E) variants, which were 355 and 430, respectively, the lowest values recorded. As shown in Figure 8, a Gene Ontology (GO) enrichment analysis was performed, and the 30 most differentially expressed genes associated with p values under 0.05 are presented for three P concentrations and two inoculation variants (bacteria B1 and B2 are compared to the corresponding non inoculated Ctr). Analysing the effect of different P concentrations on the Loden willow species, we characterized the molecular functions in the NP treatments according to the presence of a large number of genes responsible for tetrapyrrole binding, haem binding, iron ion binding, GTP binding or ribonucleotide binding (Figure 4A-B). The LP treatment revealed a high number of genes responsible for the process of translation, and the HP treatment displayed a high number of genes associated with cytoskeleton formation and rearrangement (Figure 5A-B, Figure 6A-B). In the case of the inoculation effect, the Loden variants inoculated with B1 (rather than B2) demonstrated a high expression of genes involved in cell membrane structure, phosphatase activity and acid phosphatase activity (Figure 4, 5, 6). The variants inoculated with B2 were characterized by genes involved in hydrolase activity and pyrophosphatase activity and many genes related to cation and ion transport (Figure 4, 5, 6). For the LP treatment, significant changes in the molecular functions of plants inoculated with B1 and B2 were observed, although some similarities were detected. In response to this variant, a significant increase in the number of genes responsible for DNA binding and regulation of transcription and translation was observed (Figure 5A-B). However, enrichment of GO terms related to direct phosphorus solubilization was not observed. Similar to the NP treatment, a number of genes responsible for the biosynthesis and metabolism of peptides that make up cell membranes were noted. In the category of biological processes, the variants inoculated with B1 under LP revealed processes related to the stress response (especially oxidative stress) and the plant defence system (Figure 5A). In the HP treatment, a shift from transcription to translation and, in particular, to ribosome synthesis was observed for the genes (Figure 5A-B). Moreover, genes related to chromatin formation and the formation of ribonucleoprotein complexes were found. For the NP, LP and HP treatments, GO terms associated with cell membranes were detected among the differentially expressed genes. The plants inoculated with B2 for HP were also characterized by genes related to different types of hydrolases, which was not observed in response to B1.



Figure 3 Venn diagrams representing common and unique genes expressed among inoculation variants. Loden – A,B and C; Tora – D,E andF;C – non inoculated control; B1 – Bacteria 1; B2 – Bacteria 2; NoP – No Phosphorus; LP – LowP; HP- HighP.

For the Tora willow species under NP, a high frequency of genes responsible for transcription, DNA binding and organic acid metabolism was observed (Figure 4C-D). Plants under the LP treatments were characterized by genes associated with transport and pollination, whereas under HP, a high frequency of genes associated with chloroplasts, thylakoids and photosystems I and II was observed (Figure 5C-D, Figure 6C-D). For the effect of inoculation, B1-inoculated plants showed molecular functions belonging to tetrapyrrole and haem-binding activity and biological processes related to pollen recognition and formation and intercellular communication (Figure 4C, 5C, 6C). The plant inoculated with B2 was mainly characterized as expressing genes involved in metabolic processes and the biosynthesis of carboxylic acids, oxyacids and organic acids (Figure 4D, 5D, 6D). The Tora willow species under LP showed a change in gene expression and significant differences between the B1 and B2 variants (Figure 5C-D). In the case of the B1 variant, a high number of genes responsible for the stimulus response even at the cellular level was noted. A large number of genes responsible for transport also was detected. B2 under LP elicited the expression of a large number of genes responsible for transport also was detected. The plant is production, the plant is production, the plant is production is production.

pollination and modification of various proteins was also evident, albeit with lower numbers. As with the LP treatment, little similarity was observed between B1 and B2 inoculation (with the exception of genes encoding transferases) (Figure 5C-D). Inoculation of plants with B1 resulted in high expression of genes responsible for transferase activity and coenzyme binding. A large number of genes related to the metabolic activity of various acids, glucan, lipids and carbohydrates also emerged. Inoculation with B2 increased the expression of genes involved in photosynthesis (thylakoid structure, photosystems I and II) and the synthesis of structural elements of plant cells. For each of the NP, LP and HP treatments, upregulation of a large number of genes responsible for the activity of different types of transferases was observed.



Figure 4 GO enrichment analysis scatter plots presenting the top 30 genes detected for the NP treatment of inoculation and P concentration for two willow species, Loden (A-B) and Tora (C-D). The results are presented in pairs (B1 and B2) and are compared to the respective controls.



Figure 5 GO enrichment analysis scatter plots presenting the top 30 genes present for the LP treatment of inoculation and P concentration for two willow species, Loden (A-B) and Tora (C-D). The results are presented in pairs (B1 and B2) and are compared to the respective controls.



Figure 6 GO enrichment analysis scatter plots presenting the top 30 genes present for the HP treatment of inoculation and P concentration for two willow species, Loden (A-B) and Tora (C-D). The results are presented in pairs (B1 and B2) and are compared to the respective controls.

#### Gene expression regulation

Among the 10 most frequently up- or downregulated genes found in each experimental variant, a general trend based on the willow species/species was observed in which genes for the Loden willow species were downregulated and genes for the Tora willow species were upregulated regardless of the experimental conditions tested (bacterial inoculant B1 or B2 and P concentration). This was particularly evident for genes associated with biological processes (Figure 7) and molecular functions (Figure 9).

Analysis of GO biological processes (Figure 7) revealed the occurrence of 86 different up- or downregulated genes across all factors tested in the experiment. Among these genes, 43 were specific only to Loden, and 37 were specific to Tora. There were also 6 genes that were either up- or downregulated in both plant species tested. These genes were responsible for the cellular carbohydrate metabolic process, glucan metabolic process, glucan metabolic process, defence response, response to auxin, and lipid biosynthetic process. In response to both inoculation variants (B1 and B2), 13 common genes were observed, mainly those related to the metabolism and biosynthesis of fatty acids, glucan, and carboxylic acids. A strong effect of phosphorus (NP, LP, HP) was observed for fatty acid and monocarboxylic acid biosynthesis and metabolism, for which downregulation was observed in the NP treatment and upregulation in LP and HP treatments.



Figure 7 Biological process-associated gene expression regulation for all willow species, PSB and phosphorus concentrations. The red colour indicates upregulation of genes, while the green colour indicates downregulation.

In terms of the GO cellular components, 65 different genes were observed, of which 28 were specific only to Loden (mainly downregulation), and 27 were specific to Tora (mainly upregulation) (Figure 8). At 10, the pool of common genes for cellular components was larger than that for biological processes and included a large number of genes related to cellular elements involved in photosynthesis, i.e., thylakoids, photosystems I and II, the photosystem II oxygen-evolving complex and photosynthetic membranes. In response to different inoculants (B1 vs. B2), we observed the occurrence of 16 common genes, which were associated with terms related to chromosomes, the apoplast, DNA packaging or extracellular elements in addition to photosystem elements. For genes associated with cellular components, we also observed a strong effect of P on photosystems I and II, thylakoids, the photosystem II oxygen-evolving complex, and the oxidoreductase complex; moreover, the NP treatment downregulated the expression of these, in contrast to the LP and HP treatments, which upregulated the expression of these genes.



Figure 8 Cell component-associated gene expression regulation for all willow species, PSB and phosphorus concentrations. The red colour indicates upregulation of genes, while the green colour indicates downregulation.

For GO molecular functions, our analysis revealed the presence of 73 genes, among which 37 were expressed only in Loden, and 27 were expression in Tora (Figure 9). The pool of common genes comprised 11 genes and included those mainly responsible for calmodulin, haem and calcium binding, transferase activity, transcription and DNA-binding processes. We observed that the gene pool shared by Loden and Tora was characterized by the lack of an apparent division between downregulated and upregulated genes. The pool of common genes that responded to both B1 and B2 totalled 12. The abovementioned group of genes was joined by microtubule-binding activity, DNA-binding transcription factor activity and copper ion binding. In the case of molecular functions, the influence of P on gene regulation was observed only in the case of coenzyme binding, where the HP treatment elicited upregulation, which contrasted with the NP treatment, which caused those genes to be downregulated. Additionally, downregulation of two genes related to phosphatase activity was characteristic for the Loden B1 NP treatment combination.



Molecular Functions

Figure 9 Molecular function-associated gene expression regulation for all willow species, PSB and phosphorus concentrations. The red colour indicates upregulation of genes, while the green colour indicates downregulation.

#### Discussion

In an era of climate change and a growing human population on Earth, there is a challenge in providing humanity with adequate food and energy resources, which are critical for such rapid population growth. The increased use of P fertilizers in agriculture worldwide is causing many undesirable environmental changes and depleting the planet's supply of this element (Filippelli, 2008; Alewell et al., 2020). The results of this experiment highlight the large effects of phosphorus provided by PSB in terms of altering growth patterns and gene expression, which manifested in the form of increased shoot growth for both willow species and general upregulation of genes for Tora and downregulation of them for Loden. The findings presented in this paper could constitute an important piece of the puzzle for developing effective bioinoculants containing PSB to increase the soil P use efficiency of plants.

#### Phosphate-solubilizing bacterium selection

From a pool of 64 PSB, two strains with the highest TCP-solubilization potential were selected (based on two screening stages carried out on solid and liquid TCP media) to investigate the effects of inoculation on the growth of willow seedlings under different P concentrations. The willow plants were grown in a substrate supplemented with TCP  $(Ca_3(PO_4)_2)$ , which is not a readily available source of P, and the phosphate solubilization process carried out by the bacterium inoculants was the only source of available P, with the exceptions of strains Bacillus aryabhattai (GL2\_5\_ED2) and Caballeronia glathei (GTL2\_4\_RP10), which solubilized TCP and DCP equally well. Bacillus spp. are well-known and well-documented P-solubilizing microorganisms and have been tested many times for their use as potential biofertilizers of crop plants (Tahir et al., 2019; Ahmad et al., 2019; Miljaković et al., 2020; Mosela et al., 2022). In the present experiment, among the 15 most effective strains that solubilized phosphates, *Bacillus* spp. also were predominant (7 out of 15). This study found that Rhizobium sp. bacteria solubilized phosphate compounds most effectively, which highlights their great potential not only for nitrogen fixation but also as free-living soil bacteria that can solubilize P. Recent literature has confirmed the high efficiency of *Rhizobium* applied to crop plants, but there are no reports of the role of this species in tree growth (Afzal and Bano, 2008; Jaybhay et al. 2017; Verma et al., 2020; Mir et al., 2021; Shome et al., 2022).

In the pot experiment, strains *Pantoea agglomerans* (B1) and *Paenibacillus* sp. (B2) that effectively solubilized phosphates in both LP and HP media (analysed by the molybdenum

blue method) were selected. *Pantoea agglomerans* is described as a plant growth-promoting rhizobacterium (PGPR) capable of auxin biosynthesis, ACC deaminase production, ammonia production, P solubilization and increasing plant tolerance to salt stress (Majumdar et al, 2015; Cherif-Silini et al., 2019; Emami et al., 2021). Because willow trees do not constitute a food crop, the potential pathogenicity of willow to humans was not an issue (Mackiewicz et al., 2016). The second strain we selected was *Paenibacillus* sp., which is described in the literature as a bacterium capable of nitrogen fixation; P solubilization; stimulation of the plant defence system; and production of ammonia, HCN, IAA and siderophores (Kumari & Thakur, 2018; Hussain et al., 2020; Selim, 2022). Both bacterial species have been previously experimented with as bioinoculants of plant species such as barley (Canbolat et al., 2006), wheat (Hussain et al., 2020), sugarcane (Quecine et al., 2012), poplar (Vaitiekūnaitė et al., 2021) and palm trees (Saadouli al., 2021).

#### Effects of inoculation on willow growth

Inoculation with PSB and P treatments had significant effects on the growth patterns of the tested plants. However, it was difficult to determine whether the changes were caused by different soil P levels, bacterial inoculation, or a combination of both. Growth responses were different for Loden and Tora. For Loden, an increase in shoot thickness was found in response to higher soil P, while for Tora, the shoot length increased. In the NP treatment, the decrease in the leaf fresh weight could have been the result of P deficiency, because P deficiency has been shown to stimulate root allocation at the cost of leaf allocation (Ericsson, 1995). However, changes in P allocation to the roots or the leaves could also be related to changes in substrate pH, because increasing TCP concentrations may have increased the substrate pH. According to Walle et al. (2007), the optimum pH for willow growth is between 5 and 7.5, and the process of P solubilization by microorganisms is often associated with soil acidification. While alkaline phosphorus compounds are being formed, the pH becomes equilibrated by the process of microbial phosphate solubilization (Khan et al., 2014).

# Effects of increasing P concentration and phosphate-solubilizing bacterium inoculation on willow gene expression

Plant transcriptome studies are becoming an integral part of all analyses aimed at determining the impact of biotic or abiotic stresses on various biological processes, cellular components or molecular functions. There are a growing number of publications examining the

transcriptomic responses of tree crops and the impact of factors such as drought (Pucholt et al., 2015; Jia et al., 2020; Xu et al., 2021), salinity (Yao et al., 2018; Zhou et al., 2020; Pang et al., 2022) and pest resistance (Wang et al. 2020). To date, however, there are no publications showing differences in gene expression under P-deficient conditions. Our results allowed us to determine the effects of phosphate-solubilizing bacterium inoculation with increasing concentrations of plant-available phosphate on the expression of genes related to the P stress response and P metabolism, mobilization and remobilization.

Our transcriptomic analysis showed high variability between the gene expression in the leaves of the two willow species tested (Loden vs. Tora), the inoculation variants (B1 and B2) and the P concentrations in the substrate (NP, LP, HP). The results showed that Loden exhibited approximately 1500 more differentially expressed genes than did the Tora willow species. As our previous study has shown, these species differ significantly in their morphology (Hoeber et al. 2017) and root-associated microbiome (Koczorski et al. 2021). As reported by Hoeber et al. (2017), Tora is characterized by highly efficient biomass production (tall shoots) but a smaller leaf area. Conversely, Loden is characterized by a large leaf area but relatively low amount of biomass production. Moreover, under NP conditions, Loden was shown to express a low number of genes in common between both the B1 and B2 variants, suggesting that inoculation significantly affects gene activity, specifically under these conditions. According to previous studies, one of the plant responses to inoculation is increased activity of genes responsible for DNA replication and cell division (Camilios-Neto et al. 2014). In addition, the activity of genes related to response to stimuli, signalling, regulation of biological processes and metabolic processes were observed (Sasha and Seal et al. 2015). In our analysis, similar gene activities in both the Loden and the Tora willow species, especially under LP conditions, were observed. Additionally, the expression of genes responsible for photosynthesis, transcription and translation in the LP and HP treatments was also observed. This was manifested by the activity of genes such as those involved in the glucan metabolic process, thylakoids, photosystems I and II, translation, DNA-binding translation factor activity, transcription regulation and sequencespecific DNA binding.

Phosphorus plays a very important role in the photosynthetic carbon reduction cycle, also known as the Calvin-Benson cycle, because the final product of this process is 3-phosphoglyceraldehyde (triose-P), which is then (already in the form of sucrose) transported to the cytosol of the cells or remains in the chloroplasts where it is converted into starch (Rychter

and Rao, 2005). Among the previously mentioned genes are also those responsible for glucan metabolic processes. Glucan phosphatase plays an important role in the transient metabolism of starch in leaves, as glucan phosphatase is the main storage material and consists mainly of glucose polymers. During the diurnal cycle of photosynthesis, starch is deposited during the day to be used up at night to provide sufficient metabolites needed for plant growth (Meekins et al. 2016). Our results suggest that the bacteria present in the substrate significantly improved the availability of starch and thus had a positive effect on plant growth. For the Tora willow species inoculated with B1, activity of genes responsible for pollen recognition and formation (NP and LP treatments) was observed. The direct effect of inoculation on pollen formation has not yet been investigated, but according to a study by Lankinen et al. (2000), phosphorus has a positive effect on the quantity and quality of pollen formed, while abiotic stresses such as salinity do not affect this process. Among the variants tested, only the Loden willow species inoculated with B1 under LP showed the expression of genes directly related to stress and defence mechanisms. Studies conducted on Arabidopsis thaliana leaves under P-deficiency conditions showed that these plants exhibit high expression of genes involved in phosphatase synthesis and genes that encode ribonucleases and sulfolipid biosynthesis proteins that replace P, contributing to P remobilization (Muller et al., 2007). Similarly, we detected genes involved in ribonuclease activity and phosphoric ester hydrolase activity, which may indicate Pdeficiency stress. The genes indicated above (except for those encoding ribonucleases) were also expressed at lower numbers in response to the other treatment combinations in this study, which may be related to the rapid growth of the plants at an early stage of development. As a woody plant species, willows are known for their rapid growth, and as research has indicated, P remobilization and phospholipid replacement by sulfur and galactolipids is a strategy employed to increase photosynthetic efficiency (Lambers et al., 2012).

#### Gene expression regulation

The information obtained in this analysis largely overlaps with the results obtained from the GO enrichment analysis, providing additional information about genes that are upregulated and downregulated. The first and most prominent result of the analysis is the observed trend, in which the genes of the Loden willow species were downregulated and those of the Tora willow species were upregulated. As mentioned earlier, this may be a result of the difference in biomass allocation between the two willow species (Ericsson, 1995). For the Tora willow species, a large effect of P on genes related to photosynthesis, thylakoids and starch metabolism in the form of upregulation of photosynthesis, photosystems I and II, thylakoid parts, carboxylic acid, carbohydrates, glucan metabolism and biosynthesis genes was found. All of the abovementioned genes are highly dependent on P because it is a component of ATP, NADPH, nucleic acids, sugar phosphates and phospholipids (Carstensen et al., 2018). The effect of phosphorus on carboxylic acids seems to be substantial due to the important role of these compounds as plant signalling molecules; also important are compounds like malate, which can be converted into NADH and NADPH, thus increasing the efficiency of photosynthesis (Mutz et al. 2013). Additionally, the presence of carboxylic acids has been confirmed in the apoplast, where activity related to the regulation of stomatal opening occurs (Mayer et al. 2010).

Among the downregulated genes for the Loden willow species, genes involved in lipid peptide metabolism and biosynthesis, nucleic acids, and ion and metabolite transfer were detected, while upregulation of genes involved in the defence mechanism and response to stress was also observed. Gene expression studies conducted on plants subjected to P-deficiency stress have indicated that the most common plant response to P deficiency is the downregulation of genes involved in ATP synthesis, translation, transport, carbohydrate synthesis and photosynthesis, which was observed for all the treatment combinations involving Loden (Bai et al. 2014; Chu et al. 2018). In addition, the upregulation of genes related to sulfur compounds was observed for the B2-inoculated Loden treatment combinations, indicating an attempt to replace P to increase phosphorus-use efficiency (Lambers et al., 2012). Notably, plants in the LP and HP treatments did not show signs of P deficiency, so the phenomena are related to species differences and biomass allocation rather than P itself.

## Conclusions

Inoculation of *Salix* spp. with PSB increased soil phosphorus uptake and stimulated plant growth, which was manifested through changes in the growth patterns of both willow species and changes in the regulation of gene expression at the transcriptional level. Significant species differences were observed between Loden and Tora in their responses to the two inoculation variants and the different P concentrations in the substrates, the differences of which were evident, e.g., an increase in shoot thickness for Loden in response to higher soil P and a greater shoot length for Tora under the same treatment conditions. Transcriptomic analysis showed that phosphate-solubilizing bacterium inoculation of the Tora willow species significantly affected transcription in the leaves, affecting the upregulation of most genes, especially those related to photosynthesis, which are highly influenced by phosphorus. A general reduction in gene transcriptional regulation and chromosomes.

## **Data Availability Statement**

The reference genome of *Salix viminalis* was acquired from Almeida et al. (2020). The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found below: https://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/bioproject, PRJNA967604.

## **Author Contributions**

PK participation in all analyses and preparation of initial draft, data processing and preparation of figures and tables, statistical analysis, BF participation in all analyses and preparation of initial draft, review and editing of draft, CB pot experiment design, review and editing of draft, MW review and editing of draft, PI substantive support during transcriptome data interpretation, review and editing of draft PH soil analyses, review and editing of draft KH experiment design and supervision, review and editing of draft.

#### Funding

All microbiological and molecular analyses as well as manuscript editing were funded from the project: Universitas Copernicana Thoruniensis In Futuro – modernization of the Nicolaus Copernicus University as part of the Integrated University Program (project no. POWR.03.05.00-00-Z302/17-00)

## **Conflict of Interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

## References

Abdel-Monaim, M. F., Gabr, M. R., El-Gantiry, S. M., Shaat, M. N., & El-Bana, A. A. (2012). Bacillus megaterium, a new pathogen on lupine plants in Egypt. *African Journal of Bacteriology Research*, *4*(2), 24-32. DOI: 10.5897/JBR12.022

Afzal, A. and Bano, A., 2008. Rhizobium and phosphate solubilizing bacteria improve the yield and phosphorus uptake in wheat (Triticum aestivum). Int J Agric Biol, 10(1), pp.85-88.

Ahmad, M., Adil, Z., Hussain, A., Mumtaz, M.Z., Nafees, M., Ahmad, I. and Jamil, M., 2019. Potential of phosphate solubilizing Bacillus strains for improving growth and nutrient uptake in mungbean and maize crops. *Pakistan Journal of Agricultural Sciences*, *56*(2). DOI: 10.21162/PAKJAS/19.7285

Alewell, C., Ringeval, B., Ballabio, C., Robinson, D.A., Panagos, P. and Borrelli, P., 2020. Global phosphorus shortage will be aggravated by soil erosion. *Nature communications*, *11*(1), pp.1-12. DOI: 10.1038/s41467-020-18326-7

Almeida, P. *et al.* (2020) 'Genome assembly of the basket willow, Salix viminalis, reveals earliest stages of sex chromosome expansion', *BMC biology*, 18(1), p. 78 DOI: 10.1186/s12915-020-00808-1

Bai, F., Chen, C., An, J., Xiao, S., Deng, X. and Pan, Z., 2014. Transcriptome responses to phosphate deficiency in Poncirus trifoliata (L.) Raf. *Acta physiologiae plantarum*, *36*, pp.3207-3215. DOI: 10.1007/s11738-014-1687-5

Bargaz, A., Elhaissoufi, W., Khourchi, S., Benmrid, B., Borden, K.A. and Rchiad, Z., 2021. Benefits of phosphate solubilizing bacteria on belowground crop performance for improved crop acquisition of phosphorus. *Microbiological Research*, *252*, p.126842. DOI: 10.1016/j.micres.2021.126842

Barrow, N.J. The effects of pH on phosphate uptake from the soil. Plant Soil 2017, 410, 401–410. DOI: 10.1007/s11104-016-3008-9

Bashan, Y., Kamnev, A. A., & de-Bashan, L. E. (2013). Tricalcium phosphate is inappropriate as a universal selection factor for isolating and testing phosphate-solubilizing bacteria that enhance plant growth: a proposal for an alternative procedure. *Biology* and *fertility of* soils, 49(4), 465-479. DOI: 10.1007/s00374-012-0737-7

Bindraban, P. S., Dimkpa, C. O., & Pandey, R. (2020). Exploring phosphorus fertilizers and fertilization strategies for improved human and environmental health. *Biology* and *Fertility of* Soils, *56*(3), 299-317. DOI: 10.1007/s00374-019-01430-2

Canbolat, M. Y., Barik, K., Çakmakçi, R., & Şahin, F. (2006). Effects of mineral and biofertilizers on barley growth on compacted soil. *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica Section B*-Soil and *Plant Science*, *56*(4), 324-332. DOI: 10.1080/09064710600591067

Carstensen, A., Herdean, A., Schmidt, S.B., Sharma, A., Spetea, C., Pribil, M. and Husted, S., 2018. The impacts of phosphorus deficiency on the photosynthetic electron transport chain. *Plant physiology*, *177*(1), pp.271-284. DOI: 10.1104/pp.17.01624

Cherif-Silini, H., Thissera, B., Bouket, A. C., Saadaoui, N., Silini, A., Eshelli, M., ... & Belbahri, L. (2019). Durum wheat stress tolerance induced by endophyte Pantoea agglomerans with genes contributing to plant functions and secondary metabolite arsenal. *International journal of molecular sciences*, *20*(16), 3989. DOI: 10.3390/ijms20163989

Chomczynski, P., Sacchi, N. The single-step method of RNA isolation by acid guanidinium thiocyanate–phenol–chloroform extraction: twenty-something years on. *Nat Protoc* 1, 581–585 (2006). DOI: 10.1038/nprot.2006.83

Chu, S., Li, H., Zhang, X., Yu, K., Chao, M., Han, S. and Zhang, D., 2018. Physiological and proteomics analyses reveal low-phosphorus stress affected the regulation of photosynthesis in soybean. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, *19*(6), p.1688. DOI: 10.3390/ijms19061688

Dobritsa, A. P., & Samadpour, M. (2019). Reclassification of Burkholderia insecticola as Caballeronia insecticola comb. nov. and reliability of conserved signature indels as molecular synapomorphies. *International Journal of Systematic* and *Evolutionary Microbiology*, 69(7), 2057-2063. DOI: 10.1099/ijsem.0.003431

Emami, N., Hassani, A., Vaezi, A. R., & BabaAkbari Sari, M. (2021). The effect of application of bio-fertilizer containing Pantoea agglomerans compared to urea fertilizer on growth and quality of turfgrass. *Iranian Journal of Horticultural Science*, *52*(2), 341-351.

Ericsson, T., 1995. Growth and shoot: root ratio of seedlings in relation to nutrient availability. In *Nutrient Uptake* and *Cycling in* Forest *Ecosystems: Proceedings of the CEC/IUFRO*  Symposium Nutrient Uptake and Cycling in Forest Ecosystems Halmstad, Sweden, June, 7–10, 1993 (pp. 205-214). Springer Netherlands. DOI: 10.1007/978-94-011-0455-5\_23

Gomez-Ramirez, L. F., and Uribe-Velez, D. (2021). Phosphorus solubilizing and mineralizing bacillus spp. contribute to rice growth promotion using soil amended with rice straw. *Curr. Microbiol.* 78, 932–943. DOI: 10.1007/s00284-021-02354-7

Hussain, A., Ahmad, M., Nafees, M., Iqbal, Z., Luqman, M., Jamil, M., Maqsood, A., Mora-Poblete, F., Ahmar, S., Chen, J.T. and Alyemeni, M.N., 2020. Plant-growth-promoting Bacillus and Paenibacillus species improve the nutritional status of Triticum aestivum L. *PLoS One*, 15(12), p.e0241130. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0241130

Jaybhay, S.A., Taware, S.P. and Varghese, P., 2017. Microbial inoculation of Rhizobium and phosphate-solubilizing bacteria along with inorganic fertilizers for sustainable yield of soybean [Glycine max (L.) Merrill]. *Journal of plant nutrition*, 40(15), pp.2209-2216. DOI: 10.1080/01904167.2017.1346678

Kalayu, G. (2019). Phosphate solubilizing microorganisms: promising approach as biofertilizers. *International Journal of Agronomy*, 2019. DOI: 10.1155/2019/4917256

Karp, A., Hanley, S. J., Trybush, S. O., Macalpine, W., Pei, M., & Shield, I. (2011). Genetic improvement of willow for bioenergy and biofuels free access. *Journal of integrative plant biology*, *53*(2), 151-165. DOI: 10.1111/j.1744-7909.2010.01015.x

Khan, M. D., Zaidi, A., & Ahmad, E. (2014). Mechanism of phosphate solubilization and physiological functions of phosphate-solubilizing microorganisms. In *Phosphate* solubilizing *microorganisms* (pp. 31-62). Springer, Cham. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-08216-5\_2

Koczorski, P., Furtado, B., Hrynkiewicz, K., Breezmann, M., Weih, M. and Baum, C., 2021. Site-Effects Dominate the Plant Availability of Nutrients under Salix Species during the First Cutting Cycle. For*ests*, *12*(9), p.1226. DOI: 10.3390/f12091226

Koczorski, P., Furtado, B.U., Gołębiewski, M., Hulisz, P., Baum, C., Weih, M. and Hrynkiewicz, K., 2021. The effects of host plant genotype and environmental conditions on fungal community composition and phosphorus solubilization in willow short rotation coppice. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, *12*, p.647709. DOI: 10.3389/fpls.2021.647709

Koczorski, P., Furtado, B.U., Gołębiewski, M., Hulisz, P., Thiem, D., Baum, C., Weih, M. and Hrynkiewicz, K., 2022. Mixed growth of Salix species can promote phosphate-

solubilizing bacteria in the roots and rhizosphere. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 13. DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2022.1006722

Kour, D., Rana, K.L., Yadav, A.N., Yadav, N., Kumar, M., Kumar, V., Vyas, P., Dhaliwal,
H.S. and Saxena, A.K., 2020. Microbial biofertilizers: Bioresources and eco-friendly
technologies for agricultural and environmental sustainability. *Biocatalysis* and *Agricultural Biotechnology*, 23, p.101487. DOI: 10.1016/j.bcab.2019.101487

Kumari, M., & Thakur, I. S. (2018). Biochemical and proteomic characterization of Paenibacillus sp. ISTP10 for its role in plant growth promotion and in rhizostabilization of cadmium. *Bioresource Technology Reports*, *3*, 59-66. DOI: 10.1016/j.biteb.2018.06.001

Kurek, E., Ozimek, E., Sobiczewski, P., Słomka, A., and Jaroszuk-Ściseł, J. (2013). Effect of Pseudomonas luteola on mobilization of phosphorus and growth of young apple trees (Ligol)—pot experiment. Sci. Hortic. 164, 270–276. DOI: 10.1016/j.scienta.2013.09.012

Li, Y., Li, J., Gao, L., & Tian, Y. (2018). Irrigation has more influence than fertilization on leaching water quality and the potential environmental risk in excessively fertilized vegetable soils. *PloS one*, *13*(9), e0204570. DOI : 10.1371/journal.pone.0204570

Liang, L. Z., Zhao, X. Q., Yi, X. Y., Chen, Z. C., Dong, X. Y., Chen, R. F., & Shen, R. F. (2013). Excessive application of nitrogen and phosphorus fertilizers induces soil acidification and phosphorus enrichment during vegetable production in Y angtze R iver D elta, C hina. So*il Use* and *Management*, *29*(2), 161-168. DOI: 10.1111/sum.12035

Liu, C.Y., Zhang, F., Zhang, D.J., Zou, Y.N., Shu, B. and Wu, Q.S., 2020. Transcriptome analysis reveals improved root hair growth in trifoliate orange seedlings by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. *Plant Growth Regulation*, *92*, pp.195-203. DOI: 10.1007/s10725-020-00630-3

Liu, H., Li, Y., Ge, K., Du, B., Liu, K., Wang, C. and Ding, Y., 2021. Interactional mechanisms of Paenibacillus polymyxa SC2 and pepper (Capsicum annuum L.) suggested by transcriptomics. *BMC microbiology*, *21*, pp.1-16. DOI: 10.1186/s12866-021-02132-2

Liu, X., Jiang, X., He, X., Zhao, W., Cao, Y., Guo, T., et al. (2019). Phosphatesolubilizing pseudomonas sp. strain P34-L promotes wheat growth by colonizing the wheat rhizosphere and improving the wheat root system and soil phosphorus nutritional status. *J. Plant Growth Regul. 38*, 1314–1324. DOI: 10.1007/ s00344-019-09935-8

Ludwig-Müller, J., 2015. Bacteria and fungi controlling plant growth by manipulating auxin: balance between development and defense. *Journal of plant physiology*, *172*, pp.4-12. DOI: 10.1016/j.jplph.2014.01.002

Mackiewicz, B., Lemieszek, M. K., Golec, M., & Milanowski, J. (2016). Pantoea agglomerans: a mysterious bacterium of evil and good. P. 4. Beneficial effects. *Annals of Agricultural* and *Environmental Medicine*, 23(2). DOI: 10.5604/12321966.1203879

Majumdar, S., & Chakraborty, U. (2015). Phosphate solubilizing rhizospheric Pantoea agglomerans Acti-3 promotes growth in jute plants. *World J. Agric. Sci*, *11*, 401-410. DOI: 10.5829/idosi.wjas.2015.11.6.1893

Malhotra, H., Sharma, S., & Pandey, R. (2018). Phosphorus nutrition: plant growth in response to deficiency and excess. In *Plant nutrients* and *abiotic stress tolerance* (pp. 171-190). Springer, Singapore. DOI: 10.1007/978-981-10-9044-8\_7

Meyer, S., Mumm, P., Imes, D., Endler, A., Weder, B., Al-Rasheid, K.A., Geiger, D., Marten, I., Martinoia, E. and Hedrich, R., 2010. AtALMT12 represents an R-type anion channel required for stomatal movement in Arabidopsis guard cells. *The Plant Journal*, *63*(6), pp.1054-1062. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-313X.2010.04302.x

Miljaković, D., Marinković, J. and Balešević-Tubić, S., 2020. The significance of Bacillus spp. in disease suppression and growth promotion of field and vegetable crops. *Microorganisms*, 8(7), p.1037. DOI: 10.3390/microorganisms8071037

Mir, M.I., Kumar, B.K., Gopalakrishnan, S., Vadlamudi, S. and Hameeda, B., 2021. Characterization of rhizobia isolated from leguminous plants and their impact on the growth of ICCV 2 variety of chickpea (Cicer arietinum L.). *Heliyon*, 7(11), p.e08321. DOI: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2021.e08321

Mo, X., Zhang, M., Liang, C., Cai, L. and Tian, J., 2019. Integration of metabolome and transcriptome analyses highlights soybean roots responding to phosphorus deficiency by modulating phosphorylated metabolite processes. *Plant physiology* and *biochemistry*, *139*, pp.697-706. DOI: 10.1016/j.plaphy.2019.04.033

Mosela, M., Andrade, G., Massucato, L.R., de Araújo Almeida, S.R., Nogueira, A.F., de Lima Filho, R.B., Zeffa, D.M., Mian, S., Higashi, A.Y., Shimizu, G.D. and Teixeira, G.M., 2022. Bacillus velezensis strain Ag75 as a new multifunctional agent for biocontrol, phosphate

solubilization and growth promotion in maize and soybean crops. *Scientific Reports*, *12*(1), p.15284. DOI: 10.1038/s41598-022-19515-8

Mutz, K.O., Heilkenbrinker, A., Lönne, M., Walter, J.G. and Stahl, F., 2013. Transcriptome analysis using next-generation sequencing. *Current opinion in biotechnology*, *24*(1), pp.22-30.solubilization and growth promotion in maize and soybean crops. *Scientific Reports*, *12*(1), p.15284. DOI: 10.1016/j.copbio.2012.09.004

Nagul, E. A., McKelvie, I. D., Worsfold, P., & Kolev, S. D. (2015). The molybdenum blue reaction for the determination of orthophosphate revisited: Opening the black box. *Analytica chimica acta*, 890, 60-82. DOI: 10.1016/j.aca.2015.07.030

Narsing Rao, M. P., Dong, Z. Y., Liu, G. H., Li, L., Xiao, M., & Li, W. J. (2019). Reclassification of Bacillus aryabhattai Shivaji et al. 2009 as a later heterotypic synonym of Bacillus megaterium de Bary 1884 (Approved Lists 1980). *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, *366*(22), fnz258. DOI: 10.1093/femsle/fnz258

Negassa, W., Kruse, J., Michalik, D., Appathurai, N., Zuin, L. and Leinweber, P., 2010. Phosphorus Speciation in Agro-Industrial Byproducts: Sequential Fractionation, Solution 31P NMR, and PK-and L 2, 3-Edge XANES Spectroscopy. *Environmental science & technology*, *44*(6), pp.2092-2097. DOI: 10.1021/es902963c

Parcey, M., Gayder, S., Castle, A. J., & Svircev, A. M. (2022). Function and application of the CRISPR-Cas system in the plant pathogen Erwinia amylovora. *Applied* and *Environmental Microbiology*, 88(7), e02513-21. DOI: 10.1128/aem.02513-21

Penn CJ, Camberato JJ. A Critical Review on Soil Chemical Processes that Control How Soil pH Affects Phosphorus Availability to Plants. *Agriculture*. 2019; 9(6):120. DOI: 10.3390/agriculture9060120

Prabhu, N., Borkar, S., & Garg, S. (2019). Phosphate solubilization by microorganisms: overview, mechanisms, applications and advances. *Advances in biological science research*, 161-176. DOI: 10.1016/B978-0-12-817497-5.00011-2

Quecine, M. C., Araújo, W. L., Rossetto, P. B., Ferreira, A., Tsui, S., Lacava, P. T., ... & Pizzirani-Kleiner, A. A. (2012). Sugarcane growth promotion by the endophytic bacterium Pantoea agglomerans 33.1. *Applied* and *Environmental Microbiology*, 78(21), 7511-7518. DOI: 10.1128/AEM.00836-12

Ray, P., Guo, Y., Chi, M.H., Krom, N., Saha, M.C. and Craven, K.D., 2021. Serendipita bescii promotes winter wheat growth and modulates the host root transcriptome under phosphorus and nitrogen starvation. *Environmental Microbiology*, *23*(4), pp.1876-1888. DOI: 10.1111/1462-2920.15242

Ren, P., Meng, Y., Li, B., Ma, X., Si, E., Lai, Y., Wang, J., Yao, L., Yang, K., Shang, X. and Wang, H., 2018. Molecular mechanisms of acclimatization to phosphorus starvation and recovery underlying full-length transcriptome profiling in barley (Hordeum vulgare L.). *Frontiers in plant science*, *9*, p.500. DOI: 10.3389/fpls.2018.00500

Rennenberg, H. and Herschbach, C., 2013. Phosphorus nutrition of woody plants: many questions–few answers. *Plant Biology*, *15*(5), pp.785-788. DOI: 10.1111/plb.12078

Richardson, A.E. and Simpson, R.J., 2011. Soil microorganisms mediating phosphorus availability update on microbial phosphorus. *Plant physiology*, *156*(3), pp.989-996. DOI: 10.1104/pp.111.175448

Saadouli, I., Mosbah, A., Ferjani, R., Stathopoulou, P., Galiatsatos, I., Asimakis, E., ... & Ouzari, H. I. (2021). The impact of the inoculation of phosphate-solubilizing bacteria pantoea agglomerans on phosphorus availability and bacterial community dynamics of a semi-arid soil. *Microorganisms*, *9*(8), 1661. DOI: 10.3390/microorganisms9081661

Samain, E., Ernenwein, C., Aussenac, T., & Selim, S. (2022). Effective and durable systemic wheat-induced resistance by a plant-growth-promoting rhizobacteria consortium of Paenibacillus sp. strain B2 and Arthrobacter spp. strain AA against Zymoseptoria tritici and drought stress. *Physiological* and *Molecular Plant Pathology*, *119*, 101830. DOI: 10.1016/j.pmpp.2022.101830

Shome, S., Barman, A. and Solaiman, Z.M., 2022. Rhizobium and Phosphate Solubilizing Bacteria Influence the Soil Nutrient Availability, Growth, Yield, and Quality of Soybean. *Agriculture*, 12(8), p.1136. DOI: 10.3390/agriculture12081136

Soni, R., Rawal, K. and Keharia, H., 2021. Genomics assisted functional characterization of Paenibacillus polymyxa HK4 as a biocontrol and plant growth promoting bacterium. *Microbiological Research*, 248, p.126734. DOI: 10.1016/j.micres.2021.126734

Sun, L., Tian, J., Zhang, H. and Liao, H., 2016. Phytohormone regulation of root growth triggered by P deficiency or Al toxicity. *Journal of experimental botany*, 67(12), pp.3655-3664. DOI: 10.1093/jxb/erw188
Sun, L., Tian, J., Zhang, H., & Liao, H. (2016). Phytohormone regulation of root growth triggered by P deficiency or Al toxicity. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 67(12), 3655-3664. DOI: 10.1093/jxb/erw188

Sun, T., Zhang, J., Zhang, Q., Li, X., Li, M., Yang, Y., Zhou, J., Wei, Q. and Zhou, B., 2021. Transcriptome and metabolome analyses revealed the response mechanism of apple to different phosphorus stresses. *Plant Physiology* and *Biochemistry*, *167*, pp.639-650. DOI: 10.1016/j.plaphy.2021.08.040

Tahir, M., Khalid, U., Ijaz, M., Shah, G.M., Naeem, M.A., Shahid, M., Mahmood, K., Ahmad, N. and Kareem, F., 2018. Combined application of bio-organic phosphate and phosphorus solubilizing bacteria (Bacillus strain MWT 14) improve the performance of bread wheat with low fertilizer input under an arid climate. *brazilian journal of microbiology*, *49*, pp.15-24. DOI: 10.1016/j.bjm.2017.11.005

Tian, J., Ge, F., Zhang, D., Deng, S. and Liu, X., 2021. Roles of phosphate solubilizing microorganisms from managing soil phosphorus deficiency to mediating biogeochemical P cycle. *Biology*, *10*(2), p.158. DOI: 10.3390/biology10020158

Ticconi, C.A. and Abel, S., 2004. Short on phosphate: plant surveillance and countermeasures. *Trends in plant science*, *9*(11), pp.548-555. DOI: 10.1016/j.tplants.2004.09.003

Vaitiekūnaitė, D., Kuusienė, S., & Beniušytė, E. (2021). Oak (Quercus robur) associated endophytic Paenibacillus sp. promotes poplar (Populus spp.) root growth in vitro. *Microorganisms*, *9*(6), 1151. DOI: 10.3390/microorganisms9061151

Verma, M., Singh, A., Dwivedi, D.H. and Arora, N.K., 2020. Zinc and phosphate solubilizing Rhizobium radiobacter (LB2) for enhancing quality and yield of loose leaf lettuce in saline soil. *Environmental Sustainability*, 3(2), pp.209-218. DOI: 10.1007/s42398-020-00110-4

Viruel, E., Erazzú, L. E., Martínez Calsina, L., Ferrero, M. A., Lucca, M. E., and Siñeriz, F. (2014). Inoculation of maize with phosphate solubilizing bacteria: effect on plant growth and yield. J. Soil *Sci. Plant Nutr.* 14, 819–831. DOI: 10.4067/ S0718-95162014005000065

Walle, I. V., Van Camp, N., Van de Casteele, L., Verheyen, K., & Lemeur, R. (2007). Shortrotation forestry of birch, maple, poplar and willow in Flanders (Belgium) I—Biomass production after 4 years of tree growth. *Biomass* and *bioenergy*, *31*(5), 267-275. DOI: 10.1016/j.biombioe.2007.01.019 Wang, X., Wang, Z., Zheng, Z., Dong, J., Song, L., Sui, L., Nussaume, L., Desnos, T. and Liu, D., 2019. Genetic dissection of Fe-dependent signaling in root developmental responses to phosphate deficiency. *Plant physiology*, *179*(1), pp.300-316. DOI: 10.1104/pp.18.00907

Zhang, B., Wang, L., & Li, Y. (2019). Fractionation and identification of iron-phosphorus compounds in sewage sludge. *Chemosphere*, *223*, 250-256. DOI: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.02.052

Zhang, Y., Liang, Y., Zhao, X., Jin, X., Hou, L., Shi, Y. and Ahammed, G.J., 2019. Silicon compensates phosphorus deficit-induced growth inhibition by improving photosynthetic capacity, antioxidant potential, and nutrient homeostasis in tomato. *Agronomy*, *9*(11), p.733. DOI: 10.3390/agronomy9110733

9

## Summary of results

#### 9. Summary of results

The subject of the research described in this thesis was the soil microbial and ecological value of Salix spp. in short rotation coppices in Europe. According to the European Union Directive (of April 2009) on the promotion of the use of energy from renewable sources (Directive 2009/28/EC), 20% of all energy in Europe should be produced from renewable sources. Biomass production for energy generation using Salix as a fast-growing tree species is one of the promising ecological and efficient options. The first stage of the research was the analysis of two Salix field sites from different geographic origins within Europe. The first site was located in Uppsala (Sweden: 59.820375, 17.640334), and the second was located in Rostock (Germany: 54.061391, 12.081857). Both sites were created through the ECOLINK-Salix project, and the Salix genotypes were planted there identically. Two willow cultivars, 'Loden' (S. dasyclados) [L] and 'Tora' (S. schwerinii × S. viminalis) [T], were used in the study, which are characterized by great morphological and physiological differences. 'Loden' is characterized by a larger leaf area but less shoot growth, and 'Tora' has a smaller leaf area but reaches a larger size. This made it possible to test the influence of factors such as site conditions (soil and climate) and planting design (monoculture vs. mixed cropping) on the occurrence and diversity of the soil microbial diversity and the ratio of P solubilizing microorganisms (bacteria and fungi).

In the first publication (P1), attention was focused on assessing the effect of growing *Salix* genotypes in monoculture and mixed culture on soil nutrient availability at two test sites with different soil and climatic conditions and analysing their effects on enzymatic P mobilization. Using data obtained from 2014 and 2018 (the first rotation cycle), a comparison was made between the plant availability of potassium, magnesium and phosphorus in the soil, and the activity of acid and alkaline phosphatase was assessed as a marker for biocatalysis in P mobilization. Mixed cultures, in contrast to monocultures, did not show a decrease in phosphorus availability after a period of 4 years, but this did not affect biomass production significantly. A higher activity of acid phosphatase compared to alkaline phosphatase was observed in soils at both test sites based on site-specific soil pH (<7). As the initial nutrient stocks at the two sites differed significantly, it was assessed that site interactions were the main regulators of changes in nutrient concentrations available to willow.

• The main factor influencing changes in nutrient availability (including phosphorus) in short-rotation willow crops is the site and its biodiversity, which, by promoting the diversity of the soil microbiome, contributes to the efficiency of P mobilization.

The next step (P2 and P3) was to isolate and evaluate the abundance of culturable microorganisms capable of solubilizing phosphorus and to put this in the context of the total microbial population in the rhizosphere willow roots (microbiome studies). At the selection stage, three selective media were used, two containing calcium phosphate (NBRIP and PVK) and calcium hydrogen phosphate (DCP). In this way, 22 fungal strains were isolated, among which fungi of the genus *Penicillium* predominated. The fungi were characterized by a high ability to solubilize calcium hydrogen phosphate, and their abundance was significantly higher in samples taken from mixed sites (cv. Loden and Tora). The selection also yielded 88 bacterial strains capable of solubilizing phosphorus, among which the genera Pseudomonas, Bacillus and Erwinia dominated. The bacteria solubilized calcium phosphate much better, showing relatively little activity on medium containing calcium hydrogen phosphate. The abundance of both bacteria and fungi was higher in the rhizosphere soil, and higher in roots at mixed sites than under monocultures. A higher abundance of P-solubilizing rhizosphere bacteria and fungi was also observed relative to endophytes in the mixtures. When the total bacterial and fungal community was examined, it was shown that the level of association with the plant (rhizosphere microorganisms vs. endophytic microorganisms) most significantly affected both the abundance and diversity of microorganisms. In the case of P-solubilizing fungi, *Penicillum* spp. dominated only in soil, not in the roots, but in the case of bacteria, the Alpha- and Gammaproteobacteria classes were maintained in soil and roots.

• The level of association with the plant (endophytes *vs.* rhizosphere microorganisms) is the main factor influencing the diversity of both PSMs (bacteria and fungi) and the total microbial diversity.

The final stage of the work (**P4**) involved setting up a pot experiment and starting to select bacterial strains with the highest P solubilization efficiency. From a collection of 64 Psolubilizing bacteria obtained at the beginning of the study, two strains were selected in two stages. The first stage of selection was carried out on solid NBRIP (tri-calcium phosphate) and DCP (di-calcium phosphate) medium and allowed the selection of 15 strains, which were then subjected to further selection in NBRIP liquid medium after potential pathogens were discarded. The two strains we selected were *Pantoea agglomerans* (B1) and *Paenibacillus* sp. (B2). The pot experiment examined 3 factors (in each possible combination) affecting willow growth: cultivar (Loden, Tora), inoculation (control, B1, B2) and phosphorus concentration (NoP - 0 g/l, LowP - 0.3129 g/l and HighP 0.6259 g/l). The experiment was conducted for one month, and at the end, the following growth parameters were measured: wet weight of leaves, shoot, and roots; length of shoot and roots; and phosphorus concentration in soil and leaves. In addition, transcriptome analysis of leaves obtained from each variant of the experiment was performed. The analysis of growth parameters showed a large effect of phosphorus on plant growth that was manifested by a change in biomass allocation in shoots. Both willow species at high phosphorus had significantly increased shoot biomass, but in the case of Loden, the change was an increase in shoot thickness, and in the case of Tora, the change was in length. Transcriptome analysis showed large differences between Loden and Tora species, where common genes accounted for only ~15%. In addition, a trend was observed where genes of the Tora species underwent upregulation and Loden downregulation. The Tora species was characterized by high activity of genes responsible for photosynthesis and starch synthesis, both of which are strongly influenced by phosphorus. The Loden species showed a general downregulation of gene transcription, especially for ion transport, transcriptional regulation and chromosome genes. Inoculation seemed to have less of an effect than species but did affect the activity of genes such as fatty acids, glucan, carboxylic acid biosynthesis and metabolism and transcription-related processes. The greatest effect of phosphorus was seen primarily for the genes encoding photosystem I and II, thylakoids, photosystem II oxygen evolving complex, and oxidoreductase complex, which were upregulated for the HP viroid and downregulated for the NP viroid. Among the active genes were also those responsible for phosphatase synthesis but only for the Loden B1 NP variant.

• Phosphorus significantly alters biomass allocation by stimulating shoot growth in length for Tora and in width for Loden. In addition, it significantly affects gene transcription, causing upregulation of genes related to photosynthesis for Tora and downregulation of genes related to transcription or ion transport in Loden.

10

### Discussion

#### **10. Discussion**

#### Mixed Salix plantations prevent nutrient loss

The first aim of the study was to examine the nutrient availability and phosphatase activity of soils and their changes depending on the design of *Salix* spp., i.e., pure cultures or mixed cultures. The samples were from 2014 and 2018, i.e., the first cutting cycle of Salix rotation systems. Soil analysis showed that Mg and K reserves were at optimal levels, but phosphorus was below the recommended amount (10-18 mg P/100 g soil) (Hoffmann, 1991). The high availability of nutrients in the soil at both sites is understandable, as these areas were previously used as agricultural land and thus were frequently fertilized (Lutter et al., 2016). The nutrient surplus at the German and Swedish sites, which were agricultural land in the past, is in agreement with previous studies (Kahle et al., 2010) and clearly indicates that there is no need to fertilize the coppice during the initial growth phase. Additionally, a positive correlation was observed between biomass and P and K in the early growth phase and a negative correlation with P and K in the later growth phase, indicating an important role for these two elements in the early growth phase of willows. Willows are known for their high phosphorus uptake capacity, especially in situations where they have a properly functioning symbiosis formed with ectomycorrhizal fungi (Rennenberg and Herschbach, 2013). The soil nutrient supply at both sites decreased over 4 years, especially for plants planted as monocultures, and similar results were also obtained for the willow species Salix purpurea, 'Hotel' (Ens et al., 2013). In addition, the Loden species used in this experiment is known for its ability to efficiently uptake nutrients, especially in combination with other willow species (Hoeber et al. 2017).

The activity of acid phosphatase was three times higher than that of alkaline phosphatase. Previous studies conducted at these sites reported a pH value of approximately 6 (Koczorski et al., 2021), which promotes the activity of this type of phosphatase. In addition, studies indicate a slow decrease in pH in short rotation coppices, which gradually increases acid phosphatase activity (Pellegrino et al., 2011). Phosphatase activity at the German site decreased significantly after 4 years, which may be related to the naturally occurring vegetation forming a dense network of fine roots (Lugli et al., 2019). No correlation of phosphatases with phosphorus was observed, while a positive correlation with potassium appeared. This indicates a probable lack of influence of phosphorus on phosphatase activity and suggests that the activity

of these enzymes may be controlled by a number of other, more complex factors. The high correlation of phosphatases with K may be related to its important role as a cofactor for many enzymes. Studies conducted on *Cucumis sativus* L. indicated increased activity of acid phosphatases in the presence of K ions (Tabaldi et al., 2007). Increased acid phosphatase activity may also be related to the interaction of arbuscular and ectomycorrhizal fungi. As established by Baum et al. (2018), these fungi play an important role in promoting acid phosphatase activity in Loden and Tora species and indicate increased activity in mixed cultures.

# The level of plant association as the main factor shaping fungal and bacterial diversity in willow short-rotation coppices

The next stage of the work was to investigate the influence of soil properties, planting system and level of association with the plant on phosphorus-solubilizing bacteria and fungi and to establish their role and contribution compared to that of the willow microbiome. A selection of fungi (P2) and bacteria (P3) on solid media was performed, resulting in the isolation of 22 fungal and 88 bacterial strains with the ability to solubilize phosphorus. Among the most frequently isolated fungal strains at both test sites examined in this study was the genus Penicillium. This fungus is often used in research on P solubilizing fungi, and Penicillium bilaiae is marketed by NovoZymes as a bioinoculant to increase phosphorus mobilization (Chatli et al., 2008; Patil et al., 2012; Sharma et al., 2012). For the test site in Germany, the fungal genus most frequently isolated was Clonostachys. It was isolated from both the rhizosphere and roots of willow. In the literature, this fungal species is described as one of the endophytes of willow (Hosseini-Nasabnia et al., 2016). Among the isolated P solubilizing bacteria, the genera *Pseudomonas*, *Erwinia* and *Bacillus* predominated. All the aforementioned genera are known for their ability to solubilize phosphorus and other plant growth-promoting properties and are frequently used in research, especially Pseudomonas (Yu et al., 2011; Sarker et al., 2014) and Bacillus (Liu et al., 2015; Chawngthu et al., 2020). These strains have positive effects on crops such as wheat (Liu et al., 2019), maize (Viruel et al., 2014), rice (Gomez-Ramirez and Uribe-Velez, 2021) and some trees (Kurek et al., 2013). Another phosphorus solubilizing bacterial strain I frequently isolated was Erwinia sp. In the literature, this bacterium is often described as a plant pathogen, but we did not observe any visible symptoms of infection in willows. Erwinia sp. are quite rare in the literature but are reported to have the ability to promote plant growth, and their presence has been confirmed in the underground and aboveground parts of trees such as almond (Guzmán et al., 2021), apple and pear (Rezzonico et al., 2016) and in agricultural crops such as barley (Li et al., 2021). Among the microorganisms isolated, rhizosphere bacterial and fungal strains are much more common than endophytic strains. Plants are known to synthesize substances capable of attracting or inhibiting microbial entry by acting as a filter through which only selected microorganisms can enter (Jacoby et al., 2017; Taulé et al., 2021). In addition, we observed a much higher abundance of P solubilizing microorganisms isolated from mixed crops and the lowest for the Loden species. This indicates that both species and planting system (mixed cropping) have an effect on bacterial and fungal biodiversity. This effect may be related to increased competition between both plants and microorganisms, consequently leading to increased biodiversity (Weih et al., 2019).

The data obtained from the microbiome survey indicated a dominance of Dothideomycetes, which is consistent with other studies conducted on willows (Yergeau et al., 2015). Dothideomycetes was also the only fungal class that showed differences between willow species. For bacteria, dominance of the genera Actinobacteria and Alphaproteobacteria was observed, both in the soil environment and in willow roots. Similar results, but from contaminated sites, were obtained by Tardif et al. (2016) and Yergeau et al. (2015). Microbiome studies again showed large, significant differences between the levels of association with the plant. This indicates the strong selective pressure that the plant exerts on rhizosphere microorganisms, and higher diversity in this environment is observed for both fungi (e.g., Hrynkiewicz et al., 2012; Yergeau et al., 2015; Thiem et al., 2018; Furtado et al., 2019) and bacteria (e.g., Kielak et al., 2008; Bulgarelli et al., 2012). In the case of fungi, the classes Agaricomycetes and Pezizomycetes occurred more frequently as endophytes, and Tremellomycetes and Mortierellomycetes occurred more frequently as rhizosphere fungi. Among the first two classes, ectomycorrhizal fungi are mainly found, and saprophytic fungi are found in the second group, which explains the results we obtained (Li et al., 2018; Francioli et al., 2020). In the case of bacteria, as mentioned above, the differences between association levels were not due to changes in bacterial diversity but rather to changes in bacterial abundance. Studies of soil parameters have shown that fungal communities are mainly dependent on climatic and soil conditions and nutrient content. Furthermore, bacterial communities are dependent on pH and soil structure (Lauber et al., 2008; Furtado et al., 2019).

# Phosphorus solubilizing bacteria alter the growth patterns and gene expression of willows

The final stage of this work (P4) was to investigate the dynamics of gene expression and the effect of inoculation on two Salix species under phosphorus-deficient conditions. In the first part of the study, two strains with the highest phosphorus solubilization efficiency were selected from a group of 64 P solubilizing bacteria to carry out a pot experiment on two willow species (Loden and Tora). The first was a strain belonging to the species Pantoea agglomerans, which has been described in the literature as a plant growth-promoting rhizobacterium capable of synthesizing ACC deaminase, auxins, and ammonia and stimulating plant salt stress tolerance (Majumdar et al., 2015; Cherif-Silini et al., 2019; Emami et al., 2021). As willow is not a food crop, its pathogenicity was not an issue (Mackiewicz et al., 2016). The second P solubilizing bacterial strain we selected was *Paenibacillus* sp., capable of stimulating the plant defence system and synthesizing ammonia, HCN, IAA and siderophores (Kumari & Thakur, 2018; Hussain et al., 2020; Samain, 2022). Both bacterial species have been used as bioinoculants of plants such as barley (Canbolat et al., 2006), wheat (Hussain et al., 2020), sugarcane (Quecine et al., 2012), poplar (Vaitiekūnaitė et al., 2021) and palm trees (Saadouli al., 2021). The study showed a large positive effect of phosphorus-solubilizing bacteria on plant growth parameters. For the high phosphorus (HP) variant of the experiment, the plants additionally showed changes in the root:shoot ratio in both willow species (Loden and Tora). The change in biomass allocation observed between the variant without access to phosphorus and the one with high soil P content was manifested by an increase in shoot biomass in the HP variant. The phenomenon of a change in biomass allocation was noted by Ericsson (1995), where increased phosphorus concentration resulted in an increase in the root-to-shoot length ratio of the plants tested. Investigations of the willow leaf transcriptome showed a large difference in the number of active genes, with the average number of active genes being 1,500 higher for Loden. The two willow species used show a large difference in both morphology (Hoeber et al. 2017) and the root microbiome (Koczorski et al. 2021). The study by Hoeber et al. (2017) shows that Tora has a high biomass production efficiency and smaller leaf area, while Loden has a larger leaf area and smaller biomass. Further analysis of the leaf transcriptome revealed the presence of GO terms such as DNA replication, cell division, response to stimulus, signalling, and regulation of biological and metabolic processes. The activity of these genes in the literature is often linked to the plant's response to inoculation, and their occurrence was observed for both Loden and Tora under low phosphorus (LP) availability conditions

(Camilios-Neto et al. 2014; Sasha and Seal, 2015). Additionally, a high number of GO terms related to photosynthesis was observed for the LP and HP variants. This was associated with the expression of photosystem I and II, thylakoids and glucan metabolism process genes. Phosphorus is very important in the photosynthetic carbon reduction cycle called the Calvin-Benson cycle, the final product of which is 3-phosphoglyceraldehyde (triose-P), and glucan phosphatase plays an important role in transient starch metabolism in leaves (Meekins et al. 2016). Of all the experimental variants, only Loden inoculated with strain B1 showed expression of genes directly related to stress. Studies in Arabidopsis thaliana under P-deficient conditions showed high activity of phosphatase synthesis genes, ribonucleases and sulfolipid biosynthesis genes that replace P, contributing to P remobilization (Muller et al., 2007). Willows are species characterized by a very fast growth rate, which may explain some of the symptoms of phosphorus deficiency, and attempts to replace phosphorus by sulfur and galactolipids may be an attempt to increase phosphorus use efficiency (Lambers et al., 2012). The study observed large differences between the upregulation and downregulation of genes, where the Tora species was characterized by overall upregulation and Loden by downregulation of genes. For the Tora species, a large P effect was found on genes related to photosynthesis, thylakoids and starch metabolism in the form of upregulation of photosynthesis, photosystem I and II, thylakoid part, carboxylic acid, carbohydrates, glucan metabolism and biosynthesis. All the abovementioned genes are strongly associated with phosphorus because it is a component of compounds such as ATP, NADPH, nucleic acids, sugar phosphates or phospholipids (Carstensen et al., 2018). Loden showed downregulation of lipid peptide metabolism and biosynthesis, nucleic acid, ion and metabolite transfer genes. As indicated in the literature, some of these genes are associated with the phosphorus deficiency stress response, and these genes were expressed in all phosphorus variants (Bai et al. 2014; Chu et al. 2018). Notably, the LP and HP variants for Loden showed no visible signs of deficiency of this element.

### 11

### **Final conclusions**

### **11. Final conclusions**

- Mixed culture willow planting systems, in contrast to monocultures, increase enzymatic P mobilization by promoting the diversity of microorganisms in both the rhizosphere and root interior of *Salix* species.
- 2. The level of plant association is the main factor driving both fungal and bacterial diversity, signifying the importance of species-specific selection of P solubilizing microorganisms for potential biofertilizers.
- 3. Phosphorus solubilizing bacteria can significantly promote *Salix* growth and change gene expression by regulating P cycling-related genes.

# 12 Future outlooks

### **12. Future outlooks**

- Application of the P solubilizing microorganisms isolated in the present study to other tree species and arable crops to compare their compatibility and efficiency in interaction with other host plants.
- Further analysis of plant physiological traits, which are affected by microbial colonization of plants, was performed to describe the potential of biofertilizers to secure crop yield.
- Extension of the selection scheme for P solubilization efficiency to a larger number of microorganisms, including mixtures of bacteria and fungi. This will allow the inclusion of synergistic or antagonistic interactions between microorganisms.
- Extending the characterization of P solubilizing microorganisms to establish their other properties related to promoting plant growth and development.
- Development of biofertilizers to increase the P use efficiency from the soil pool in crop production and decrease the need for P fertilization and P loss into ground and surface waters.

# 13 References

### 13. References

- 1. Abdel-Motaal, F., Kamel, N., El-Zayat, S. and Abou-Ellail, M., 2020. Early blight suppression and plant growth promotion potential of the endophyte Aspergillus flavus in tomato plant. *Annals of Agricultural Sciences*, 65(2), pp.117-123.
- Ahemad, M. and Khan, M.S., 2011. Pseudomonas aeruginosa strain PS1 enhances growth parameters of greengram [Vigna radiata (L.) Wilczek] in insecticide-stressed soils. *Journal of pest science*, 84, pp.123-131.
- Ahmad, M., Adil, Z., Hussain, A., Mumtaz, M.Z., Nafees, M., Ahmad, I. and Jamil, M., 2019. Potential of phosphate solubilizing Bacillus strains for improving growth and nutrient uptake in mungbean and maize crops. *Pakistan Journal of Agricultural Sciences*, 56(2).
- 4. Alori, E.T., Glick, B.R. and Babalola, O.O., 2017. Microbial phosphorus solubilization and its potential for use in sustainable agriculture. *Frontiers in microbiology*, *8*, p.971.
- Bai, F., Chen, C., An, J., Xiao, S., Deng, X. and Pan, Z., 2014. Transcriptome responses to phosphate deficiency in Poncirus trifoliata (L.) Raf. *Acta physiologiae plantarum*, *36*, pp.3207-3215.
- Baum, C., Hrynkiewicz, K., Szymańska, S., Vitow, N., Hoeber, S., Fransson, P.M. and Weih, M., 2018. Mixture of *Salix* genotypes promotes root colonization with dark septate endophytes and changes P cycling in the mycorrhizosphere. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 9, p.1012.
- Berhongaray, G., Verlinden, M.S., Broeckx, L.S., Janssens, I.A. and Ceulemans, R., 2017. Soil carbon and belowground carbon balance of a short-rotation coppice: assessments from three different approaches. *GCB Bioenergy*, 9(2), pp.299-313.
- Billah, M., Khan, M., Bano, A., Hassan, T.U., Munir, A. and Gurmani, A.R., 2019. Phosphorus and phosphate solubilizing bacteria: Keys for sustainable agriculture. *Geomicrobiology Journal*, *36*(10), pp.904-916.
- Camilios-Neto, D., Bonato, P., Wassem, R., Tadra-Sfeir, M.Z., Brusamarello-Santos, L.C., Valdameri, G., Donatti, L., Faoro, H., Weiss, V.A., Chubatsu, L.S. and Pedrosa, F.O., 2014. Dual RNA-seq transcriptional analysis of wheat roots colonized by

Azospirillum brasilense reveals up-regulation of nutrient acquisition and cell cycle genes. *BMC genomics*, *15*(1), pp.1-13.

- Canbolat, M.Y., Barik, K., Çakmakçi, R. and Şahin, F., 2006. Effects of mineral and biofertilizers on barley growth on compacted soil. *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica Section B-Soil and Plant Science*, 56(4), pp.324-332.
- Carstensen, A., Herdean, A., Schmidt, S.B., Sharma, A., Spetea, C., Pribil, M. and Husted, S., 2018. The impacts of phosphorus deficiency on the photosynthetic electron transport chain. *Plant physiology*, *177*(1), pp.271-284.
- Chatli, A.S., Beri, V. and Sidhu, B.S., 2008. Isolation and characterisation of phosphate solubilizing microorganisms from the cold desert habitat of *Salix* alba Linn. in trans Himalayan region of Himachal Pradesh. *Indian Journal of Microbiology*, 48, pp.267-273.
- Chawngthu, L., Hnamte, R. and Lalfakzuala, R., 2020. Isolation and characterization of rhizospheric phosphate solubilizing bacteria from wetland paddy field of Mizoram, India. *Geomicrobiology Journal*, 37(4), pp.366-375.
- 14. Chen, Y.P., Rekha, P.D., Arun, A.B., Shen, F.T., Lai, W.A. and Young, C.C., 2006. Phosphate solubilizing bacteria from subtropical soil and their tricalcium phosphate solubilizing abilities. *Applied soil ecology*, 34(1), pp.33-41.
- 15. Cherif-Silini, H., Thissera, B., Bouket, A.C., Saadaoui, N., Silini, A., Eshelli, M., Alenezi, F.N., Vallat, A., Luptakova, L., Yahiaoui, B. and Cherrad, S., 2019. Durum wheat stress tolerance induced by endophyte Pantoea agglomerans with genes contributing to plant functions and secondary metabolite arsenal. *International journal of molecular sciences*, *20*(16), p.3989.
- 16. Chu, S., Li, H., Zhang, X., Yu, K., Chao, M., Han, S. and Zhang, D., 2018. Physiological and proteomics analyses reveal low-phosphorus stress affected the regulation of photosynthesis in soybean. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 19(6), p.1688.
- 17. Dimitriou, I., Mola-Yudego, B. and Aronsson, P., 2012. Impact of willow short rotation coppice on water quality. *Bioenergy Research*, *5*, pp.537-545.
- Divjot, K.O.U.R., Rana, K.L., Tanvir, K.A.U.R., Yadav, N., Yadav, A.N., Kumar, M., Kumar, V., Dhaliwal, H.S. and Saxena, A.K., 2021. Biodiversity, current developments and potential biotechnological applications of P solubilizing and-mobilizing microbes: A review. *Pedosphere*, *31*(1), pp.43-75.

- Dobritsa, A.P. and Samadpour, M., 2019. Reclassification of Burkholderia insecticola as Caballeronia insecticola comb. nov. and reliability of conserved signature indels as molecular synapomorphies. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*, 69(7), pp.2057-2063.
- Ens, J., Farrell, R.E. and Bélanger, N., 2013. Early effects of afforestation with willow (*Salix* purpurea, "Hotel") on soil carbon and nutrient availability. *Forests*, 4(1), pp.137-154.
- 21. Ericsson, T., 1995. Growth and shoot: root ratio of seedlings in relation to nutrient availability. In Nutrient Uptake and Cycling in Forest Ecosystems: Proceedings of the CEC/IUFRO Symposium Nutrient Uptake and Cycling in Forest Ecosystems Halmstad, Sweden, June, 7–10, 1993 (pp. 205-214). Springer Netherlands.
- 22. Filippelli, G.M., 2008. The global phosphorus cycle: past, present, and future. *Elements*, *4*(2), pp.89-95.
- 23. Francioli, D., van Rijssel, S.Q., van Ruijven, J., Termorshuizen, A.J., Cotton, T.A., Dumbrell, A.J., Raaijmakers, J.M., Weigelt, A. and Mommer, L., 2021. Plant functional group drives the community structure of saprophytic fungi in a grassland biodiversity experiment. *Plant and Soil*, 461, pp.91-105.
- 24. Furtado, B.U., Szymańska, S. and Hrynkiewicz, K., 2019. A window into fungal endophytism in Salicornia europaea: deciphering fungal characteristics as plant growth promoting agents. *Plant and Soil*, *445*, pp.577-594.
- 25. Gilbert, N., 2009. Phosphate: the disappearing nutrient. Nature, 461(7265), pp.716-718.
- Gomez-Ramirez, L.F. and Uribe-Velez, D., 2021. Phosphorus solubilizing and mineralizing Bacillus spp. contribute to rice growth promotion using soil amended with rice straw. *Current Microbiology*, 78, pp.932-943.
- 27. Grafe, M., Goers, M., von Tucher, S., Baum, C., Zimmer, D., Leinweber, P., Vestergaard, G., Kublik, S., Schloter, M. and Schulz, S., 2018. Bacterial potentials for uptake, solubilization and mineralization of extracellular phosphorus in agricultural soils are highly stable under different fertilization regimes. *Environmental microbiology reports*, 10(3), pp.320-327.
- Hardoim, P.R., van Overbeek, L.S. and van Elsas, J.D., 2008. Properties of bacterial endophytes and their proposed role in plant growth. *Trends in microbiology*, *16*(10), pp.463-471.

- 29. Hoeber, S., Arranz, C., Nordh, N.E., Baum, C., Low, M., Nock, C., Scherer-Lorenzen, M. and Weih, M., 2018. Genotype identity has a more important influence than genotype diversity on shoot biomass productivity in willow short-rotation coppices. *GCB Bioenergy*, 10(8), pp.534-547.
- 30. Hoeber, S., Fransson, P., Prieto-Ruiz, I., Manzoni, S. and Weih, M., 2017. Two Salix genotypes differ in productivity and nitrogen economy when grown in monoculture and mixture. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 8, p.231.
- Hoffmann, G., 1991. Bestimmung von Phosphor und Kalium im Calcium-Acetat-Lactat (CAL)-Auszug. Die Untersuchung von Boden; VDLUFA-Methodenbuch Bd. I, 4.
- 32. Hossain, M.M., Sultana, F., Kubota, M., Koyama, H. and Hyakumachi, M., 2007. The plant growth-promoting fungus Penicillium simplicissimum GP17-2 induces resistance in Arabidopsis thaliana by activation of multiple defense signals. *Plant and cell physiology*, 48(12), pp.1724-1736.
- 33. Hosseini-Nasabnia, Z., Van Rees, K. and Vujanovic, V., 2016. Preventing unwanted spread of invasive fungal species in willow (*Salix* spp.) plantations. *Canadian Journal* of Plant Pathology, 38(3), pp.325-337.
- 34. Hrynkiewicz, K. and Baum, C., 2012. The potential of rhizosphere microorganisms to promote the plant growth in disturbed soils. *Environmental protection strategies for sustainable development*, pp.35-64.
- 35. Hussain, A., Ahmad, M., Nafees, M., Iqbal, Z., Luqman, M., Jamil, M., Maqsood, A., Mora-Poblete, F., Ahmar, S., Chen, J.T. and Alyemeni, M.N., 2020. Plant-growthpromoting Bacillus and Paenibacillus species improve the nutritional status of Triticum aestivum L. *PLoS One*, 15(12), p.e0241130.
- 36. Jacoby, R., Peukert, M., Succurro, A., Koprivova, A. and Kopriva, S., 2017. The role of soil microorganisms in plant mineral nutrition—current knowledge and future directions. *Frontiers in plant science*, 8, p.1617.
- Kahle, P., Baum, C. and Boelcke, B., 2005. Effect of afforestation on soil properties and mycorrhizal formation. *Pedosphere*, 15(6), pp.754-760.
- Kahle, P., Baum, C., Boelcke, B., Kohl, J. and Ulrich, R., 2010. Vertical distribution of soil properties under short-rotation forestry in Northern Germany. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science*, 173(5), pp.737-746.
- 39. Kalayu, G., 2019. Phosphate solubilizing microorganisms: promising approach as biofertilizers. *International Journal of Agronomy*, 2019, pp.1-7.

- 40. Kaur, M., Sharma, S. and Mishra, A., 2011. Influence of phosphate solubilizing pseudomonas and bacillus strains on the growth of Ashvagandha (Withania somnifera). *Indian Journal of Agricultural Research*, *45*(2), pp.128-133.
- 41. Khan, A., Lu, G., Ayaz, M., Zhang, H., Wang, R., Lv, F., Yang, X., Sun, B. and Zhang, S., 2018. Phosphorus efficiency, soil phosphorus dynamics and critical phosphorus level under long-term fertilization for single and double cropping systems. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 256, pp.1-11.
- 42. Khan, A.L., Hamayun, M., Kim, Y.H., Kang, S.M., Lee, J.H. and Lee, I.J., 2011. Gibberellins producing endophytic Aspergillus fumigatus sp. LH02 influenced endogenous phytohormonal levels, isoflavonoids production and plant growth in salinity stress. *Process biochemistry*, 46(2), pp.440-447.
- 43. Khan, I., Ahmad, A. and Iqbal, M., 2009. Modulation of antioxidant defence system for arsenic detoxification in Indian mustard. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 72(2), pp.626-634.
- 44. Khan, M.S., Zaidi, A., Ahemad, M., Oves, M. and Wani, P.A., 2010. Plant growth promotion by phosphate solubilizing fungi–current perspective. *Archives of Agronomy and Soil Science*, *56*(1), pp.73-98.
- 45. Koczorski, P., Furtado, B., Hrynkiewicz, K., Breezmann, M., Weih, M. and Baum, C., 2021. Site-Effects Dominate the Plant Availability of Nutrients under *Salix* Species during the First Cutting Cycle. *Forests*, 12(9), p.1226.
- 46. Koczorski, P., Furtado, B.U., Gołębiewski, M., Hulisz, P., Baum, C., Weih, M. and Hrynkiewicz, K., 2021. The effects of host plant genotype and environmental conditions on fungal community composition and phosphorus solubilization in willow short rotation coppice. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 12, p.647709.
- 47. Koczorski, P., Furtado, B.U., Gołębiewski, M., Hulisz, P., Thiem, D., Baum, C., Weih, M. and Hrynkiewicz, K., 2022. Mixed growth of *Salix* species can promote phosphatesolubilizing bacteria in the roots and rhizosphere. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 13.
- 48. Kumari, M. and Thakur, I.S., 2018. Biochemical and proteomic characterization of Paenibacillus sp. ISTP10 for its role in plant growth promotion and in rhizostabilization of cadmium. *Bioresource Technology Reports*, *3*, pp.59-66.
- Kurek, E., Ozimek, E., Sobiczewski, P., Słomka, A. and Jaroszuk-Ściseł, J., 2013. Effect of Pseudomonas luteola on mobilization of phosphorus and growth of young apple trees (Ligol)—Pot experiment. *Scientia horticulturae*, *164*, pp.270-276.

- 50. Lauber, C.L., Strickland, M.S., Bradford, M.A. and Fierer, N., 2008. The influence of soil properties on the structure of bacterial and fungal communities across land-use types. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 40(9), pp.2407-2415.
- 51. Li, T., Mann, R., Kaur, J., Spangenberg, G. and Sawbridge, T., 2021. Transcriptome analyses of barley roots inoculated with novel Paenibacillus sp. and Erwinia gerundensis strains reveal beneficial early-stage plant–bacteria interactions. *Plants*, 10(9), p.1802.
- 52. Li, Z., Bai, T., Dai, L., Wang, F., Tao, J., Meng, S., Hu, Y., Wang, S. and Hu, S., 2016. A study of organic acid production in contrasts between two phosphate solubilizing fungi: Penicillium oxalicum and Aspergillus niger. *Scientific reports*, 6(1), p.25313.
- 53. Liu, X., Jiang, X., He, X., Zhao, W., Cao, Y., Guo, T., Li, T., Ni, H. and Tang, X., 2019. Phosphate-solubilizing Pseudomonas sp. strain P34-L promotes wheat growth by colonizing the wheat rhizosphere and improving the wheat root system and soil phosphorus nutritional status. *Journal of Plant Growth Regulation*, 38, pp.1314-1324.
- 54. Liu, Z., Li, Y.C., Zhang, S., Fu, Y., Fan, X., Patel, J.S. and Zhang, M., 2015. Characterization of phosphate-solubilizing bacteria isolated from calcareous soils. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 96, pp.217-224.
- 55. Ludwig-Müller, J., 2015. Bacteria and fungi controlling plant growth by manipulating auxin: balance between development and defense. *Journal of plant physiology*, *172*, pp.4-12.
- 56. Lugli, L.F., Andersen, K.M., Aragão, L.E., Cordeiro, A.L., Cunha, H.F., Fuchslueger, L., Meir, P., Mercado, L.M., Oblitas, E., Quesada, C.A. and Rosa, J.S., 2020. Multiple phosphorus acquisition strategies adopted by fine roots in low-fertility soils in Central Amazonia. *Plant and Soil*, 450, pp.49-63.
- 57. Lutter, R., Tullus, A., Kanal, A., Tullus, T. and Tullus, H., 2016. The impact of short-rotation hybrid aspen (Populus tremula L.× P. tremuloides Michx.) plantations on nutritional status of former arable soils. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 362, pp.184-193.
- 58. Majumdar, S. and Chakraborty, U., 2015. Phosphate solubilizing rhizospheric Pantoea agglomerans Acti-3 promotes growth in jute plants. *World J. Agric. Sci, 11*, pp.401-410.
- Meekins, D.A., Vander Kooi, C.W. and Gentry, M.S., 2016. Structural mechanisms of plant glucan phosphatases in starch metabolism. *The FEBS journal*, 283(13), pp.2427-2447.

- 60. Mirck, J., Isebrands, J.G., Verwijst, T. and Ledin, S., 2005. Development of short-rotation willow coppice systems for environmental purposes in Sweden. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, 28(2), pp.219-228.
- 61. Mo, X., Zhang, M., Liang, C., Cai, L. and Tian, J., 2019. Integration of metabolome and transcriptome analyses highlights soybean roots responding to phosphorus deficiency by modulating phosphorylated metabolite processes. *Plant physiology and biochemistry*, 139, pp.697-706.
- 62. Muller, R., Morant, M., Jarmer, H., Nilsson, L. and Nielsen, T.H., 2007. Genome-wide analysis of the Arabidopsis leaf transcriptome reveals interaction of phosphate and sugar metabolism. *Plant Physiology*, 143(1), pp.156-171.
- 63. Patil, P.M., Kuligod, V.B., Hebsur, N.S., Patil, C.R. and Kulkarni, G.N., 2012. Effect of phosphate solubilizing fungi and phosphorus levels on growth, yield and nutrient content in maize (Zea mays). *Karnataka Journal of Agricultural Sciences*, 25(1).
- 64. Prabhu, N., Borkar, S. and Garg, S., 2019. Phosphate solubilization by microorganisms: overview, mechanisms, applications and advances. *Advances in biological science research*, pp.161-176.
- 65. Preston, G.M., 2004. Plant perceptions of plant growth-promoting Pseudomonas. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*, 359(1446), pp.907-918.
- 66. Quecine, M.C., Araújo, W.L., Rossetto, P.B., Ferreira, A., Tsui, S., Lacava, P.T., Mondin, M., Azevedo, J.L.D. and Pizzirani-Kleiner, A.A., 2012. Sugarcane growth promotion by the endophytic bacterium Pantoea agglomerans 33.1. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 78(21), pp.7511-7518.
- 67. Ram, H., Malik, S.S., Dhaliwal, S.S., Kumar, B. and Singh, Y., 2015. Growth and productivity of wheat affected by P solubilizing fungi and phosphorus levels. *Plant, Soil and Environment*, *61*(3), pp.122-126.
- 68. Rathinasabapathi, B., Liu, X., Cao, Y. and Ma, L.Q., 2018. Phosphate-solubilizing Pseudomonads for improving crop plant nutrition and agricultural productivity. In *Crop Improvement Through Microbial Biotechnology* (pp. 363-372). Elsevier.
- 69. Rawat, P., Das, S., Shankhdhar, D. and Shankhdhar, S.C., 2021. Phosphate-solubilizing microorganisms: mechanism and their role in phosphate solubilization and uptake. *Journal of Soil Science and Plant Nutrition*, 21, pp.49-68.

- 70. Ray, P., Guo, Y., Chi, M.H., Krom, N., Saha, M.C. and Craven, K.D., 2021. Serendipita bescii promotes winter wheat growth and modulates the host root transcriptome under phosphorus and nitrogen starvation. *Environmental Microbiology*, 23(4), pp.1876-1888.
- 71. Ren, P., Meng, Y., Li, B., Ma, X., Si, E., Lai, Y., Wang, J., Yao, L., Yang, K., Shang, X. and Wang, H., 2018. Molecular mechanisms of acclimatization to phosphorus starvation and recovery underlying full-length transcriptome profiling in barley (Hordeum vulgare L.). *Frontiers in plant science*, *9*, p.500.
- 72. Rennenberg, H. and Herschbach, C., 2013. Phosphorus nutrition of woody plants: many questions–few answers. *Plant Biology*, *15*(5), pp.785-788.
- 73. Rezzonico, F., Smits, T.H., Born, Y., Blom, J., Frey, J.E., Goesmann, A., Cleenwerck, I., De Vos, P., Bonaterra, A., Duffy, B. and Montesinos, E., 2016. Erwinia gerundensis sp. nov., a cosmopolitan epiphyte originally isolated from pome fruit trees. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*, 66(3), pp.1583-1592.
- 74. Saadouli, I., Mosbah, A., Ferjani, R., Stathopoulou, P., Galiatsatos, I., Asimakis, E., Marasco, R., Daffonchio, D., Tsiamis, G. and Ouzari, H.I., 2021. The impact of the inoculation of phosphate-solubilizing bacteria Pantoea agglomerans on phosphorus availability and bacterial community dynamics of a semi-arid soil. *Microorganisms*, 9(8), p.1661.
- 75. Saha, C. and Seal, A., 2015. Early changes in shoot transcriptome of rice in response to Rhodotorula mucilaginosa JGTA-S1. *Genomics data*, *6*, pp.237-240.
- 76. Saldierna Guzmán, J.P., Reyes-Prieto, M. and Hart, S.C., 2021. Characterization of Erwinia gerundensis A4, an almond-derived plant growth-promoting endophyte. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 12, p.687971.
- 77. Samain, E., Ernenwein, C., Aussenac, T. and Selim, S., 2022. Effective and durable systemic wheat-induced resistance by a plant-growth-promoting rhizobacteria consortium of Paenibacillus sp. strain B2 and Arthrobacter spp. strain AA against Zymoseptoria tritici and drought stress. *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology*, 119, p.101830.
- 78. Sarker, A., Talukder, N.M. and Islam, M.T., 2014. Phosphate solubilizing bacteria promote growth and enhance nutrient uptake by wheat. *Plant Science Today*, 1(2), pp.86-93.

- 79. Sharma, A., Rawat, U.S. and Yadav, B.K., 2012. Influence of phosphorus levels and phosphorus solubilizing fungi on yield and nutrient uptake by wheat under sub-humid region of Rajasthan, India. *International Scholarly Research Notices*, 2012.
- Singh, B. and Satyanarayana, T., 2011. Microbial phytases in phosphorus acquisition and plant growth promotion. *Physiology and Molecular Biology of Plants*, 17, pp.93-103.
- 81. Soni, R., Rawal, K. and Keharia, H., 2021. Genomics assisted functional characterization of Paenibacillus polymyxa HK4 as a biocontrol and plant growth promoting bacterium. *Microbiological Research*, 248, p.126734.
- Sun, L., Tian, J., Zhang, H. and Liao, H., 2016. Phytohormone regulation of root growth triggered by P deficiency or Al toxicity. *Journal of experimental botany*, 67(12), pp.3655-3664.
- 83. Tabaldi, L.A., Ruppenthal, R., Cargnelutti, D., Morsch, V.M., Pereira, L.B. and Schetinger, M.R.C., 2007. Effects of metal elements on acid phosphatase activity in cucumber (Cucumis sativus L.) seedlings. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 59(1), pp.43-48.
- 84. Tardif, S., Yergeau, É., Tremblay, J., Legendre, P., Whyte, L.G. and Greer, C.W., 2016. The willow microbiome is influenced by soil petroleum-hydrocarbon concentration with plant compartment-specific effects. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 7, p.1363.
- 85. Taulé, C., Vaz-Jauri, P. and Battistoni, F., 2021. Insights into the early stages of plant– endophytic bacteria interaction. *World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 37, pp.1-9.
- 86. Thiem, D., Gołębiewski, M., Hulisz, P., Piernik, A. and Hrynkiewicz, K., 2018. How does salinity shape bacterial and fungal microbiomes of Alnus glutinosa roots?. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 9, p.651.
- Vaitiekūnaitė, D., Kuusienė, S. and Beniušytė, E., 2021. Oak (Quercus robur) associated endophytic Paenibacillus sp. promotes poplar (Populus spp.) root growth in vitro. *Microorganisms*, 9(6), p.1151.
- Viruel, E., Erazzú, L.E., Martínez Calsina, L., Ferrero, M.A., Lucca, M.E. and Siñeriz,
  F., 2014. Inoculation of maize with phosphate solubilizing bacteria: effect on plant
  growth and yield. *Journal of soil science and plant nutrition*, 14(4), pp.819-831.

- Wang, X., Wang, Z., Zheng, Z., Dong, J., Song, L., Sui, L., Nussaume, L., Desnos, T. and Liu, D., 2019. Genetic dissection of Fe-dependent signaling in root developmental responses to phosphate deficiency. *Plant physiology*, *179*(1), pp.300-316.
- 90. Wang, Y.Y., Li, P.S., Zhang, B.X., Wang, Y.P., Meng, J., Gao, Y.F., He, X.M. and Hu, X.M., 2020. Identification of phosphate-solubilizing microorganisms and determination of their phosphate-solubilizing activity and growth-promoting capability. *BioResources*, 15(2), pp.2560-2578.
- 91. Wani, P.A., Zaidi, A., Khan, A.A. and Khan, M.S., 2005. Effect of phorate on phosphate solubilization and indole acetic acid releasing potentials of rhizospheric microorganisms. *Annals of Plant Protection Sciences*, 13(1), pp.139-144.
- 92. Weih, M., Glynn, C. and Baum, C., 2019. Willow short-rotation coppice as model system for exploring ecological theory on biodiversity–ecosystem function. *Diversity*, 11(8), p.125.
- 93. Yergeau, E., Bell, T.H., Champagne, J., Maynard, C., Tardif, S., Tremblay, J. and Greer, C.W., 2015. Transplanting soil microbiomes leads to lasting effects on willow growth, but not on the rhizosphere microbiome. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 6, p.1436.
- 94. Yu, X., Liu, X., Zhu, T.H., Liu, G.H. and Mao, C., 2011. Isolation and characterization of phosphate-solubilizing bacteria from walnut and their effect on growth and phosphorus mobilization. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, *47*, pp.437-446.
- 95. Zhang, Y., Liang, Y., Zhao, X., Jin, X., Hou, L., Shi, Y. and Ahammed, G.J., 2019. Silicon compensates phosphorus deficit-induced growth inhibition by improving photosynthetic capacity, antioxidant potential, and nutrient homeostasis in tomato. *Agronomy*, 9(11), p.733.